
Page 1 

 

 
 
 

AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Southern Area Planning Committee 

Place: Sarum Academy, Westwood Road, Salisbury, Wiltshire, SP2 9HS 

Date: Thursday 6 April 2017 

Time: 6.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Lisa Moore, of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line (01722) 434560 or email 
lisa.moore@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Fred Westmoreland (Chairman) 
Cllr Christopher Devine  
(Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Richard Britton 
Cllr Richard Clewer 
Cllr Brian Dalton 
Cllr Jose Green 

Cllr Mike Hewitt 
Cllr George Jeans 
Cllr Ian McLennan 
Cllr Ian Tomes 
Cllr Ian West 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Trevor Carbin 
Cllr Terry Chivers 
Cllr Ernie Clark 
Cllr Tony Deane 
Cllr Dennis Drewett 
Cllr Peter Edge 
Cllr Magnus Macdonald  

 

 

Cllr Leo Randall 
Cllr Ricky Rogers 
Cllr John Smale 
Cllr John Walsh 
Cllr Bridget Wayman 
Cllr Graham Wright  

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 
Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast on the 

Council’s website at http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv.  At the start of the meeting, the 

Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being recorded. The images and 

sound recordings may also be used for training purposes within the Council. 

 

By entering the meeting room you are consenting to being recorded and to the use of 

those images and recordings for broadcasting and/or training purposes. 

 

The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public. 

  

Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 

Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 

from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 

accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 

relation to any such claims or liabilities. 

 

Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 

available on request. 

Parking 
 

To find car parks by area follow this link. The three Wiltshire Council Hubs where most 
meetings will be held are as follows: 
 
County Hall, Trowbridge 
Bourne Hill, Salisbury 
Monkton Park, Chippenham 
 
County Hall and Monkton Park have some limited visitor parking. Please note for 
meetings at County Hall you will need to log your car’s registration details upon your 
arrival in reception using the tablet provided. If you may be attending a meeting for more 
than 2 hours, please provide your registration details to the Democratic Services Officer, 
who will arrange for your stay to be extended. 
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 

details 

http://www.wiltshire.public-i.tv/
http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/parkingtransportandstreets/carparking/findacarpark.htm?area=Trowbridge
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD1629&ID=1629&RPID=12066789&sch=doc&cat=13959&path=13959
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1392&MId=10753&Ver=4


Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 

 Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 7 - 16) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 
Thursday 16 March 2017. 

 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public. 
 
Statements 
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register by phone, 
email or in person no later than 5.50pm on the day of the meeting. 
 
The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are detailed 
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to 
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application and up to 3 
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3 
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered.  
 
Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on 
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any 
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once 
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation 
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by 
planning officers. 
 



Page 4 

 

Questions  
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 
questions on non-determined planning applications.  
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on Thursday 30 March 2017, in order to be guaranteed of a written 
response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no 
later than 5pm on Monday 3 April 2017. Please contact the officer named on 
the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without 
notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

 
 

6   Salisbury Footpath No.9 - Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 
2016" Parish of Idmiston  
(Pages 17 - 208) 

 To consider objections and representations of support received following the 
making and advertisement of “The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Idmiston) Path 
No. 9 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2016”, under Section 53 
of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 
 
Recommendation: 
  
that the Order be forwarded to the Secretary of State for the Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs for determination, with a recommendation from 
Wiltshire Council that the Order be confirmed without modification. 
 
 

 

7   Salisbury Footpath No.6 - Diversion order and definitive map and 
statement modification order 2016. Stratford sub Castle (Pages 209 - 280) 

 To consider the eighteen representations and one objection received to the 
making of The Wiltshire Council City of Salisbury (Stratford sub Castle) 
Salisbury Footpath No. 6 Diversion Order 2016 and Definitive Map Modification 
Order 2016 and The Wiltshire Council Stratford sub Castle Footpath Linking 
Salisbury 24 with Salisbury 6 Extinguishment Order 2016. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Orders be forwarded to the Secretary of State for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs with the notification that Wiltshire Council supports 
the confirmation of both Orders as made.   
 



Page 5 

 

 

8   Planning Appeals and Updates (Pages 281 - 282) 

 To receive details of completed and pending appeals and other updates as 
appropriate for the period of 03/03/2017 to 24/03/2017. 

 

9   Planning Applications  

 To consider and determine planning applications in the attached schedule. 

 

 9a   16/09919/FUl & 16/10183/LBC - Old Ship Hotel, Castle Street, Mere, 
BA12 6JE (Pages 283 - 300) 

 Conversion and renovation of the existing Grade II* Listed Old Ship Inn into 7 
Apartments and 2 x three bed cottages. To include the demolition of outbuildings 
and construction of an additional new build two bed cottage to the rear (10 
dwellings in total). 

 

 9b   17/00444/FUL - Florance House, Romsey Road, Witeparish, SP5 
2SD (Pages 301 - 308) 

 Erection of 2 bay garage to front of property. 

 

10   16/12123/FUL - Land at Whitsbury Road, Witsbury Road, Odstock, 
Salisbury (Pages 309 - 320) 

 Construction of two residential dwellings. 

 

11   Urgent Items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency   
 

 

 Part II  

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
MINUTES OF THE SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 16 MARCH 2017 AT ALAMEIN SUITE - CITY HALL, MALTHOUSE LANE, 
SALISBURY, SP2 7TU. 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr Fred Westmoreland (Chairman), Cllr Christopher Devine (Vice Chairman), 
Cllr Richard Britton, Cllr Richard Clewer, Cllr Brian Dalton, Cllr Jose Green, 
Cllr Mike Hewitt, Cllr George Jeans, Cllr Ian McLennan, Cllr Ian Tomes and 
Cllr Ian West 
 
Also  Present: 
 
  
  

 
145 Apologies 

 
There were none. 

146 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 23 February 2017 were 
presented. 
 
Resolved: 
 
To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes. 

147 Declarations of Interest 
 
There were none. 

148 Chairman's Announcements 
 
The Chairman explained the meeting procedure to the members of the public. 

149 Public Participation 
 
The committee noted the rules on public participation. 

150 Planning Appeals and Updates 
 
The committee received details of the appeal decisions as detailed in the 
agenda for the period 19/01/2017 to 03/03/2017. 
 
Resolved: 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

That the report be noted. 
 
 
 

151 Planning Applications 
152 16/11929/FUL: Nadder Centre -  APPLICATION WITHDRAWN 

 
This application had been withdrawn and therefore not considered by the 
Committee at this meeting. 
 

153 16/11803/FUL: Forest View, Clay Street, Whiteparish, Salisbury, Wiltshire, 
SP5 2ST 
 
Public Participation 
Jenny Harrison spoke in objection to the application 
Sara Webb spoke in objection to the application 
Dan Roycroft (Agent) spoke in support of the application 
 
The Planning Officer noted that a site visit had taken place earlier in the day 
and drew attention to the late correspondence circulated at the meeting. He 
introduced the application for the demolition of existing bungalow and erection 
of two new chalet bungalows. It was noted that improved access for units will be 
created off Clay Street, with hard and soft landscaping and associated works. 
This application was a resubmission of a previous application 16/07647/FUL. It 
was recommended that the application be APPROVED with conditions. 
 
The Committee had the opportunity to ask technical questions of the Officer, 
where it was noted that the definition of a chalet bungalow was typically a 
bungalow that had some dormer windows in the roof. It was estimated that the 
retaining wall on the site would be approximately 2m high. Previous objections 
from Highways had been changed following further discussions which had 
taken place with the planning agent. The cost to repair the damage to the road 
caused by construction traffic could not be imposed on the developer as a 
planning condition as this was a civil matter. 
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views as 
detailed above. 
 
The Unitary Division Member Cllr Richard Britton noted that the photographs did 
not give a proper impression of the extent that this site sloped back to the tree 
line. To gouge out all the earth was a major excavation and would create an 
alien feature. Clay street itself was a footpath, the site was in a rural setting, not 
far from New Forest. There were a range of buildings along Clay Street but 
nothing like what was being proposed here. He felt that the scheme could be 
attractive in an appropriate setting, but felt that it was not right for this unique 
setting.  
 
Adding that the impact of the construction process would be detrimental to the 
neighbouring amenity during construction. Going from 3 beds to 10 on this site 

Page 8



 
 
 

 
 
 

was a massive increase. Incongruous effect of levelling this site. The houses 
themselves are out of keeping with the surroundings.   
 
Cllr Britton moved for REFUSAL against Officer’s recommendation. This was 
seconded by Cllr West. 
 
The Committee then discussed the application. It was noted that the proposals 
were 2-storey houses and not chalet bungalows. Digging out a vast amount of 
soil to facilitate building a 2-storey property made no sense, as it would damage 
the landscape.  
 
It was felt that the proposed design did not fit with the other properties along 
Clay Street. It was noted that the effect of a development of this scale on 
neighbours during construction was a material consideration. 
 
Given the layout of the street, it was noted that there would be difficulty for 
lorries to turn and manoeuvre taking away the spoil. Further discussion and 
conditions could be added to minimalise the disruption caused, however it was 
noted that any disruption would be for a short period. 
 
The Committee felt that the application was a massive over development of the 
site. 
 
The Committee then voted on the motion of REFUSAL. 
 
Resolved 
 
That application 16/11803/FUL; Forest View, Clay Street, Whiteparish, 
Salisbury, Wiltshire, SP5 2ST, be REFUSED against Officer’s 
recommendation for the following reasons: 
 
The site currently contained a modest single storey dwelling, set within a 
sloping and verdant plot, and was accessed via Clay Street, an unmade 
and poorly surfaced private track, which also served as a public footpath. 
  
In order to mitigate against the prominence of the development, the 
proposed creation of two five bedroom dwelling houses and parking and 
turning areas would require the lowering of the site’s ground level, and 
would involve a significant amount of excavation and retaining structures.  
The  resulting development would be of a far more prominent urban 
character and, in combination with the large scale of the two dwellings 
and their contemporary character, the development was likely to be 
unsympathetic to and out of keeping with the more rural character of the 
area, and the development of the site in the manner proposed was also 
likely to have a significant impact on residential amenities during 
construction works.  
The scheme was therefore considered to be contrary to the aims of Core 
Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and paragraph 17 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
154 17/00342/FUL: Land adjacent to Wilwyn Lane, West Winterslow, Wiltshire, 

SP5 1RQ 
 
Public Participation 
Karen Chalmers (Applicant) spoke in support of the application.  
Cllr Brown, vice chair of NHP steering cmmtt and Winterslow Parish Councillor 
spoke in Support of the application. 
 
The Planning Officer drew attention to the late correspondence circulated at the 
meeting and introduced the application for erection of two new dwellings 
including garaging with office over and new pedestrian and vehicular access. 
The application was recommended for REFUSAL as it was sited outside of the 
housing policy boundary, however it has been identified as a possible site for 
development on the emerging West Winterslow Neighbourhood Plan (NHP). 
 
The Committee had the opportunity to ask technical questions of the Officer, 
where it was noted that the development proposal was for 2 houses only and no 
further development on the site plan. 
 
The Core Policy stated that there was sufficient housing in Winterslow at this 
present time. 
 
The emerging NHP had 10 sites marked for development, which included three 
priority sites, and seven further sites in not order of preference. The NHP was 
yet to be adopted. 
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views as 
detailed above. 
 
The Unitary Division Member Cllr Chris Devine noted that this was a justifiable 
exemption under CP2. Communities grow, the NHP steering group had 
achieved balance here, with sites across Winterslow. The proposal would 
create 2 modest family homes to enable the owners to keep the family together 
in the Village, and would release a modest family house on to the market. 
 
Cllr Devine moved APPROVAL against Officers recommendation. 
This was seconded by Cllr Hewitt. On the grounds that this was a justifiable 
exception to CP2. 
 
The Committee then discussed the application. It was noted that the site was 
suitable for a development of two houses, however the NHP was in draft plan, 
and although it had the support of the parish council, the Committee should 
consider what was best for the community as a whole, and whether the 
application should wait until after the referendum, to adopt the NHP.  
 
The Committee then voted on the motion of APPROVAL 
 
Resolved 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 
 
 

That application 17/00342/FUL; Land adjacent to Wilwyn Lane, West 
Winterslow, Wiltshire, SP5 1RQ be APPROVED against Officer’s 
recommendation, with the following conditions: 
 
 

1.The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of this permission. 
  
REASON:   To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 
  
2.The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans: 
  
DWG No: CW/P/10 Site Location Plan, Proposed Block and Roof Plan 
Sections, Proposed Ground Floor and First Floor Plan Plot 1 Date 
Received 13.01.17 
DWG No: CW/P/12 Proposed Sectional Elevation Date Received 13.01.17 
DWG No: CW/P/13 Proposed Garage Elevations, Proposed Elevations for 
Plot 2, Proposed Roof Plan, Ground and First Floor Plans Date Received 
13.01.17 
  
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 
  
3. The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until the 
first five metres of the access, measured from the edge of the 
carriageway, has been consolidated and surfaced (not loose stone or 
gravel). The access shall be maintained as such thereafter. 
  
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
  
4. Any gate(s) shall be set back 4.5 metres from the edge of the 
carriageway, such gates to open inwards only. 
  
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
  
5. No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first occupied 
until the accesses, turning areas and parking spaces have been 
completed in accordance with the details shown on the approved plans. 
The areas shall be maintained for those purposes at all times thereafter. 
  
REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
  
6. The development hereby permitted shall not be first occupied until a 2 
metre wide pedestrian footway (to be dedicated as public highway) has 
been constructed across the entire site frontage and should link with 
adjacent existing dedicated highway land in front of Wilwyn.   
  

Page 11



 
 
 

 
 
 

REASON: In the interests of highway safety. 
  
7. No development shall commence on site until details of the external 
materials to be used for the walls and roof of the development have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
  
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the 
matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual amenity and the character 
and appearance of the area 
  
8. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the 
discharge of surface water from the site (including surface water from the 
access/driveway), incorporating sustainable drainage details, has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be first occupied until surface water drainage has 
been constructed in accordance with the approved scheme. 
  
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the 
matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, to ensure that the development can be adequately 
drained. 
  
9. No development shall commence on site until a scheme of hard and 
soft landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, the details of which shall include:- 
  
- location and current canopy spread of all existing trees and hedgerows 
on the land; 
- full details of any to be retained, together with measures for their 
protection in the course of development; 
- a detailed planting specification showing all plant and hedgerow 
species, supply and planting sizes and planting densities; 
- means of enclosure; 
- all hard and soft surfacing materials; 
  
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission 
  
10. All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the 
first occupation of the building(s) or the completion of the development 
whichever is the sooner; All shrubs, trees and hedge planting shall be 
maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by 
vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, 

Page 12



 
 
 

 
 
 

die, are removed, or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of a similar size and 
species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the 
development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
  
REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the 
development and the protection of existing important landscape features. 
  
11. Construction works shall take place only between the hours of 
0800hrs to 1700hrs, Monday to Friday, and only between 0800hrs to 1pm 
Saturdays. No construction works shall take place on Sundays or Public 
Holidays. 
 
INFORMATION 
 
With regards condition 06 and the provision of a footpath, part of this 
footway would be within highway verge, the remainder would need to be 
dedicated as public highway. The developer should then contact the 
Council’s Highways department to discuss the provision of this footpath 
and any dedication/adoption process. 
 

 
155 17/00526/FUL: Duchy Cottages, 2 North Road, Mere, Wiltshire, BA12 6HG 

 
Cllr Green left the meeting at this point and did not vote on this application. 
 
Public Participation 
Robert Pearce spoke in objection to the application 
Roger Pitts spoke in objection to the application 
Mr Sheldon spoke in objection to the application 
Miss Hyde spoke in support of the application  
Cllr Bret Norris spoke on behalf of Mere Town Council  
 
The Planning Officer introduced the application for a two-storey extension to the 
rear of the property and proposed garage to the side of the terrace. The 
application was recommended for APPROVAL with conditions. 
 
The Committee had the opportunity to ask technical questions of the Officer, 
where it was noted that both of the neighbouring properties either side of the 
site had single storey extensions. The Duchy had no objection to the changes.  
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views as 
detailed above. 
 
The Unitary Division Member Cllr George Jeans noted for transparency, that 
one of the objectors was on the Mere Town Council, which he was a member 

Page 13



 
 
 

 
 
 

of. However, as this did not constitute an interest he took part in the discussion 
and voted on the application. 
 
He also noted that the houses by character had single storey extensions. The 
main contention here was that there was a patio at the rear of the neighbouring 
property, which was used regularly by the residents to enjoy the outside light 
when they came home from work. He had visited the site and felt that the 
proposed development was too large and would block the light coming in to the 
neighbouring properties.  
 
Cllr Jeans moved for REFUSAL against Officers recommendation, this was 
seconded by Cllr Devine. 
 
The Committee then discussed the application. It was noted that the 
combination of a 2-storey extension with a wrap around and a vast garage 
make an unpleasant proposal, and was felt to be out keeping with the four 
terraced cottages. 
 
It was noted that development to terraced houses was often difficult to find a 
balance. It was felt that the proposed development would affect 2 neighbours 
quite heavily, and that there was over development on this site, with the 
planned garage also being too large. The Character of the terraced houses 
would need to be retained.  
 
 
 
The Committee then voted on the motion of REFUSAL 
 
Resolved: 
 
That application 17/00526/FUL; Duchy Cottages, 2 North Road, Mere, 
Wiltshire, BA12 6HG be REFUSED against Officer’s recommendation, for 
the following reasons: 
 

1. The property is located within a terrace of dwellings, and the rear 
garden of the property extends behind No.1 Duchy Cottages. The 
proposed two storey extension, by reason of its excessive length 
and height and its siting within close proximity to No. 1 Duchy 
Cottages, and the side boundary of no3 Duchy Cottages, would 
introduce a large and oppressive built form that would unduly affect 
the amenities of the adjoining neighbouring properties by its 
dominating effect, and by the likely overshadowing of the rear 
windows of No. 1 Duchy cottages, and the patio area to the 
immediate rear of No. 3 Duchy Cottages. 

 
The proposed development is therefore considered contrary to the 
aims and objectives of CP57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and the 
aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 14



 
 
 

 
 
 

2. The proposal site in relation to the garage directly abuts the side 
garden area serving No. 1 Duchy Cottages, and the site itself is 
readily visible in the surrounding street scene, being positioned 
closer to the road than the existing dwellings. The proposed 
garage, by reason of its excessive scale and mass and siting would 
have a detrimental impact on the character and setting of the street 
scene, and would have an overbearing impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring property No1 Duchy Cottages. 

 
The proposed development is therefore considered contrary to the 
aims and objectives of CP57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and the 
aims and objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
156 Urgent Items 

 
There were no urgent items 
 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  6.00  - 8.25 pm) 

 
 
 

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Lisa Moore of Democratic Services, 
direct line (01722) 434560, e-mail lisa.moore@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115 

 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



CM09797/F 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL                               AGENDA ITEM NO. 6 
 
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
6 APRIL 2017 
 

 
WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 – SECTION 53 

 
THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL (PARISH OF IDMISTON) PATH NO.9 DEFINITIVE MAP 

AND STATEMENT MODIFICATION ORDER 2016 
 
 
Purpose of Report 
 
1.  To: 
 

(i)  Consider objections and representations of support received following the 
making and advertisement of “The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Idmiston) 
Path No. 9 Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2016”, under 
Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
(ii)  Recommend that the Order be forwarded to the Secretary of State for the 

Environment, Food and Rural Affairs for determination, with a 
recommendation from Wiltshire Council that the Order be confirmed 
without modification. 

 
Relevance to the Council’s Business Plan 
 
2.  Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network fit for 

purpose, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit. 
 
Background 
 
3. Wiltshire Council received an application dated 3 November 2015 and made 

under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to add a footpath to 
the definitive map and statement of public rights of way in the parish of Idmiston. 
The application is made by Mrs V Creswell on behalf of Porton Neighbourhood 
Plan Group, on the grounds that public footpath rights can be reasonably alleged 
to subsist or subsist over the claimed route, based on user evidence and should 
be recorded within the definitive map and statement of public rights of way, as 
such. 

 
4.  The claimed route is located in the village of Porton, in the parish of Idmiston, 

which lies to the north-east of Salisbury and the south-west of Amesbury (please 
see location plan at Appendix A). The claimed route forms a link between 
Porton High Street and the recreation ground, leading from its junction with the 
High Street in a generally north-north-westerly direction and split into three 
identifiable sections: (i) leading from the High Street over a grassed area for 
approximately 30 metres, (ii) through Bourne Close, an unadopted road with no 
footway, for approximately 46 metres and (iii) leading between the gardens of 
the properties 1A and 2 Bourne Close, to its junction with the recreation ground 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



CM09797/F 

via an enclosed section 6 metres in width, having a central metalled section 
3.15 metres wide. There are concrete bollards at the southern end of the section 
between the gardens to prevent vehicular access to the recreation ground, with a 
litter bin provided at this point. Please see Order plan included at Appendix C. 

 
5. The southern section of the route, laid to grass, is privately owned by Mr A Jones 

and the route through Bourne Close is over an area of unregistered land, which 
forms the Bourne Close roadway (including the section of the route between the 
gardens). This roadway is not publicly maintainable and officers consider that the 
common law belief that adjoining property owners own the land to the centre of 
the track, is likely to apply here and the road is therefore in the joint 
ownership/maintenance of the residents of Bourne Close to enable them to 
access their properties (including with vehicles). There are presently no recorded 
public rights over Bourne Close or the grass area and therefore members of the 
public cannot rely on public rights over this land to access the recreation ground. 

 
6.  The land in the ownership of Mr Jones, the grassed area A-B on the order plan 

(attached at Appendix C), has been the subject of three planning applications, 
as follows: 

 
(i) 14/10638/FUL – Application registered 14/11/14 to erect new three bed 

detached dwelling – withdrawn. 
(ii)  15/04079/FUL – Application registered 13/05/15, proposed two bed 

bungalow – withdrawn. 
(iii)  15/10963/FUL – Application registered 08/01/16, proposed bungalow 

(resubmission of 15/04079/FUL). Refused 29/02/16 on the grounds of the 
footpath application and the adverse effect on the setting of the adjacent 
listed building Rose Cottage and the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. 

 
7.  Wiltshire Council commenced an initial consultation regarding the proposals to 

add a public footpath to the definitive map and statement of public rights of way 
in the parish of Idmiston, on 29 December 2015. The objections and 
representations received are summarised at Appendix 1 of the decision report 
attached at Appendix B.  

 
8.  Following its investigation of the available evidence, officers of Wiltshire Council 

produced a decision report in which a recommendation was made to senior 
officers that a footpath should be added to the definitive map and statement of 
public rights of way, on the grounds that a right for the public on foot can be 
reasonably alleged to subsist (please see decision report at Appendix B). 
Senior officers approved this recommendation on 17 November 2016. 

 
9.  Wiltshire Council subsequently made a definitive map modification order to add 

the claimed footpath to the definitive map and statement of public rights of way, 
as Footpath No. 9 Idmiston (please see definitive map modification order at 
Appendix C).  Notice of the making of the Order was duly advertised, served on 
interested parties (including landowners) and posted on site. 

 
 
 

Page 18



CM09797/F 

10.  Following the making of the Order, Wiltshire Council received 23 objections to 
the making of the Order and 5 representations of support, as follows: 

 
Objections: 

 
(1)  Mr Steve Ayling – Correspondence dated 16 January 2017 
(2)  Mrs Sue Ayling - Correspondence dated 16 January 2017 
(3)  Mr and Mrs W Baker – Correspondence dated 29 December 2016 
(4)  Mr Paul Chivers – E-mail correspondence dated 12 January 2017 
(5)  Gess Cuthbert – E-mail correspondence dated 17 January 2017 
(6)  Mr M Dawson – E-mail correspondence dated 7 January 2017 
(7) Mr Steven Duffin – E-mail correspondence dated 23 January 2017 
(8) Mr R Gould – E-mail correspondence dated 22 January 2017 
(9) Mr Richard Green and Mrs Gillian Green – E-mail correspondence dated 

7 January 2017 
(10) Mr Roly Grimshaw – Correspondence dated 16 January 2017  
(11)  Mr Owen Harry – E-mail correspondence dated 16 January 2017 
(12)  Sally Harry – E-mail correspondence dated 17 January 2017 
(13) Mr Dudley Humphreys – E-mail correspondence dated 16 January 2017 
(14)  Idmiston Parish Council – E-mail correspondence dated 17 December 2016 
(15)  Mr Mark Jones – Correspondence dated 23 January 2017 
(16)  Mr C Joy – Correspondence dated 15 January 2017 
(17)  Mr and Mrs Maher – Correspondence dated 13 January 2017 
(18)  Mrs Pope – E-mail correspondence dated 12 December 2016 
(19)  Mrs Janet Slater – E-mail correspondence dated 20 January 2017 
(20)  Mr G Thomas – E-mail correspondence dated 12 January 2017 
(21)  Mr Andrew Tidd – Correspondence dated 23 January 2017 
(22)  Mrs Jan Tidd – Correspondence dated 23 January 2017 
(23)  Mrs B Tooze – E-mail correspondence dated 15 January 2017 

 
Representations of Support:  

 
(1)  Mr Mark Adams – Correspondence dated 15 January 2017 
(2) Dr Patricia Appleyard – E-mail correspondence dated 23 January 2017 
(3)  Mr K Bradley – E-mail correspondence dated 17 December 2016 
(4)  Dr Matthew Brookes – Undated correspondence received within the formal 

objection period (acknowledged by Wiltshire Council 11 January 2017) 
(5)  Mr D Creswell – Correspondence dated 2 January 2017 
 

11. The objections and representations are included in full at Appendix D and 
officers’ comments on the objections are set out at paragraphs 17 to 54 of this 
report. 

 
12.  Due to the objections outstanding, the Order now falls to be determined by the 

Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. Members of the 
Committee are requested to consider (i) the objections and representations 
received in response to the making of the order, (ii) the evidence already before 
the Council in this case, and (iii) the legal tests for making a definitive map and 
statement modification order, under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside 
Act 1981 and Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, in order to determine the 
Wiltshire Council recommendation to be attached to the Order when it is 
forwarded to the Secretary of State for decision. 

Page 19



CM09797/F 

Main Considerations for the Council 
 
13.  Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 places a duty upon the 

Surveying Authority to keep the definitive map and statement of public rights of 
way under continuous review. The requirements of this section of the Act and 
Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, which refers to the dedication of a way as 
a highway presumed after public user of 20 years, are outlined at part 8 (pages 
10-15) of the decision report attached at Appendix B. 

 
14.  The Order is made under Section 53(3)(c) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981, based on: 
 
“the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all other 
relevant evidence available to them) shows- 

 
(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the definitive map and statement 
subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the 
map relates, being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists 
is a public path, a restricted byway or subject to section 54A, a byway open to all 
traffic.” 

 
15. Under Section 31(1) of the Highways Act 1980 “where a way over any land, 

other than a way of such character that use of it by the public could not give rise 
at common law to any presumption of dedication, has actually been enjoyed by 
the public as of right without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is 
to be deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient 
evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.” 

 
16.  Evidence is the key and therefore valid objections to the making of the Order 

must challenge the evidence available to the Surveying Authority. The Authority 
is not able to take into account other considerations, such as the suitability of the 
way for use by the public, environmental impacts and the “need” for the claimed 
route. 

 
Comments on the Objections 
 
No evidence of use of the grass area and a footpath cannot be reasonably 
assumed to subsist when there is no evidence of it: 
 
17. Gess Cuthbert states that whilst serving two separate periods on the Parish 

Council, on both occasions involved with the Amenities Committee which dealt 
with footpaths in the parish, “the footpaths would be walked once a year by 
members of the committee and I have no recollection of the area in question 
being used as a footpath.” 

 
Mr and Mrs Maher state that in 7 years of living in Bourne Close, “…we rarely 
saw anyone walk across path A to B, you’d occasionally see a child or dog take 
a short cut but never adults.” 
 
Additionally, 7 objectors claim to have accessed the recreation ground via the 
Bourne Close roadway and state that during their use they never saw anyone 
using the route across the grass.  

Page 20



CM09797/F 

18. This evidence must be viewed on balance with the 27 user evidence forms 
already before the Council, 26 of which outline the individual witness’ use of the 
claimed route over the grass and through Bourne Close. 

 
19. The Council cannot take into account the number of objections but must 

consider the evidence contained within those objections against the evidence 
contained within the representations of support and the evidence already before 
the Council, as outlined within the decision report attached at Appendix B. 
There will inevitably be points of conflict within the evidence of objectors and that 
of the supporters. For this reason, the order has been made based on a 
reasonable allegation that a right of way for the public on foot subsists, which is 
a lower test than the balance of probabilities. Where there is no incontrovertible 
evidence against this, it is in the public interest for a local authority to support the 
Order.  

 
20. The case of R v Secretary of State for the Environment, ex p.Bagshaw and 

Norton, Queen’s Bench Division (Owen J.): April 28, 1994, deals with the 
applications of both Mrs Norton and Mr Bagshaw, who had applied to their 
respective county councils for Orders to add public rights of way to the definitive 
maps and statements, based upon witness evidence of at least 20 years 
uninterrupted public user and where the councils determined not to make 
Orders. On appeal, in both cases, the Secretary of State considered that the 
Councils should not be directed to make the Orders. At judicial review, Owen J 
allowed both applications; quashed the Secretary of State’s decisions and held 
that: 
“(1) under Section 53(3)(c)(i) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, the tests 
which the county council and the then Secretary of State needed to apply were 
whether the evidence produced by the claimant, together will all the other 
evidence available, showed that either (a) a right of way subsisted or (b) that it 
was reasonable to allege that a right of way subsisted. On test (a) it would be 
necessary to show that the right of way did subsist on the balance of 
probabilities. On test (b) it would be necessary to show that a reasonable 
person, having considered all the relevant evidence available, could reasonably 
allege a right of way to subsist. Neither the claimant nor the court were to be the 
judge of that and the decision of the Secretary of State was final if he had asked 
himself the right question, subject to an allegation of Wednesbury 
unreasonableness. The evidence necessary to establish that a right of way is 
reasonably alleged to subsist is less than that needed to show that a right of way 
does subsist. The Secretary of State had erred in law in both cases as he could 
not show that test (b) had been satisfied.” 

 
21.  Owen J also held that: 
 

“(2) In a case where the evidence from witnesses as to user is conflicting, if the 
right would be shown to exist by reasonably accepting one side and reasonably 
rejecting the other on paper, it would be reasonable to allege that such a right 
subsisted. The reasonableness of that rejection may be confirmed or destroyed 
by seeing the witnesses at the inquiry.” 

 
 
 

Page 21



CM09797/F 

22.  It is notable in the Norton case that, the Secretary of State “…notes that the user 
evidence submitted in support of a presumption of dedication is limited to four 
persons claiming 20 years of vehicular use as of right; he must weigh this 
against the statements from the landowner, supported by 115 signed forms and 
the Layham and Polstead Parish Councils, indicating the use of the route has 
been on a permissive basis and that active steps to prevent a presumption of 
dedication arising have been taken…” In both the Norton and Bagshaw cases 
Owen J concluded that:  

 
“If, however, as probably was so in each of these cases, there were to be 
conflicting evidence which could only be tested or evaluated by cross-
examination, an Order would seem likely to be appropriate.” 
 

23.  Even in a case with only limited supporting evidence and a large number of 
objections, Owen J held that an Order would seem appropriate. When this case 
law is applied to the Idmiston case, where there are 27 completed user evidence 
forms, it suggests that the making of a definitive map modification order is 
appropriate. 

 
24.  In such a case concerning the balancing test to be applied to the evidence, the 

authority is correct in making the Order on the grounds that it is reasonable to 
allege that a right of way for the public on foot subsists. Where the objectors 
have not submitted incontrovertible evidence to defeat that reasonable 
allegation, the Committee should recommend to the Secretary of State that the 
Order be confirmed without modification. The only way to properly determine the 
Order is to see the witnesses at a public inquiry where they may give evidence in 
chief and their evidence may be tested through the process of cross-
examination. 

 
Footpath claimed to block planning applications, also preventing a much needed 
affordable house being provided in the area: 
 
25. The landowner Mr Mark Jones states that the application to add a footpath was 

submitted by Mrs Creswell who is also leading a group of objectors to the 
planning application. He notes that no one submitted a footpath application 
before the planning application was known. Many of the witnesses are also 
objectors to the planning application and are aware that the implementation of a 
footpath will reduce the size of the plot sufficiently to prevent a house being built. 
Mr Jones suggests that the credibility of witnesses must therefore be brought 
into question. 
 
Mrs Pope, who through Pope Plan and Build has provided architectural services 
and is representing Mr Jones in the planning process, states that “the footpath 
application will not stop my client from applying for an application as the 
proposed dwelling can still fit on the land (slightly shifted towards Bourne Close) 
even if the footpath gets a go ahead, and vice versa if the footpath gets turned 
down that doesn’t necessarily mean that my client will get the permission to 
build.” 
 
Mr Geoff Thomas points out that “at present there are more planning issues 
affecting his ability to gain planning permission than just the alleged footpath on 
his land.”  

Page 22



CM09797/F 

“The fact that there was a planning application to erect a 2 bedroom property on 
the site is highly relevant to this application but the Council does not appear to 
have taken this into consideration when assessing the quality and reliability of 
the evidence submitted”  
Mr Thomas also notes that the evidence in this case is “…mainly written 
evidence from 27 users, of whom roughly half have previously objected to the 
planning applications.”  
Mr Thomas also points out that at the time of the first planning application, (for a 
three bedroom dwelling) and second planning application, (for a two bed 
bungalow), the objection letters make little reference to a footpath over Mr Jones’ 
land, however by the third application objectors are referring to use of the land 
as a footpath. 
 

26. Once Wiltshire Council receives an application to add a public right of way, it has 
a statutory duty to investigate and determine the application. As part of its 
investigations the Council may consider only the evidence before it. Whatever 
the motives of the applicant, the Council is in receipt of 27 witness evidence 
forms, which provide evidence of use of the claimed route over the grassed area 
and through Bourne Close for a period beginning in 1960, before the recent 
planning applications were submitted for this site. 

 
27.  Although planning issues are not relevant to the decision to make a definitive 

map modification order, it is noted that the claimed footpath is not the only 
reason for the refusal of the planning application to build a bungalow on the site, 
15/10963/FUL. The application was also refused on the grounds that the 
proposal would have an adverse effect upon the setting of the adjacent listed 
building, Rose Cottage, and the character and appearance of the conservation 
area with no public benefits arising from the proposal which would outweigh this 
harm. The Council pointed out that it has a supply of specific deliverable sites 
sufficient to provide five years worth of housing against the housing 
requirements, the provision of housing is therefore not a material consideration 
which outweighs the adverse effects upon the listed building and the 
conservation area. 

 
The route A-C along the Bourne Close road without crossing Mr Jones’ land is 
the obvious route: 
 
28. Mr and Mrs Baker state “While out walking our dogs, we would always use the 

roadway of Bourne Close to go to the park, as many other people do…” 
 

Gess Cuthbert states “I have lived in the village for over thirty-four years in that 
time [I] have walked my daughters and latterly my grandchildren from the High 
Street to the playing fields using the road through Bourne Close, especially 
pushing a pushchair never using the grassed area, in fact, I cannot recall seeing 
anybody else using it.” 
 
Mr Steven Duffin states “I often visit the play park with my son and until now 
have always used the tarmac road on Bourne Close to gain access to the park, 
which quite clearly is a better option that walking across wet grass. It is obvious 
to me that I am not the only local resident with this view as I can’t remember ever 
seeing anyone else not using the tarmac road for access.” 
 

Page 23



CM09797/F 

Mr Roy Gould as a member of Idmiston Parish Council for 50 years states that 
“During this period I have made countless visits to Porton Play Park (PPP) via 
the Bourne Close entrance in order to carry out hundreds of inspection and 
maintenance tasks in my role as parish councillor. Also, accompanying my 
children and later their children on twice weekly visits to the park. Throughout the 
62 years I have lived in the parish of Idmiston, I have never ever witnessed any 
trespassers on the land at the junction of High Street and Bourne Close now 
belonging to Mr Mark Jones…The road linking PPP with the High Street, i.e. 
Bourne Close, is unrestricted to pedestrians and cyclists.” 
 
Mr and Mrs Green state “There is certainly evidence available that many non 
residents of Bourne Close (including ourselves) have walked on the roadway 
from the High Street to the recreation ground during the period between when 
Bourne Close was built and the present day and this is the usual route taken, not 
the route across the privately owned piece of grass.” 
 
Mr R Grimshaw “I live in Porton, with my wife and disabled mother-in-law. We 
walk our dogs daily and often access the playground from the High Street. We 
would not dream of crossing the usually damp and messy patch…” 
 
Mr Owen Harry writes “Myself and my family regularly walk in this area and have 
done so for many years now and see no issue using the tarmac road for this 
route, using the grassland as the path seems completely unnecessary.” 
 
Sally Harry writes “I regularly walk in this area with my granddaughter on our 
way to the recreation ground and have no issue with the current route. I consider 
a footpath on the grassland at that point unnecessary…” 
 
Mr D Humphreys states “I am a resident of Porton and have lived in the village 
since 1998. During this time, I have used the footpath to and from the park. The 
majority of people that I have observed, over the various date and times, like me, 
have used the tarmac road rather than use the grass triangle.” 
 
The landowner Mr Mark Jones suggests that “There is a perfectly good level and 
safe route for pedestrians from A to C on the little used tarmac road.” 
 
Mr C Joy writes “My brother and I walk to the local shop everyday. We regularly 
continue up the High Street, walk into Bourne Close on the tarmac road through 
the park and back home. We have lived in this village over 70 years and do not 
see any point having a footpath over the grass area when there is a perfectly 
good tarmac road to use.” 
 
Mr and Mrs Maher state that part of the “Path A to B is across private land and 
there is already a tarmac path in the same direction next to it that is already used 
constantly.  
Path B to C has always been used as a route to the park anyway.” 
 
Mrs Slater states that “Anyone wishing to access Porton playing field from the 
High Street would normally walk on the nearby tarmac roadway…I have lived in 
the village, close to the area concerned for nearly 40 years and have never 
understood there to be a footpath over this green area, and have always walked 
on the tarmac.” 

Page 24



CM09797/F 

Mr and Mrs Tidd state that they always walked their dogs “through the playing 
field by the entrance on Winterslow road and then through and out down Bourne 
Close. We have never walked on the grass verge as it does not join the pathway 
to the playing field and it is a very very quiet road with hardly any traffic 
movements, except for access to the houses, therefore there was no necessity 
to walk anywhere other than on the roadway.” To their knowledge and 
recollections, they have never seen anyone walking along the grass and 
everyone that they are aware of uses the roadway. 
 
Mrs Barbara Tooze considers the order route to be in the wrong place where 
“People walk to the recreation ground along the roadway of Bourne Close from 
the High St…perhaps the order should place the footpath along the route taken 
by so many people, including myself in the past, and follow the line of the 
roadway rather than across the piece of open land.” 

 
29. There may be evidence that the public used a route over the tarmac route of 

Bourne Close, and there is certainly evidence of this provided by the objectors. 
However, this must also be balanced against the 27 witness evidence forms 
provided from users of the grass area and it is significant that witnesses refer to 
their use being brought into question by the erection of a fence around the land 
in March 2015. The application for the addition of a footpath followed in 
November 2015, after the public were physically prevented from using the order 
route. If users had not been using the grass area, but were using the roadway 
instead, the claim may not have occurred where public use of a route on the 
roadway, was not brought into question.  

 
30.  Supporters of the application suggest that path users walked the grass area as a 

safer alternative to the Bourne Close roadway. Mr Mark Adams, in his 
representation of support, advises that “Until March 2015, this land has not been 
fenced off for more than 25 years, and has been used by village residents and 
children for walking dogs and specifically for safe access to the recreation 
ground in Bourne Close. The shape of the Close produces a blind corner and, as 
there is no pavement, this puts pedestrians, especially children, at risk from 
oncoming traffic in either direction. As such access across this small parcel of 
land has been treated by default as a ‘right of way’ and has become a 
community asset, which helps justify formal establishment of a public right of 
way.” 

 
31.  Mr Ken Bradley used the order route as an access to the playing field, avoiding 

the busy Winterslow Road. In his representation of support he states that “During 
the time I have lived in Porton I have used this footpath myself and also been 
aware of others using it for the purpose of gaining access to the playing field, 
walking dogs or using it as an alternative to the path running alongside the main 
road (Winterslow Road). You will be aware that Winterslow Road carries a high 
volume of traffic including heavy vehicles and buses. When these pass each 
other, and due to the width of the road, they are very close to the associated 
pavement with their wing mirrors overhanging the pavement risking injury to 
pedestrians.  

 The value of this footpath is that it provides a safe passage for children on their 
way to the playing field away from the dangers of the busy Winterslow Road.” 

 

Page 25



CM09797/F 

What Law or Byelaw allows a Council to confiscate land from a private landowner 
without any definitive reasons and without the use of compulsory purchase: 
 
32. Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 allows any party to make an 

application to amend the definitive map and statement of public rights of way, in 
this case adding a footpath. It also places the Council under a duty to investigate 
and determine the application and where it fails to do so, the Council is liable to 
complaints, potentially leading to a complaint to the Local Government 
Ombudsman. Ultimately, a request for judicial review could be made with 
significant costs against the Council where it is found to have acted unlawfully. 

 
The route A-B (the grass area) is over private land: 
 
33. All recorded public rights of way are public rights over private land (unless the 

land is unregistered). 
 

34. There are presently no recorded public rights of way over Bourne Close and 
therefore no public right of access from the High Street to the recreation ground 
via the Bourne Close roadway. 

 
35. When the land registry index map is examined it shows that the Bourne Close 

roadway does not have a title number and appears to be unregistered land, 
however it is assumed that the common law position applies whereby adjoining 
property owners (in Bourne Close) are said to own to the centre point of the road 
and are jointly responsible for maintaining the road in order to access their 
properties, including with vehicles. It has been suggested by two of the objectors 
that the Parish Council owns and maintains this road as an access to the 
recreation ground, Officers have requested further evidence of this from the 
Parish Council, but no evidence of this has been forthcoming. 

 
The application and the investigation and determination of the application is a 
waste of taxpayers money: 
 
36. Where a definitive map modification order application is made, the Council is 

placed under a statutory duty to investigate and determine the application. 
Where the Council fails to make a decision within 12 months of the application 
the applicant may apply to the Secretary of State for the Authority to be given a 
deadline for determination of the application.   

 
Mr Jones has owned the land for 12 years and during that time nobody has 
previously applied for a footpath across it: 
 
37. Claims to add public rights of way are usually not made until the right of the 

public to use the way is brought into question. Officers consider it quite 
reasonable that the public would continue to use this route without a claim being 
made until the fence was erected around the whole of the grassed area in March 
2015, which physically prevented the public from using the route at this time. The 
application is dated 3 November 2015 which presents a reasonable time 
between the physical obstruction of the claimed route and the application being 
made, including the gathering of evidence from witnesses. The witnesses and 
the landowner do not make any reference to an earlier action by the landowner 
to prevent the public using the route which would have brought public use of the 

Page 26



CM09797/F 

right of way into question. If Mr Jones, as the landowner, had taken action prior 
to 2015 to prevent public use of the claimed route, we may have received an 
application to add a footpath at that time. 

 
Only a few local houses opposite stand to benefit: 
  
38. Where a public right of way is added to the definitive map and statement of 

public rights of way, the public as a whole stand to benefit and at present there 
are no recorded public rights of way to access the recreation ground through 
Bourne Close. 

 
No need for the path: 
 
39. Mr M Dawson states “it would save only 10 metres maximum in walking distance 

it obviously is not needed.” and points out that if the footpath were installed “the 
land would be fenced off and a fenced walkway for the footpath created with a 
stile at either end who is ever going to use it nobody” 

 
Others have pointed out that there is a suitable alternative route available on the 
Bourne Close roadway. 

  
Mr R Grimshaw objects to the application, the principal reason being the lack of 
disabled access, and suggests that a route wholly on the Bourne Close 
tarmaced road area would be accessible. 

 
40. The “need” for the path is not a matter which the Council may consider in its 

determination of the application. It may only consider the available evidence of 
use and any documentary evidence, although it is useful supporting evidence to 
know where users were going and how and why they used the path. The Council 
must consider the evidence before it, rather than the need for the claimed route, 
for example where there is a suitable alternative route. 

 
41. There are no recorded public rights over the Bourne Close roadway and if the 

footpath were added to the definitive map and statement of public rights of way 
and subsequently fenced out of the field, stiles could not be included where they 
are not present on the claimed route; it is not the policy of Wiltshire Council to 
provide stiles which are the most restrictive access option for public rights of way 
(pedestrian gates being less restrictive and a gap being the least restrictive) and 
gates on a public right of way may only be authorised where they are necessary 
for the purposes of stock control. 

 
42.  In his letter of support Dr Matthew Brookes states that “Cllr Mike 

Hewitt…appears to be ignorant of the fact that Bourne Close is a Private Road. 
Therefore his comment that there is ‘no justification’ for formalizing the access to 
the playpark because there is access via the road (Bourne Close) is incorrect; 
both ‘A to B’ and ‘walking a short distance along the road’ are ‘over private land’, 
and clarification of a Right of Way is therefore desirable. His suggestion that 
walkers use the road in preference to the ‘A to B’ route puts walkers, particularly 
children, at risk from traffic at the junction because there is no pavement on the 
Private Road…We have three young children and have found traffic turning into 
and out of Bourne Close a hazard because of the lack of pavement. The fact that 

Page 27



CM09797/F 

the junction is not busy actually increases the risk because it reduces both driver 
and pedestrian vigilance.” 

 
43. In his letter of support, Mr David Creswell states that “Such a right of way will 

give the public a right of access to the Recreation Ground from the High Street 
without being dependent upon the good offices of the owners of Bourne Close, a 
private road. 

 The new path will considerably enhance the safety of pedestrians seeking 
access to the Recreation Ground form the High Street by separating them from 
the road traffic on Bourne Close.” 

 
It would seem that rights of way officers are working with the Neighbourhood 
Planning Group and are trying to use their powers incorrectly, working outside 
their remit: 
 
44. Officers have assessed the evidence in this case independently and case law 

within the Norton and Bagshaw judgement would suggest that Wiltshire Council 
was correct to make the Idmiston Footpath No. 9 definitive map modification 
order. The Council is not working outside its remit as once an application to 
amend the definitive map and statement of public rights of way is received, the 
Council is placed under a duty to investigate and determine the application and 
where it fails to do so it is liable to challenge with associated costs against the 
Council. 

 
Incorrect right of representation: 
 
45. Mr Mark Jones notes that the decision report states that the application “is made 

by Mrs Creswell on behalf of Porton Neighbourhood Plan Group”. The 
Neighbourhood Plan is in draft form only and has not been ratified by Idmiston 
Parish Council and this group is not a representative body, it is misleading to 
make that claim.” 

 
46. The application to Wiltshire Council is made by the “Porton Neighbourhood Plan 

Group”, this cannot now be amended by Wiltshire Council.  Wiltshire Council has 
subsequently received a letter of objection from Idmiston Parish Council. The 
Council is only entitled to consider the evidence before it and the applications 
submission in the name of the “Neighbourhood Plan Group” is not a material 
factor in the determination of the application. 

 
Inaccurate witness statements: 
 
47. The landowner claims that the witness statements are in many cases blatantly 

inaccurate and need to be verified before a decision is taken.  Where there is 
dispute within the evidence the Order will be forwarded to the Secretary of State, 
for determination. In a witness evidence case, it is likely to be determined by an 
Inspector appointed on behalf of the Secretary of State holding a local public 
inquiry, at which all parties will have opportunity to give their evidence. The 
evidence will then be tested through cross-examination, which will highlight 
areas of inaccuracy within the evidence. 

 
 
 

Page 28



CM09797/F 

The Parish Council has objected: 
 
48. Idmiston Parish Council has objected on the grounds that it believes the 

application to modify the definitive map is unnecessary and stating “Section B to 
C on the proposed definitive map modification order has long been under the 
jurisdiction of Idmiston Parish Council, as a recognised way of entering Porton 
Playing Fields. There would be no objection to this section becoming a public 
footpath, although the change is felt to be unnecessary. In contrast, the 
proposed Section A to B is over a piece of privately owned grassland which 
provides little or no advantage to pedestrians over the existing access via the 
tarmac part of Bourne Close. Making section A-B part of the definitive footpath 
map would disadvantage the landowner and provide no sensible advantage to 
parishioners.” 

 
49. Mr Andrew Tidd was Chair of Idmiston Parish Council from April 2008 – May 

2012, he had also worked as a Parish Councillor for over six years and it was his 
understanding that the Bourne Close roadway belonged to the Parish Council 
and it was the Parish Council’s responsibility to maintain it.  Mrs Jan Tidd, who 
was Chair from May 2012 to July 2014 and Parish Councillor for over six years, 
also held this view. 

 
50. No evidence that the Parish Council owns or maintains the Bourne Close 

roadway has been received by the Council and there are no recorded public 
rights of way over Bourne Close to access the recreation ground, not even over 
the section which the Parish Council claims to own and maintain. 

 
51. Whilst the Parish Council does object to the application, this must be balanced 

against the evidence already before the Council in the form of 27 completed 
witness evidence forms. 

 
Conclusion: 
 
52. In conclusion, the Order has been made on a reasonable allegation that a right 

of way for the public on foot, subsists over the land in question and this is a 
lower test than the balance of probabilities. Where the objections offer no 
incontrovertible evidence against this, it is in the public interest for a local 
authority to support the Order. 

 
53.  Members of the Committee should now consider the objections and 

representations received and the evidence as a whole, in order to determine 
whether or not Wiltshire Council continues to support the making of the Order 
under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The making of the 
Order has been objected to, therefore the Order must now be submitted to the 
Secretary of State for decision and Members of the Committee are required to 
determine the Wiltshire Council recommendation which is attached to the Order 
when it is forwarded to the Secretary of State. 

 
54. Please note that all references to the available evidence, now include the 

submissions made at the formal objection period (please see correspondence at 
Appendix D), as well as the evidence considered within the decision report 
dated 22 June 2016, (included at Appendix B).  Members should note that the 
evidence in full is available to be viewed at Wiltshire Council’s Offices at Ascot 
Court, Trowbridge. 

Page 29



CM09797/F 

Overview and Scrutiny Engagement 
 
55.  Overview and Scrutiny Engagement is not required in this case. The Council 

must follow the statutory process which is set out under Section 53 of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981. 

 
Safeguarding Considerations 
 
56.  Considerations relating to safeguarding anyone affected by the making of an 

Order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 are not 
considerations permitted within the Act.  Any such Order must be made and 
confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone. 

 
Public Health Implications 
 
57. Considerations relating to the public health implications of the making and 

confirmation of an Order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981 are not considerations permitted within the Act. Any such Order must be 
made and confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone. 

 
Corporate Procurement Implications 
 
58.  Where an Order is forwarded to the Secretary of State for determination, there 

are a number of opportunities for expenditure to occur and these are considered 
at paragraphs 62-65 of this report. 

 
Environmental and Climate Change Impact of the Proposal 
 
59.  Considerations relating to the environmental or climate change impact of the 

making and confirmation of an Order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 are not considerations permitted within the Act.  Any such 
Order must be made and confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone. 

 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
60.  Considerations relating to the equalities impact of the making and confirmation of 

an Order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 are not 
considerations permitted within the Act. Any such Order must be made and 
confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone. 

 
Risk Assessment 
 
61.  Wiltshire Council has a duty to keep the definitive map and statement of public 

rights of way under continuous review and therefore there is no risk associated 
with the Council pursuing this duty correctly. Evidence has been brought to the 
Council’s attention that there is an error in the definitive map and statement of 
public rights of way which ought to be investigated and it would be unreasonable 
for the Council not to seek to address this fact. If the Council fails to pursue its 
duty it is liable to complaints being submitted through the Council’s complaints 
procedure, potentially leading to complaints to the Local Government 
Ombudsman. Ultimately, a request for judicial review could be made with 
significant costs against the Council where it is found to have acted unlawfully. 

Page 30



CM09797/F 

Financial Implications 
 
62.  The determination of definitive map modification order applications, and the 

modifying of the definitive map and statement of public rights of way accordingly, 
are statutory duties for the Council; therefore, the costs of processing such 
Orders are borne by the Council. There is no mechanism by which the Council 
can re-charge these costs to the applicant. 

 
63.  Where objections are received to the making of the Order and not withdrawn, the 

Order falls to be determined by the Secretary of State and cannot simply be 
withdrawn. The Order will now be determined by an independent Inspector 
appointed on behalf of the Secretary of State by written representations, local 
hearing or local public inquiry, each of which has a financial implication for the 
Council. 

 
64.  Where the case is determined by written representations, the cost to the Council 

is £200 - £300; however, where a local hearing is held, the costs to the Council 
are estimated at £300 - £500. A public inquiry could cost between £1,500 and 
£3,000, if Wiltshire Council supports the Order (i.e. where legal representation is 
required by the Council) and around £300 - £500 where Wiltshire Council no 
longer supports the making of the Order (i.e. where no legal representation is 
required by the Council and the case is presented by the applicant). 

 
65.  Where the Council makes an Order in respect of which it receives objections, it 

may potentially be liable to pay subsequent costs if the Planning Inspectorate 
finds that it has acted in an unreasonable manner at the public inquiry.  
However, costs awards of this nature are rare, but may be in the region of up to 
£10,000. 

 
Legal Implications 
 
66.  Where the Council no longer supports the making of the Order, clear evidential 

reasons for this must be given, as the applicant may seek judicial review of the 
Council’s decision if this is seen by them to be incorrect or unjust. 

 
67. The determination of an Order, in respect of which the Council has received 

objections, is made by the Secretary of State and not Wiltshire Council. 
Therefore, any challenge to that decision is against the Secretary of State 
(although the Council would be considered by the Court to be an “interested 
party” in any such proceedings). 

 
Options Considered 
 
68. The options are: 
 

(i)  Members may resolve that Wiltshire Council continues to support the 
making of the Order, based on its consideration of the available evidence, 
in which case the Committee should recommend that the Order be 
confirmed without modification; 

 
 

Page 31



CM09797/F 

(ii)  Members may resolve that Wiltshire Council continues to support the 
making of the Order with modification based on its consideration of the 
available evidence, in which case the Committee should recommend that 
the Order be confirmed with modification; 

 
(iii)  Members may resolve that Wiltshire Council no longer supports the 

making of the Order, on its consideration of the available evidence, in 
which case the Committee should recommend that the Order is not 
confirmed with clear evidential reasons given for this resolution. 

 
Reason for Proposal 
 
69. The Order has been made on the grounds that there is sufficient evidence for it 

to be reasonably alleged that a right of way for the public on foot, subsists. 
 
70.  Officers have fully considered the evidence submitted within the objections; 

however, where the Order has been made based on a reasonable allegation, 
nothing within the objections causes officers to consider that the Order has been 
incorrectly made (particularly where the Norton and Bagshaw judgement is 
applied), or that the order is incapable of confirmation. 

 
71. There is conflicting evidence in this case; however, officers consider that the 

Council is correct in making the Order and it should now be forwarded to the 
Secretary of State for determination, with a recommendation from Wiltshire 
Council that the Order be confirmed without modification. Witness evidence may 
then be presented in chief at the public inquiry and tested through the process of 
cross-examination. 

 
Proposal 
 
72.  That “The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Idmiston) Path No. 9 Definitive Map and 

Statement Modification Order 2016”, be forwarded to the Secretary of State for 
determination, with a recommendation from Wiltshire Council that the Order be 
confirmed without modification. 

 
 
Tracy Carter 
Associate Director – Waste and Environment  
 
Report Author: 
Janice Green  
Rights of Way Officer 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this report: 
 
 Witness evidence forms 

Correspondence received as part of the initial consultation 
(The above-mentioned documents are available to be viewed at the offices of 
Rights of Way and Countryside, Wiltshire Council, Unit 9, Ascot Court, 
Trowbridge.) 

Page 32



CM09797/F 

Appendices: 
 
 Appendix A  –  Location Plan 

Appendix B –  Decision Report (22 June 2016) 
Appendix C  –  “The Wiltshire Council (Parish of Idmiston) Path No. 9 Definitive 

Map and Statement Modification Order 2016” 
Appendix D  –  Correspondence received in the formal objection period: 
     (i) Representations of objection 
     (ii) Representations of support 
Appendix E  –  Correspondence from Mr David Adams dated 22 March 2017 – 

Received outside the formal objection period of 8 December 
2016 – 25 January 2017 

  

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 37



Page 38



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

1 
 

DECISION REPORT 

WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 – SECTION 53 

APPLICATION TO ADD A FOOTPATH TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND 

STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY – IDMISTON (PORTON) 

 

 

1.  Purpose of Report 

 

1.1.  To determine an application, made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981, to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement of 

public rights of way in the parish of Idmiston, between Porton High Street and 

the recreation ground. 

 

 

2.  Relevance to Council’s Business Plan 

 

2.1. Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network fit for 

purpose, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

2 
 

3. Location Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

3 
 

4.  Claimed Footpath Route 

 

4.1.  The application is made under Section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981, to add a footpath to the definitive map and statement of public rights of 

way in the Parish of Idmiston, leading from Porton High Street in a generally 

north-north-westerly direction to the recreation ground. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

4 
 

5. Photographs 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 45



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

8 
 

6.  Registered Landowners 

 

Mr A Jones  

159 East Gomeldon Road 

Gomeldon 

Salisbury  

Wiltshire 

SP4 6NB 

 

Mr and Mrs W Maher 

1 Bourne Close 

Porton 

Salisbury 

Wiltshire 

SP4 0LL 

Dr’s G & A Appleyard 

1A Bourne Close 

Porton 

Salisbury 

Wiltshire 

SP4 0LL 

Lt Col & Mrs A Lee 

2 Bourne Close 

Porton  

Salisbury 

Wiltshire  

SP4 0LL 

 

Mrs J Hoddinott 

3 Bourne Close 

Porton  

Salisbury 

Wiltshire 

SP4 0LL 

Mr & Mrs R Bray 

4 Bourne Close 

Porton 

Salisbury 

Wiltshire 

SP4 0LL 

 

 

7.  Background 

 

7.1.  Wiltshire Council are in receipt of an application made under Section 53 of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to add a footpath to the definitive map and 

statement of public rights of way in the parish of Idmiston (Porton), leading in 

a generally north-north-westerly direction from Porton High Street, alongside 

Rose Cottage and through Bourne Close to the recreation ground (an area of 

Page 46



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

9 
 

land owned by Porton Parish Council and to which the public are allowed full 

access during its opening hours). The application is dated 3rd November 2015 

and is made by Mrs V Creswell on behalf of Porton Neighbourhood Plan 

Group, on the grounds that public footpath rights can be reasonably alleged to 

subsist over the claimed route on the balance of probabilities, based on user 

evidence and should be recorded within the definitive map and statement of 

public rights of way as such. The application form (which consists of forms 1 

and 3) is accompanied by a plan drawn at a scale of 1:1,500 highlighting the 

claimed route and 2 completed user evidence forms. A further 25 user 

evidence forms were submitted following the application date. 

 

7.2.  The claimed route is located in the village of Porton, in the parish of Idmiston, 

(which lies to the north-east of Salisbury and the south-west of Amesbury) 

and forms a link between the High Street and the recreation ground. From its 

junction with the High Street the claimed route leads generally north-north-

west, over a grassed area in the private ownership of Mr A Jones, for 

approximately 30m and then through Bourne Close, a private road with a 

made up surface with no footway and which is in multiple ownership, for 

approximately 46m. The last 38m of the route to the recreation ground, leads 

between the gardens of the properties 1A  and 2 Bourne Close, having a total 

width of approximately 6 metres between the hedges and fences of the 

gardens and a central surfaced area which has a total width of approximately 

3.15m with curb stones. There are concrete bollards erected at the southern 

end of this section to prevent vehicular access to the recreation ground, (there 

is an alternative vehicular access to the recreation ground off Winterslow 

Road. A litter bin is also provided at this point).  

 

7.3. The claimed route terminates at the double gates of the recreation ground. 

The gates have public notices from Idmiston Parish Council who own the land 

requesting that members of the public clean up after their dogs and setting out 

other prohibitions on the land. One of the notices states that: “Access and use 

Page 47



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

10 
 

of this playing field shall not be permitted during the hours of darkness or 

when the gates are locked by the parish council.” The Parish Council have 

confirmed to Wiltshire Council that whilst they own and maintain the land, 

giving full public access, they employ a gatekeeper to lock and unlock the field 

each day so that it is open from around 8:30am until just before dark, which 

was found necessary to prevent vandalism and antisocial behaviour during 

the late evenings. 

 

7.4.  Wiltshire Council undertook an initial consultation regarding the proposals on 

29th December 2015. The objections and representations received are 

summarised at Appendix 1, (please note that all correspondence is available 

to be viewed in full with the Rights of Way and Countryside Team, Unit 9 

Ascot Court, Trowbridge, Wiltshire, BA14 8JN). 

 

 

8.  Main Considerations for the Council 

 

8.1.  Section 56 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 states that the definitive 

map and statement of public rights of way shall be conclusive evidence of the 

particulars contained therein, but this is without prejudice to any question 

whether the public had at that date any right of way other than that right. 

Wiltshire Council is the Surveying Authority for the County of Wiltshire, 

(excluding the borough of Swindon), responsible for the preparation and 

continuous review of the definitive map and statement of public rights of way.  

 

8.2. The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 section 53(2)(b) applies: 

 

 “As regards every definitive map and statement the Surveying Authority shall- 

 

(b)  as from that date, keep the map and statement under continuous 

review and as soon as reasonably practicable after the occurrence on 

Page 48



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

11 
 

or after that date, of any of these events, by order make such 

modifications to the map and statement as appear to them to be 

requisite in consequence of that event.”   

 

8.3. The event referred to in subsection 2 (as above), relevant to this case, is: 

 

“(3) (c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered 

with all other relevant evidence available to them) shows – 

 

(i)  that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists 

or is reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map 

relates, being a right of way such that the land over which the right 

subsists is a public path, a restricted byway or subject to section 54A, a 

byway open to all traffic.” 

 

8.4. Section 53 (5) of the Act allows any person to apply for a definitive map 

modification order under subsection 2 (above), as follows: 

 

“Any person may apply to the authority for an order under subsection (2) 

which makes such modifications as appear to the authority to be requisite in 

consequence of the occurrence of one or more events falling within paragraph 

(b) or (c) of subsection (3); and the provisions of Schedule 14 shall have 

effect as to the making and determination of applications under this 

subsection.” 

 

8.5.  Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act, states: 

 

“Form of applications 

1. An application shall be made in the prescribed form and shall be 

accompanied by: 

Page 49



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

12 
 

 

(a) a map drawn to the prescribed scale and showing the way or ways 

to which the application relates; and  

 

(b) copies of any documentary evidence (including statements of 

witnesses) which the applicant wishes to adduce in support of the 

application.” 

 

The prescribed scale is included within the “Statutory Instruments 1993 No.12 

Rights of Way – The Wildlife and Countryside (Definitive Maps and 

Statements) Regulations 1993”, which state that “A definitive map shall be on 

a scale of not less than 1/25,000.” 

 

8.6. The application to add a right of way to the definitive map and statement of 

public rights of way in the Parish of Idmiston (Porton), has been correctly 

made in the prescribed form, being accompanied by a map drawn at a scale 

of 1:1,500 and 2 completed witness evidence forms (plus an additional 25 

witness evidence forms submitted after the application date). 

 

8.7.  Section 31 (as amended) of the Highways Act 1980, refers to the dedication 

of a way as a highway, presumed after public use for 20 years: 

 

“(1)  Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that 

use of it by the public could not give rise at common law to any 

presumption of dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the public as of 

right without interruption for a full period of 20 years, the way is to be 

deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient 

evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it… 

 

(2)  The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be 

calculated retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to 

Page 50



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

13 
 

use the way is brought into question, whether by a notice such as is 

mentioned in subsection (3) below or otherwise. 

 

(3)  Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid 

passes –  

(a) has erected in such a manner as to be visible by persons using the 

way a notice inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a 

highway; and 

 

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1st January 1934, or any later date 

on which it was erected,  

 

the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient 

evidence to negative the intention to dedicate the way as a highway. 

 

(4)  In the case of land in the possession of a tenant for a term of years, or 

from year to year, any person for the time being entitled in reversion to 

the land shall, notwithstanding the existence of the tenancy, have the 

right to place and maintain such a notice as is mentioned in subsection 

(3) above, so however, that no injury is done thereby to the business or 

occupation of the tenant. 

 

(5)  Where a notice erected as mentioned in subsection (3) above is 

subsequently torn down or defaced, a notice given by the owner of the 

land to the appropriate council that the way is not dedicated as highway 

is, in the absence of proof to a contrary intention, sufficient evidence to 

negative the intention of the owner of the land to dedicate the way as 

highway. 

 

(6)  An owner of land may at any time deposit with the appropriate council- 

Page 51



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

14 
 

 

(a) a map of the land on a scale of not less than 6 inches to 1 mile and 

 

(b) a statement indicating what ways (if any) over the land he admits to 

having been dedicated as highways; 

 

and, in any case in which such a deposit has been made, statutory 

declarations made by that owner or by his successors in title and lodged 

by him or them with the appropriate council at any time – 

 

(i) within ten years from the date of deposit 

 

(ii) within ten years from the date on which any previous declaration 

was last lodged under this section, 

 

to the effect that no additional way (other than any specifically indicated 

in the declaration) over the land delineated on the said map has been 

dedicated as a highway since the date of the deposit, or since the date of 

the lodgement of such previous declaration, as the case may be, are, in 

the absence of proof of a contrary intention, sufficient evidence to 

negative the intention of the owner or his successors in title to dedicate 

any such additional way as a highway. 

 

(7)  For the purpose of the foregoing provisions of this section, ‘owner’, in 

relation to any land, means a person who is for the time being entitled to 

dispose of the fee simple in the land; and for the purposes of subsections 

(5) and (6) above ‘the appropriate council’ means the council of the 

county, metropolitan district or London Borough in which the way (in the 

case of subsection (5)) or the land (in the case of subsection (6)) is 

situated or, where the land is situated in the City, the Common Council. 

 

Page 52



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

15 
 

(7A) Subsection (7B) applies where the matter bringing the right of the public 

to use a way into question is an application under section 53(5) of the 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for an Order making modifications so 

as to show the right on the definitive map and statement. 

 

(7B) The date mentioned in subsection (2) is to be treated as being the date 

on which the application is made in accordance with paragraph 1 of 

Schedule 14 to the 1981 Act…” 

 

8.8. Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, states that the authority should consider 

a range of historical documents and their provenance in relation to the claim: 

 

“Evidence of dedication of a way as highway 

 

A court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has or has not 

been dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication, if any, 

took place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or history of the locality 

or other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give such 

weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified by the 

circumstances, including the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of 

the person by whom and the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and 

the custody in which it has been kept and from which it is produced.” 

 

 

9.  Documentary Evidence 

 

9.1.  As part of Wiltshire Council’s investigations, Officers have examined 

documentary evidence, including the provenance and purpose of the 

documents, to draw conclusions regarding the claimed route. Please see list 

of historical evidence and conclusions attached at Appendix 2 to this report. 

 

Page 53



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

16 
 

9.2.  The tithe award map 1841; Map of the Common Fields and Village of Porton 

c.1845 and Bonakers Farm Sale Particulars 1866, suggest a route 

corresponding with the location of the claimed route, off Porton High Street. 

The 1845 Map of the Common Fields and Village of Porton shows this route 

gated from the High Street. These maps do not record a continuation of the 

route past the Manor Farm buildings, on the claimed route or indeed any other 

route. This can be seen particularly on the 1845 Map of the Common Fields 

and Village of Porton, where there are gates off the High Street into the Manor 

Farm yard and then a second gate into what appears to be another part of the 

yard or a separate field. There are then gates to the south-east and south-

west of this yard / field. The gates to the south-east simply lead back into the 

first yard and the gate to the south-west leads into the field beyond to the 

west, but there is no path continuation recorded through the field and no gate 

is provided in the north-west of the Manor Farm complex to access the 

claimed route. 

 

9.3. When looking at these documents alongside other historical documents, it 

seems that the route which they record leading off the High Street is more 

likely to be a private route leading into the Manor Farm buildings complex, 

(which is now mostly demolished and Bourne Close built on the site), with no 

connection to other public highways. The Porton Inclosure Award (1850), 

does not record the claimed route either on the map or within the award 

document itself as a new public highway to be set out, or as an ancient public 

highway to be retained, (the Commissioners did have the power to set out 

public footways). Additionally the historic Ordnance Survey maps, which are 

topographical in nature and accurately record features visible to the surveyor 

on the ground at the time of survey, do not record a footpath at this location.  

 

9.4. This does not mean that public rights over the claimed route do not exist and 

we must now consider the available user evidence in this case. 

 

Page 54



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

17 
 

10.  User Evidence  

 

10.1.  The application is accompanied by 27 witness evidence forms with maps 

attached. Landowner evidence forms have also been submitted by Mr A 

Jones (owner of the green area adjacent to the High Street); Dr’s Patricia and 

Geoffrey Appleyard (1A Bourne Close); Mr Wayne Maher (1 Bourne Close) 

and Mr Raymond Bray (4 Bourne Close). 

 

10.2.  Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 deals with the dedication of a way as a 

highway, presumed where a way over land has been actually enjoyed by the 

public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 years. The way 

is deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient 

evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it. 

 

Bringing into question 

 

10.3.  In order to demonstrate a 20 year public user period, there must be a date 

upon which the use of the path by the public was brought into question. 

 

10.4. In the case of R (on the Application of Godmanchester Town Council) 

(Appellants) v SSEFRA and R (on the application of Drain) (Appellant) v 

SSEFRA [2007], Lord Hoffman endorses Denning L J’s interpretation of 

bringing into question as contained in Fairey v Southampton County Council 

[1956] and quotes him as follows: 

   

 “I think that in order for the right of the public to have been “brought into 

question”, the landowner must challenge it by some means sufficient to bring 

it home to the public that he is challenging their right to use the way, so that it 

may be appraised of the challenge and have reasonable opportunity of 

meeting it. The landowner can challenge their right, for instance by putting up 

a notice forbidding the public to use the path. When he does so, the public 

Page 55



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

18 
 

may meet the challenge. Some village Hampden may push down the barrier 

or tear down the notice; the local council may bring an action in the name of 

the Attorney General against the landowner in the courts claiming that there is 

a public right of way; or no one may do anything, in which case the 

acquiescence of the public tends to show that they have no right of way. But 

whatever the public do, whether they oppose the landowner’s action or not, 

their right is “brought into question” as soon as the landowner puts up a notice 

or in some way makes it clear to the public that he is challenging their right to 

use the way.” 

 

10.5.  In Godmanchester, Lord Hoffman says of Denning L J’s interpretation: 

 

 “As a statement of what amounts to bringing the right into question, it has 

always been treated as authoritative and was applied by the inspectors and 

the Court of Appeal in these cases.” 

 

10.6.  In the Idmiston case, 19 of the 27 witnesses make reference to the erection of 

fencing around the green area off the High Street. They refer to their use of 

the path ending when it was obstructed by the fencing or note the fencing as 

an obstruction to the claimed route. The following references to the date of 

obstruction of the route are made: 

 

User Date of Obstruction 

1 Last used 2005. 

Now there is a metal builders fence obstructing the route (witness evidence form 

dated 18/11/15). 

2 Since March 2015 there has been a fence obstructing the way.  

4 Used until late March 2015 after which it was obstructed by fencing between points 

A and B (please see plan at 4). 

The section of the route across the grass was blocked by fencing on 30 March 

2015 (between points A and B). 

Page 56



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

19 
 

No obstructions until 30 March 2015 when the section from A to B was completely 

blocked by the erection of temporary fencing. 

8 Last used early 2015 before it was fenced off. 

A fence has been erected during 2015. 

10 Last used March 2015. 

Metal fencing was erected on 30th March 2015 obstructing the path. 

11 Last used March 2015. 

No obstructions of the route until temporary metal fencing appeared in March 

2015.  

12 Last used Spring 2014 before it was fenced. 

Fencing has been up since late spring 2014. I don’t understand why the fencing 

has gone up, stopping access. 

14 In recent months a wire fence has been erected which stops any entry to the path 

(witness evidence form dated 20/11/15). 

16 Used until 2015, last used earlier this year before it was fenced off (witness 

evidence form dated 03/11/15). 

This land until recently was not fenced off and was open for public use. 

17 Used until about April 2015 when a fence was erected. Unable to recall exact day 

when last used but approximately April 2015. 

Currently obstructed by metal fence (witness evidence form dated 28/11/15). 

Told by the owner of the land that it was private and he did not want the public to 

walk on his land on the day / morning that he was putting up his metal fence in 

April 2015. 

19 Used until 2015 when it was closed off, last used summer 2015. 

20 Last used 2015. 

A fence has been recently erected (witness evidence form dated 22/11/2015). 

21 Last used 2013. 

Fence created round the circular green. 

High Street fence erected around the green in 2013. 

22 Used until present day, until it was fenced off. Not sure of last use but probably 

Easter 2015. 

No obstruction of the route until earlier this year (2015), when it was totally fenced 

off (witness evidence form dated 25/11/15). 

Page 57



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

20 
 

23 Used until the present day, last used April / May (witness evidence form dated 

25/11/15). 

No obstructions of the route until the grass area was recently fenced. 

24 Last used Spring 2015. 

The route obstructed only in recent months by Harras fencing (witness evidence 

form dated 11/12/15). 

25 Last used February 2015. 

Obstructed only by the fencing erected at the corner of Bourne Close in March 

2015. 

26 Last used October 2015. 

Route obstructed recently (March 30 2015), by moveable, temporary fencing. 

27 Last used 2015. 

Route not obstructed until 2015 when the owner ceased mowing the grass and 

erected metal temporary fencing, as he is trying to get planning permission on the 

small area of grass. 

 

10.7.  The landowner of the grassed area, Mr A Jones, confirms that he fenced in the 

whole plot in 2015 and this is supported by 16 witnesses who appear to  

support a date around spring 2015 and 3 witnesses are able to give a specific 

date of 30th March 2015. This fencing prevented the public from using the 

claimed route in full and serves to bring the public right to use the way into 

question, therefore the 20 year user period should be calculated 

retrospectively from the date of the obstruction on 30th March 2015 and the 

user period in question is 30th March 1995 – 30th March 2015. 

 

10.8.   Within the completed landowner evidence forms received by Wiltshire 

Council, the landowners do not make reference to any previous action which 

would bring the right of the public into question at an earlier date: 

 

1)  Mr Jones, as owner of the green area of land for the last 12 years, 

does not believe the way to be public and has held this belief for over 

35 years. He has not seen members of the public using the way and 

Page 58



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

21 
 

would expect members of the public to ask permission before using the 

land as it is private land. He has not deposited a plan and statement 

with Wiltshire Council under Section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980, to 

indicate his non-intention to dedicate the land as a highway. He has 

never turned back or stopped anyone from using the way, or told 

anyone using the way that it was not public, as he has not seen 

members of the public using the claimed route. If he had been aware of 

people walking on the land, he would have asked them to stop doing 

so. There has often been dog fouling of the land caused by dog owners 

allowing their dogs loose on the land whilst walking in Bourne Close or 

the High Street. He has on occasion asked people not to do this and 

has also asked people who have parked cars without permission on 

the land to remove their vehicles. He has never erected notices or 

signs stating that the way was not public as this was not necessary and 

there have never been any stiles or gates over the land. He has now 

obstructed the claimed route (A-B), as shown on the plan attached at 4, 

by fencing this plot of land. 

 

2) Dr’s Patricia and Geoffrey Appleyard of 1A Bourne Close 

(“Appledown”), have owned their property and with it joint ownership of 

the private road in Bourne Close, for 11 years and 10 months. They 

have made the following comments and observations regarding the 

claimed path. They do believe the claimed route to be a public 

footpath. Dr Patricia Appleyard has held this view since 2004 (i.e. since 

moving to Bourne Close) and Dr Geoffrey Appleyard has held this view 

since 1989 when he moved back to Porton. They have observed many 

members of the public walking to and from the recreation ground, 

walking dogs etc. on a daily basis since living at “Appledown”, such 

that they assumed that the route was a right of way. They have never 

asked anyone to seek permission before using the way and have not 

deposited with Wiltshire Council a plan and statement under Section 

Page 59



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

22 
 

31(6) of the Highways Act 1980. They have never turned back or 

stopped anyone using the way and have never told anyone using the 

way that it was not public. They have never erected notices or signs 

stating that the way was not public and there has only ever been a gate 

at point C into the recreation ground (see plan at 4), with no stiles on 

the route. They have never obstructed the way themselves but they 

note that the section of path A-B (see plan at 4), was in regular use 

until it was obstructed by fencing in late March 2015. Mr A Jones 

purchased the grass area in 2004, at which time he lived opposite in 

Jayesmoor and could not have failed to be aware that members of the 

public were using the claimed route, both before and after he acquired 

it. He made no attempts to stop them and voiced no objections to the 

use, the only concern he expressed was that some people had parked 

vehicles on the land without his permission. Prior to 2004 this part of 

the land was owned by Mr Pike, who previously lived at “Appledown”. 

Neither Mr Pike nor the first owners of “Appledown” made any attempt 

to fence the land to prevent access.  

 

 3) Mr Wayne Maher of 1 Bourne Close states that he has owned the  

property for 8 years and he believes the status of the way to be private. 

He has only ever seen, on the odd occasion, a child running across the 

land, it is very boggy on the grass area. He has never required people 

to ask permission before using the way and he has not deposited with 

Wiltshire Council a plan and statement under Section 31(6) of the 

Highways Act 1980. He has never turned back or stopped people from 

using the way and he has never told anyone using the path that the 

way was not public. There have never been stiles or gates on the route 

and he has never obstructed the way. Mrs Laura Maher confirms that 

living next door to the green, the public rarely walk across it, 

particularly in winter as there is no footpath and it is muddy. 

Occasionally in the warmer months they would see a child or a dog 

Page 60



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

23 
 

take a short cut across the green but this would only happen if the 

landowner had cut the grass. Most other members of the public would 

walk along Bourne Close. 

 

4) Mr Raymond Bray of 4 Bourne Close, confirms that he has owned the 

property for 18 years and the claimed route has been used daily over 

that time. He has never required people to ask permission before using 

the way and has not deposited with Wiltshire Council a plan and 

statement under Section 31 (6) of the Highways Act 1980. There have 

never been any gates or stiles on the way. 

 

5)  Mr Pike, the previous landowner of the green area, has written to 

confirm that he owned the green area of land and the adjacent 

property, “Appledown”, from July 1998 to March 2004. At no time 

during his ownership was there a footpath across the land and neither 

did he give permission for the public to walk across the land. He sold 

the land to Mr Jones.  

 

6)  Although we do not have personal testimony from Mr Ray Stockton, 

whom Officers believe owned the green area of land and “Appledown” 

prior to Mr Pike, i.e. before July 1998, Mr James Lowther who has 

completed a user evidence form for his period of user dating from 1983 

to 2000, recalls that when the land was owned by Mr Stockton, he 

knew people used the claimed route and was quite happy about it. 

 

10.9. In addition, none of the witnesses make any reference to previous challenge; 

prohibitory notice, or obstruction sufficient to bring the public’s right to use the 

way into question, until the fencing was erected around the green area 

adjacent to the High Street in 2015.  

 

Page 61



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

24 
 

10.10. The erection of the fencing has triggered the application to add a footpath to 

the definitive map and statement of public rights of way. The public have not 

acquiesced in the closure of the path, which, according to Denning L.J’s 

words in the Fairey case, leads us to believe that the witnesses consider that 

they do have a public right of way over the land. 

 

Twenty Year User 

 

10.11. Please see chart below which shows the dates and level of user outlined 

within the 27 witness evidence forms: 

 

 

10.12. For the period of user in question, i.e. 30th March 1995 – 30th March 2015, of 

the 27 user evidence forms submitted, (Mr and Mrs Bradley have completed a 

witness evidence form jointly and are counted as one), 26 witnesses have 

Page 62



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

25 
 

used the route during this time period and 9 witnesses have used the route for 

the full period of 20 years. 

 

10.13. In addition to their own use, witnesses refer to their use of the route with 

others and seeing others using the route: 

 

User Used with others Others seen 

1 With children. All the time until it was partly fenced. 

2 No information provided. Many people, often children and teenagers using it as 

a safe footpath to recreation ground in Bourne Close, 

daily use. 

3 No information provided. Yes – walking and some young cyclists. 

4 No information provided. Frequently saw other people walking the path. 

5 Recreation and walking with grandchildren. Saw others walking with dogs. 

6 No information provided. Yes. 

7 Form completed jointly. Fellow walkers and those exercising their dogs. 

8 Used as a child, possibly with family/friends? Dog walkers, people going to playing fields. 

9 Recreation with grandson. Others walking. 

10 No information provided. Many people use the path daily for walking. 

11 Taking firstly my children and now my 

grandchildren to the play park in the recreation 

ground. 

Very frequently, I could see the path from my house. 

12 No information provided. Families and people with dogs, on foot. 

13 No information provided. Many times – usually walkers but sometimes with 

children with bikes / trikes. 

14 No information provided. Many, many times, the path is invaluable as a way for 

people with children going to/from the playground (the 

alternative being the road). It has been an accepted 

route during my time living in Porton (24 years). 

15 No information provided. Many other dog walkers and children travelling to park 

and school. 

16 Taking our dog for a walk or going to 

recreation ground with children. 

Other dog walkers. 

17 No information provided. Yes walking. 

18 Recreation with my two boys, friend. Often, dog walking. 

Page 63



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

26 
 

19 First used walking with my 2 children to the 

recreation centre. 

Walking to and from the park area. 

20 Walking my two children to the recreation 

ground. 

Regularly. 

21 No information provided. Dog walkers. 

22 To village shop, via playpark with 

grandchildren as part of a circular route. 

Occasionally other people, some dogs, all walking. 

23 My wife and I first used it in 2008 when finding 

our way round the village after we moved here. 

Now used with grandchildren from playpark to 

shops and then home. 

Sometimes, all walking, some with dogs. 

24 No information provided. Yes, also walking. 

25 No information provided. Yes – walking, cycling, playing. 

26 No information provided. Yes, walking. 

27 No information provided. Yes, walking. 

 

10.14. There is no statutory minimum level of user required to raise the presumption 

of dedication. The quality of the evidence, i.e. its honesty, accuracy, credibility 

and consistency, is of much greater importance than the number of witnesses. 

In R (Lewis) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough Council UKSC 11 (03 March 

2010), a Town and Village Green registration case, Lord Walker refers to Mr 

Laurence QC, who: 

 

 “…relied on a general proposition that if the public (or a section of the public) 

is to acquire a right by prescription, they must by their conduct bring home to 

the landowner that a right is being asserted against him…” 

 

 Lord Walker goes on to quote Lindley L J in the case of Hollins v Verney 

[1884] giving the judgement of the Court of Appeal: 

 

 “…no actual user can be sufficient to satisfy the statute, unless during the 

whole of the statutory term…the user is enough at any rate to carry to the 

mind of a reasonable person who is in possession of the servient tenement 

Page 64



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

27 
 

the fact that a continuous right to enjoyment is being asserted, and ought to 

be resisted if such right is not recognised, and if resistance to it is intended.” 

 

10.15. All of the witnesses are resident of Porton, however use wholly or largely by 

local people may be sufficient to show use by the public. The Planning 

Inspectorate’s Definitive Map Orders: Consistency Guidelines, make 

reference to R v Southampton (Inhabitants) 1887, in which Coleridge L J 

stated that: 

 

 “user by the public must not be taken in its widest sense…for it is common 

knowledge that in many cases only the local residents ever use a particular 

road or bridge.” 

 

10.16. Officers conclude that there is sufficient evidence to support, on the balance 

of probabilities, public user for a period of 20 years or more without 

interruption and that this level of user during the relevant 20 year period of 

30th March 1995 – 30th March 2015, was sufficient to bring home to the 

landowners that a right for the public was being asserted against them. 

 

As of Right 

 

10.17. In order to establish a right of way, public use must be “as of right”, i.e. without 

force, without secrecy and without permission. In conclusion, Officers are 

satisfied that public use of the claimed route has been “as of right”, as follows: 

 

Without force 

 

10.18. Use by force could include the breaking of locks; cutting of wire or passing 

over; through and around an intentional blockage such as a gate. 

 

Page 65



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

28 
 

10.19. From the witness evidence provided in the Idmiston case, it would appear that 

users did not use force to enter the land over which the claimed route passes. 

It is the Officers opinion that users would not have been required to use force 

to enter the land as there are no barriers to access (prior to the erection of the 

fencing in 2015). Mrs Creswell states that young people are now beginning to 

vandalise and climb over sections of the fencing, but Officers consider that 

this is not related to use of the claimed route to pass and repass and that this 

is occurring outside the user period in question, i.e. after the erection of the 

fencing and the obstruction of the path, which brought public use of the route 

into question on 30th March 2015. 

 

10.20. Use by force, does not include only physical force but may also apply where 

use is deemed contentious, for example by erecting prohibitory signs or 

notices in relation to the user in question. In the Supreme Court Judgement R 

(on the application of Lewis) (Appellant) v Redcar and Cleveland Borough 

Council and another (Respondents) (2010), Lord Rodger commented that: 

 

“The opposite of “peaceable” user is user which is, to use the Latin 

expression, vi. But it would be wrong to suppose that user is “vi” only where it 

is gained by employing some kind of physical force against the owner. In 

Roman Law, where the expression originated, in the relevant contexts vis was 

certainly not confined to physical force. It was enough if the person concerned 

had done something which he was not entitled to do after the owner has told 

him not to do it. In those circumstances what he did was done vi.” 

 

10.21. In the Idmiston case there is no evidence before the Council that prohibitory 

notices, have ever been erected on the claimed route and the public have not 

been prevented from using the way, or otherwise challenged whilst using the 

way, prior to the obstruction of the route by fencing in 2015 and therefore use 

is not deemed contentious.  

 

Page 66



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

29 
 

Without secrecy 

 

10.22. It would appear that witnesses used the route in an open manner and 

witnesses consider that the landowner was aware of use: 

 

User Do you believe the owner or occupier was aware of the public using the 

way 

1 Because he told me and he lived opposite and would have known that people 

were using it. 

2 The current owner used to live in a property on the High Street which directly 

overlooked the way in question, so will have seen the public using the way daily. 

3 Yes, the path is/was clearly visible. It must have been obvious to any owner, as 

indeed it was to the general public, that a footpath had been created by general 

usage across the grass area. 

4 Yes, in respect of the section A-B (the green area) the owner used to live at 

Jayesmoor opposite the piece of grass and must have been aware that people 

were using it. 

As a resident of Bourne Close (and an affected landowner), I have been aware of 

the public using the path ever since I moved to our property. 

5 Yes, used extensively to my knowledge for the last 55 years. 

6 Yes. 

7 Yes, it would have been obvious to the owner due to the line of sight that the 

public were using this path. 

8 Yes, he used to live opposite in Jayesmoor directly overlooking the land. 

9 Yes, he lived in the house opposite the land for many years. 

10 Yes, because the owner lived in Jayesmoor which is opposite the path and was 

witness to a steady stream of people using the path on a daily basis. 

11 Yes, the owner lived in Jayesmoor just across the High Street. There is full 

visibility from there. Additionally trees were planted to mark the millennium, he 

has removed them without planning permission. 

12 I don’t know but I also don’t understand why the fencing has gone up stopping 

access. 

Page 67



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

30 
 

13 Yes – used by locals for decades. 

14 Yes, the mere presence of a well worn path for many years makes me believe 

that the owner would have had to be either blind or to have not cared about the 

use of the path. As the grass was cut fairly regularly by the owner, he must, one 

presumes, have not been at all worried about the path, certainly for the past 24 

years. This area of grass including the path, was looked upon as being our 

village green and was much appreciated as a pleasant change from the built up 

area of the village. The fencing has changed the entire outlook. 

15 Yes, there is a clearly visible path made through flattened grass, obviously made 

by frequent use. 

16 Yes, clearly visible path, trodden down grass, made by the public walking over 

the area. 

17 Yes, he used to live in a house opposite this land and I assume would have 

noticed the public using the route. 

18 Yes, he bought it as an investment and offered it to myself and others, he had no 

uses for it other than its future sales value. 

19 Do not know. 

20 Local knowledge and regular usage of the pathway. 

21 Yes. 

22 I assumed this was common land with no owner as there were no indications that 

it was owned. 

23 Yes, because I assumed the grass area belonged to the Council. 

24 Yes, custom and practise for many years. 

25 Yes, no signs erected to state otherwise, I was never approached or stopped; nor 

witnessed anyone else being so. The right of way was not inhibited. 

26 Yes, he lived within sight. 

27 Yes, he used to live opposite the area at Jayesmoor, so would have seen people 

walk across. He has always cut the grass until recently. 

 

10.23. The land ownership in this case is split between the grass area and the 

private road of Bourne Close. The grassed area is owned by Mr A Jones, now 

residing in Gomeldon and the private road is owned by the 5 property owners 

in Bourne Close. Dr Appleyard and Mrs Catherine Lee who are part owners of 

Page 68



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

31 
 

Bourne Close, have also completed witness evidence forms in support of the 

application. Dr Appleyard has marked the whole of the claimed route on the 

map and confirms that as a landowner she was aware of public use and has 

been since she moved to the property. She also considers that the owner of 

the grass area would have been aware of public use as he used to live 

opposite the land. Mrs Lee has completed the evidence form map with only 

the claimed route over the grassed area, excluding Bourne Close. She makes 

no reference to her own knowledge of use of the area of Bourne Close, but 

states that she believes the owner of the grassed area to be aware of public 

use as he lived in a house opposite this land and assumes he would have 

noticed the public using the route.  

 

10.24. The landowner evidence provided by Mr A Jones, the present owner of the 

green, who has owned the land for 12 years, states that he does not believe 

the route to be public. He has never seen members of the public using the 

route and has therefore not been in a position to tell path users that the path 

was not public and it was not necessary to erect notices stating that the way 

was not public. He notes that there is often dog fouling of the land, caused by 

dog owners letting their dogs loose on the land whilst walking in Bourne Close 

or the High Street. He has on occasion asked them not to do this. He has also 

asked people who have parked their cars on the land without his permission 

to remove their vehicles, (this is supported by the evidence of Dr Patricia 

Appleyard who states that “The only concern he expressed to us was that 

some people occasionally parked vehicles on it without permission.”) Mr 

Jones confirms that if he had been aware of anyone walking on the land, he 

would have asked them to stop doing so. 

 

10.25. The previous owner of the green area, Mr Geoffrey Pike, who owned the land 

from July 1998 to March 2004 confirms that at no point during his ownership, 

was there a footpath across the land. However, in his witness evidence form 

Mr James Lowther, who used the route between 1983 and 2000, confirms that 

Page 69



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

32 
 

when the land was owned by Mr Ray Stockton, he knew that people used the 

claimed route and was quite happy about it, (Officers believe Mr Stockton to 

be the previous owner of the green area and “Appledown”, prior to Mr Pike’s 

ownership which began in 1998. It appears that Mr Stockton’s ownership of 

the land covers the first part of the relevant user period). Dr Patricia Appleyard 

confirms in her evidence that Mr Pike and the previous owners of “Appledown” 

and the grassed area, did not make any attempt to fence the land to prevent 

access.  

 

10.26. Mr Maher of 1 Bourne Close, has owned the land for 8 years, he considers 

the land to be private and has only ever seen a child run across on the odd 

occasion, it is very boggy on the grass. Mrs Maher (1 Bourne Close) confirms 

that living next door to the green area, the public rarely walk across it, 

particularly in the winter months as it is muddy. Occasionally in the warmer 

months they would see a child or dog take a short cut across the green, but 

this would only happen if the landowner had cut the grass. Most other 

members of the public would walk along the Bourne Close road. 

 

10.27. Turning to the landowner evidence and their knowledge of public user of the 

route over Bourne Close, Dr’s Patricia and Geoffrey Appelyard of 1A Bourne 

Close, “Appledown”, have owned the land for 11 years and 10 months. They 

believe the route to be a public footpath and they have observed many 

members of the public walking to and from the recreation ground on a daily 

basis, such that they assumed that the route was a right of way. Mr Bray of 4 

Bourne Close has owned the land for 18 years, he does not state whether or 

not he considers the path to be public, but he has observed members of the 

public using the way on a daily basis over 18 years.  

 

10.28. Additionally, in evidence Mr Richard and Mrs Gillian Green confirm that on no 

occasion have they seen people walking over the land A-B (please see plan 

at 4), and there was no sign of any footpath or regular walking over the land. 

Page 70



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

33 
 

However, they have seen other people, who like themselves were walking on 

the road through Bourne Close, probably preferring this route, as they do, for 

the safety of the smooth surface of the road and the fact that they do not have 

to avoid dog fouling on the land. Mr Roly Grimshaw confirms that he and his 

wife are regular walkers and they have never seen anyone use the route A-B. 

Access round the land into the cul-de-sac of Bourne Close is so easy, with 

minimal traffic. There has never been a footpath here and indeed most people 

would not wish to venture over the land where dogs have made a mess. Mr W 

G Baker confirms that he has lived in Gomeldon for over 40 years and has 

never known this to be a footpath, this is private property and he has never 

seen anybody walk across the land. Mr P Jay confirms that he has lived in the 

village for 70 years, there has never been a footpath between A and B. He 

has never seen people walking between A and B in all the time he has lived in 

the village. Mr T C Lodge had some involvement in the design of the dwellings 

in Bourne Close and does not believe that there was ever a “bona fide” right 

of way. Certainly residents took a shortcut across the grass instead of using 

the nearby roadway and used the area as a dog fouling spot. To his certain 

knowledge there was never a way marker or finger post indicating a “public 

footway”. 

 

10.29. The evidence is contradictory as to whether or not landowners were aware of 

use and of course there are factors which could affect this, such as where the 

landowners’ live; their view of the route in question and the amount of time 

spent at their property/on the land. For example, Dr Patricia Appleyard 

confirms that “We can see much of the footpath from ‘Appledown’ and can 

confirm that it is well-used by members of the public.”, whereas an absentee 

landowner may not be in a position to observe such use, particularly in the 

Idmiston case where it is confirmed that the gate to the recreation ground at 

point C (please see plan at 4), where the path terminates, is locked during the 

hours of darkness. Officers would therefore expect the claimed route to 

Page 71



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

34 
 

receive most of its use during daylight hours as a link between the High Street 

and the recreation ground.  

 

10.30. Mr Jones, present owner of the green area, currently lives in Gomeldon and it 

would be understandable that an absent landowner may not have observed 

and be aware of public use. However, 23 of the 27 witnesses refer to Mr 

Jones’ previous residence at a property known as “Jayesmoor”, located on 

the High Street, directly opposite the land in question and from which his land 

could be seen. The witnesses suggest that at the start of his period of 

ownership, Mr Jones would have been aware of public user. 

 

10.31. When looking at the user evidence chart at 10.11. it can be seen that 17 of 

the witnesses were using the route at the start of Mr Jones’ ownership in 

2003/04. As well as their own use of the way, witnesses also refer to seeing 

others using the claimed route, (please see table at 10.13), which amounts to 

a substantial level of user.  

 

10.32. Taking into account the frequency of user, it also suggests a level of user 

sufficient to make landowners aware of use: 

 

User Frequency of user 

1 Not stated. 

2 Weekly. 

3 Probably once a month. 

4 Several times a week until 2014, then daily. 

5 3-4 times a month. 

6 Once a week. 

7 Used regularly as one of our walks around the village. 

8 Several times a year. 

9 4 times per year. 

10 Weekly. 

Page 72



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

35 
 

11 2-3 times per week. 

12 Weekly. 

13 20-30 times a year. 

14 N/A – route not used. 

15 Daily. 

16 Daily. 

17 2 – 3 times a week depending on time of year, footwear and whether grass 

wet or dry. 

18 Weekend and evenings. 

19 About 20 times per year. 

20 Monthly (at least) when the children were younger. 

21 Daily. 

22 5 or 6 times a year with visiting grandchildren. 

23 About 6/7 times per year. 

24 Once or twice a month. 

25 Daily. 

26 10-20 times per year. 

27 About twice a year as the normal route from home to the playground takes us 

along the road of Bourne Close (which is not a highway and not a public 

footpath). 

 

10.33. A photograph has been provided with the application, taken by Mr Castellano 

who lives at The Fieldings, High Street, in approximately 1993, (outside the 

user period in question). The property “Fieldings” is adjacent to “Jayesmoor” 

and the photograph gives an idea of the view of the land which Mr Jones 

would have had from his property: 

Page 73



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

36 
 

 

View of the green area taken from “Fieldings” – approx 1993 (pre-1995) 

Page 74



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

37 
 

10.34. It is also claimed that the photograph shows a well trodden path across the 

land, which would have been obvious to the landowners and Officers agree 

that there appears to be a track over the land, as shown highlighted on the 

photograph. 

 

10.35. Witnesses have also submitted an aerial photograph with the application, 

taken in 1980, which it is claimed shows a well trodden path and which would 

make public user obvious to the landowners.  

 

 

Aerial view of the area, August 1980 

 

10.36. Officers would agree that this photograph appears to show a track over the 

green area, leading adjacent to the boundary of Rose Cottage, as highlighted 

above. However, Mr Jones has submitted that the photograph shows a 

variation in the grass, with clumps of grass near Rose Cottage and smoother 

Page 75



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

38 
 

grass over the remainder of the site. Mr Jones also claims that this rougher 

grass and variation in soil levels is also shown in the “Fieldings” photograph 

taken in approximately 1993, although he suggests that in this photograph 

much of the area is obscured in the shade. Mr Jones has submitted a Google 

image of the area taken in 2009, which he claims also shows the unevenness 

of the ground and the variation in the grass near the wall, rather than 

indicating a path. When the same area in this photograph is viewed from 

different angles (a further 4 Google images dated 2009, viewing the area from 

different angles are submitted with Mr Jones’ evidence), he claims that the 

photographs do not show a footpath but do reveal compaction and tyre marks 

due to vehicles driving over the land. He also submits a Google aerial view of 

the area (2001) and a recent photograph taken by the estate agent selling 

“Jayesmoor”, the house opposite the plot of land. Mr Jones suggests that if 

the footfall was as suggested by the respondents, there would be a clear and 

worn footpath in evidence on the estate agents photograph. Officers have 

concluded that the Google images and estate agents photograph do not show 

a well trodden path over the green area.  

 

10.37. Officers have examined aerial photographs held by Wiltshire Council, taken in 

2005/06 and 2014, within the relevant user period of 30th March 1995 – 30th 

March 2015 (please see below). There is no worn track visible on the 2005/06 

photograph and the area in question is in part obscured in shade. The 2014 

photograph appears to show a very straight feature across the land (as 

highlighted below), but it is not clear whether this is a track created by path 

users. It is located further west on the land than the claimed route and is very 

straight, as if it were created by a mower or vehicle. Overall the photographic 

evidence of a well trodden track is inconclusive in this case and cannot be 

relied upon to support the existence of public rights. 

 

 

 

Page 76



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

39 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aerial photographs held by Wiltshire Council - 2005/06 and 2014 

 

10.38. In conclusion, as Lord Hoffman states in the Sunningwell case, the use must 

have been open and in a manner that a person rightfully entitled would have 

used it, that is not with secrecy. He observes that Lord Blackburn, in 

discussing the dedication of highway in Mann v Brodie [1885]: 

 

 “…is concerning himself, as the English theory required with how the matter 

would have appeared to the owner of the land. The user by the public must 

have been, as Parke B said in relation to private rights of way in Bright v 

Walker 1 CM and R211, 219, ‘openly and in a manner that a person rightfully 

entitled would have used it.’ The presumption arises, as Fry J said of 

prescription generally in Dalton v Angus and Co App Cass 770, 773, from 

acquiescence.” 

  

Page 77



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

40 
 

10.39. Overall, Officers consider on the balance of probabilities that if members of 

the public had used the claimed route, at the levels and frequency suggested 

by the evidence, it is likely that the landowners would have been aware of use 

and had opportunity to challenge this use, had they wished to do so.  

 

Without permission 

 

10.40. Use “as of right” was discussed in the Town/Village Green Registration case 

of R (on the application of Barkas) v North Yorkshire County Council and 

Another, Supreme Court, 21st May 2014. The leading judgement was given by 

Lord Neuberger, who sets out the legal meaning of the expression “as of 

right”: 

 

 “…the legal meaning of the expression “as of right” is somewhat 

counterintuitively, almost the converse of “of right” or “by right”. Thus, if a 

person uses privately owned land “of right” or “by right”, the use will have 

been permitted by the landowner – hence the use is rightful. However, if the 

use of such land is “as of right”, it is without the permission of the landowner, 

and therefore is not “of right” or “by right”, but is actually carried out as if it 

were by right – hence “as of right.” 

 

10.41. Therefore, where use is “as of right” and the public do not have permission to 

use the land, it follows that all rights of way claims will begin with a period of 

trespass against the landowner. As Lord Neuberger states in the Barkas case, 

the mere inaction of the landowner with knowledge of the use of the land does 

not amount to permission and the use is still trespass: 

 

 “…the fact that the landowner knows that a trespasser is on the land and does 

nothing about it does not alter the legal status of the trespasser. As Fry J 

explained, acquiescence in the trespass, which in this area of law simply 

means passive tolerance as is explained in Gale, (or, in the language of land 

Page 78



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

41 
 

covenants, suffering), does not stop it being trespass. The point was well 

made by Dillon L J in Mills v Silver [1991] Ch 271, 279-280, where he pointed 

out that “there cannot be [a] principle of law” that “no prescriptive rights can be 

acquired if the user…has been tolerated without objection by the servient 

owner” as it would be fundamentally inconsistent with the whole notion of 

acquisition of rights by prescription.” Accordingly, as he added at p.281, “mere 

acquiescence in or tolerance of the user… cannot prevent the user being user 

as of right for the purposes of prescription.” 

 

10.42. 2 of the witnesses are joint owners of the private road in Bourne Close over 

which the claimed route passes (Dr Appleyard and Mrs Lee), whilst this gives 

them a private right over Bourne Close, it does not give them a right over the 

area of land which they do not own, i.e. the grassed area. It would appear that 

none of the witnesses sought or were granted permission to use the land, nor 

were they related to, or tenants of any of the landowners, (excluding Dr 

Appleyard and Mrs Lee whose use of Bourne Close only, as landowners, is 

not qualifying user): 

 

User Have you ever worked 

for or been tenant of 

any owner/occupier of 

land crossed by the 

way at the time you 

were using it 

 

Are you related to any 

past or present owner or 

occupier of land crossed 

by the claimed way 

Have you ever been 

given permission to 

use the way, if so by 

whom and when 

1 No. No. No, did not know it was 

needed. 

2 No. No. No. 

3 No. No. No – never. 

4 No. Not in respect of the 

grassed area.  

No. 

Page 79



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

42 
 

My husband and I as joint 

owners of “Appledown” 

have a shared interest in 

the private road Bourne 

Close, with other 

residents. 

5 No. No information provided. No, always assumed it 

was a public footpath. 

6 No. No. No. 

7 No – not at any time. No relationship with any 

past or present owner. 

No, we have always 

assumed that it was a 

public right of way. 

8 No. No. No. 

9 No. No. No. 

10 No. No. No. 

11 No. No. No. 

12 No. No. No. 

13 No. N/A. No, never necessary. 

14 No. No. No. 

15 No. No. No. 

16 No. No. No. 

17 No. No. No. 

18 No. No. When the land was 

owned by Ray Stockton 

he knew people used 

the footpath and was 

quite happy about it. 

19 No. No. No. 

20 No. No. No. 

21 No. No. This has always been 

treated as common land 

by villagers and there 

have been no 

Page 80



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

43 
 

objections. 

22 No. No. No. 

23 No. No. No. 

24 No. No. No. 

25 No. No. No. 

26 No. No. No. 

27 No. No. No. 

 

10.43. The landowner evidence shows that none of the landowners have ever 

required people to ask permission before using the way, but as Mr Pike; Mr 

Jones and Mr Maher suggest, perhaps they were not aware of public use and 

saw no reason to grant permission. Mr Jones states that “20 respondents cite 

that they have not been given permission to use the land. One says that a 

previous owner had known that people walk on it, but the owner he cites is 2 

owners previous to me. Many appear to be unaware that it is private land.”  

He also states it is private land, so he would expect anyone to ask permission 

before using the way. User “as of right” is without permission. 

 

10.44. The evidence supports public use of the claimed route without permission. 

 

The Claimed Route 

 

10.45. The claimed route leads from the High Street, Porton, alongside Rose 

Cottage and then over the private road of Bourne Close, to the recreation 

ground. The claimed route terminates at the entrance to the recreation 

ground. The witnesses describe their own use of the claimed route as follows: 

 

Witness Route shown on map Have you always followed the same 

route 

1 As claimed, plus a spur at the 

southern end joining the claimed 

Yes, because from my house we 

entered the path from a different 

Page 81



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

44 
 

route over the green from the 

property “Martins” to the west. 

direction. 

2 Only the section of the claimed route 

over the grassed area (i.e. A – B) is 

shown. 

Yes, when accessing Bourne Close.  

I deviate from the way to provide direct 

access to my boundary wall and 

hedges for routine maintenance. For 

this purpose I usually access the way 

via an access gate in my boundary 

wall. 

3 As claimed. Probably yes. 

4 As claimed. Only changed route when the route on 

the grassed area was obstructed by 

fencing (30th March 2015). 

5 As claimed. Yes. 

6 As claimed. Yes. 

7 As claimed. No – one of a number of walks we do 

depending on path conditions and for 

variation. 

8 As claimed. Yes. 

9 As claimed. Yes. 

10 As claimed. Yes. 

11 As claimed. Yes. 

Not willingly changed route, but when 

temporary fencing was erected, it was 

necessary to use the roadway in 

Bourne Close. 

12 As claimed. Yes, until the route was blocked. Since 

being blocked I walk around the area 

on the main road. 

13 As claimed. No, walked many different routes 

around the village. 

14 As claimed. Not used the route as my approach to 

the path is from the south and the 

Page 82



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

45 
 

entrance into Bourne Gardens (which I 

have used many times), is the more 

convenient way to reach the houses 

and playground, but I walk past the 

path virtually every day. 

15 As claimed. Yes. 

16 As claimed. Yes. 

17 Only the southern section of the 

claimed route over the grassed area 

(A – B) is shown. 

Yes same route across grass under 

certain conditions, i.e. depending on 

time of year; footwear worn and 

whether the grass was wet or dry. 

Otherwise I have used the tarmac 

route of Bourne Close. 

18 As claimed. Yes. 

19 As claimed, plus extension of the 

route into the recreation ground with 

a spur leading west. 

Yes. 

20 As claimed. Yes. 

21 Two routes marked on map: a route 

in red around the Bourne Close  

road way from the High Street 

marked “Todays route” and the 

claimed route in blue (although slight 

deviation into front garden of no.1 

Bourne Close), marked “The 

previous route before houses were 

built marked in blue. The previous 

route in fact is still used but has 

been wired off.” 

Yes. 

22 As claimed. Yes, except used the longer, less safe 

roadway if the grass was long/wet or if 

the grandchildren were cycling. 

23 As claimed. Yes, if the grass was wet we would 

Page 83



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

46 
 

sometimes use the Bourne Close 

roadway. 

24 As claimed. Yes, route is unrestricted but desire 

line is clearly visible. 

25 Route following the High Street from 

home and then wholly on the road 

section of Bourne Close to the 

recreation ground. The grass area is 

not used. 

Yes. 

26 Only the southern section of the 

claimed route across the grassed 

area (A – B), is shown. 

Yes. 

 

27 As claimed. Yes, if going to or from the playground, 

friends house and to the shop or 

village centre.  

Not used if going to Bourne Close or 

the recreation ground, directly from 

Parsons Close. I use the road of 

Bourne Close although it is not a 

public right of way. 

 

10.46. 13 of the witnesses have used the route as claimed and not altered this route, 

until the time of its obstruction in 2015, (Mr Marsh has used the claimed route 

including an extension into the recreation ground with a spur leading west). 3 

witnesses have used the claimed route, but altered their route to use the road 

way of Bourne Close when the grass (on the area of green adjacent to the 

High Street), was long, wet or depending on where they were going. 3 users 

have used only the southern section of the route A-B, i.e. the grassed area, 

(please see plan at 4). One of these users is Mrs Lee who is part owner of the 

private road, Bourne Close and she would not be relying upon public rights to 

use that part of the claimed route over Bourne Close. Miss Thompson has 

used the southern section of the route (A – B) only to access Bourne Close for 

Page 84



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

47 
 

the purposes of delivering publications. Officers consider that she would have 

used the private road of Bourne Close, but then gone in many different 

directions to deliver to the houses, rather than following the direct route of the 

claimed route to the recreation ground. Mr Mark Adams lives at Rose Cottage 

and appears to have used only the southern section of the route to access the 

other side of his boundary wall for the purposes of maintenance. Mr David 

Adams has used the whole route, but mainly uses the northern section of the 

claimed route (B - C) through Bourne Close as he lives to the west of Bourne 

Close and uses a spur over the green to the west of the claimed route, which 

meets the claimed route on the Bourne Close road and on which Mr Adams 

continues his journey. Mr Grundy has not used the claimed route at all but has 

marked on the map his proposal for a dedicated path, given his observations 

of the route. 

 

10.47. Officers note that the termination point of the path at point C (see plan at 4), is 

the gate to the recreation ground, which is owned by the Parish Council and 

to which the public are allowed full access during its opening hours. The 

claimed footpath is a cul-de-sac path, i.e. it does not junction with another 

public highway and in order to use the path the public would need to return 

using the route which they had already used, however in this case the 

recreation ground, which has full public access, forms a place of popular 

resort which the public would legitimately wish to reach and 18 of the 27 

witnesses state that they used the path to reach the recreation ground / 

playpark. The public may walk freely across the recreation ground, which itself 

links to another public highway, i.e. Winterslow Road. The notices on the gate 

at Bourne Close state that this access to the recreation ground is locked 

during the hours of darkness and opened again in the morning by 8:30am, 

which is confirmed by the parish council. 

 

10.48. In the case of Asgar Ali v Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs; Essex County Council and Frinton and Walton Town Council 2015, 

Page 85



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

48 
 

the High Court considered a case where a definitive map modification order 

was made, adding a public footpath to the definitive map and statement of 

public right of way in Essex, between 59 and 61 Connaught Avenue, Frinton-

on Sea. The footpath ran along an alleyway between the two properties, with 

a door at the western end of the passage which had been present since the 

building was first constructed, with evidence provided that this door was on 

occasion closed and locked. In this case Rhodri Price Lewis QC, sitting as 

Deputy High Court Judge, examined the decision of the Inspector in this case 

and the effect of the locked door as an interruption to public user and the 

landowner’s non-intention to dedicate the land as a public highway. The 

Inspector states “I reach the conclusion that, even if the door had been locked 

on several occasions, this did not come to the attention of most users of the 

passageway and therefore did not bring into question the public’s right to walk 

through.” Mr Price Lewis concludes that “The evidence in all its forms “clearly 

demonstrated” to her (the Inspector) “regular use…without interruption 

throughout the twenty year period.” It seems to me that she is finding on the 

totality of the evidence that any locking of the door at Christmas did not in fact 

interrupt the public’s use of the alleyway.” 

 

10.49. On the issue of landowner intention Mr Price Lewis concludes: 

 

“In my judgement here the Inspector was deciding on the facts of this 

particular case that use of the path was for the purpose of getting to the local 

shops and businesses and so a locking of the door at Christmas when those 

shops and businesses were closed was not effective to provide “sufficient 

evidence” that there was no intention to dedicate because such acts on the 

part of the landowner would not be sufficiently overt to bring to the attention of 

the public who used the way that the landowner had no such intention.”  

 

10.50. Comparisons may be drawn in this case and the Idmiston case, in that 

although the gate to the recreation ground is locked during the hours of 

Page 86



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

49 
 

darkness, there is sufficient evidence of long and regular public user, without 

interruption. Witnesses appear to be using the route to reach the recreation 

ground, which is only open during the hours of daylight, therefore it follows 

that the main use of the way would be during the hours of daylight and the 

locking of the gate at night would not be sufficient to bring home to users that 

their right was being challenged.  

 

10.51. Additionally the gate to the recreation ground is not on the land in question 

and is not erected by the owners of the land over which the claimed route 

passes, therefore the locking of the gate is not sufficient evidence of the 

landowners’ non-intention to dedicate a right of way over the claimed route. 

The Parish Council have confirmed that it was found necessary to lock the 

gate to prevent vandalism and anti-social behaviour taking place on the 

recreation ground, during the late evenings. 

 

10.52. In this case there has been some confusion regarding the claimed route as 

the application plan appeared to show the claimed route leading across the 

front garden of the property no.1 Bourne Close, which has caused the 

residents of 1 Bourne Close some concern. However, the applicant has 

confirmed that it was not her intention to claim part of the route through the 

property no.1 Bourne Close, the claimed route is on the private road of 

Bourne Close and Officers consider that it would be physically impossible for 

members of the public to have used a route through the garden, as the 

property has a boundary wall and there is a large willow tree in the front 

garden. Also, on the balance of probabilities, the evidence does not support a 

route through the garden. 15 witnesses record a route entirely on the private 

road of Bourne Close on the evidence form maps, whilst 9 witnesses record a 

route through the garden on their maps, but the written description given by 

these witnesses does not make reference to the claimed route leading 

through the garden of 1 Bourne Close, in fact Mrs Simpson confirms that 

“Within Bourne Close there are houses and gardens to the right and left”, (of 

Page 87



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

50 
 

the claimed route) and Mrs Southern confirms that the path runs “From the 

playpark entrance…between garden fences, then directly across Bourne 

Close to the grassed area.” The base map produced by Wiltshire Council 

shows the word “Bourne” written through the boundary of no.1 Bourne Close 

and Officers consider that this may have made it unclear where the boundary 

of the property was located and witnesses may have inadvertently shown a 

line within the boundary of this property. From their investigation of the 

available evidence, Officers are satisfied, on the balance of probabilities, that 

there is no right of way through the garden of the property 1 Bourne Close. 

 

10.53. Officers are satisfied that, on the balance of probabilities, the witness 

evidence as a whole, supports public user of the route as claimed. 

 

Width 

 

10.54. In making an order to add a new footpath to the definitive map of public rights 

of way, a width must be recorded within the definitive statement, based on 

evidence. There is no width recorded in documentary evidence as the claimed 

route is not recorded in documents examined by Wiltshire Council (please see 

Appendix 2). The northern part of the route which passes between the 

gardens of 1A Bourne Close (Appledown) and 2 Bourne Close, is enclosed 

between garden fences and hedges to the east and west. It is therefore 

possible to take a measurement of the width available for public use, of 3.15 

metres between OS Grid Reference SU 1870-3664 and OS Grid Reference 

SU 1872-3661, to be recorded if a definitive map modification order is made. 

 

10.55. There is no such enclosure on the southern part of the route which leads 

through Bourne Close and over the green area, therefore the recorded width 

on this part of the route must be based upon evidence of the actual used 

width of the path. Witnesses have recorded to following path widths:  

 

Page 88



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

51 
 

Witness Width  Witness Width 
 

1 1m width access as a path  15 Approx 80 – 100cms 

2 Approx 1m  16 Path approx 1m wide 

3 Probably less than 1m  17 Approx 1m 

4 1m  18 1.5 – 2m 

5 1 - 1.5m  19 About 1m 

6 1m  20 Max width 4 – 5m 

7 1 - 4.5m (variable)  21 Fence created around the 
circular green 

8 1m  22 On a previously open piece of 
ground, a path wide enough 
to walk through 

9 1m  23 My wife and I normally walk 
side by side 

10 Approx 1m  24 Can’t say specifically noticed 
– maybe 2m? 

11 1m  25 1 – 1.5m 

12 1m  26 1m 

13 Would not take much notice 
of any changes – a walk was 
a walk 

 27 About 1m 

14 Approx 3 – 4ft (0.91 – 1.22m)    

 

10.56. The witnesses have given varying path widths. Officers have therefore used 

an average width from those witnesses who provided width evidence (based 

on the maximum extent given), giving an average width of 1.46 metres to be 

recorded as a definitive width of the footpath over Bourne Close and the 

green area (i.e. between OS Grid Reference SU 1872-3661 and OS Grid 

Reference SU 1875-3655), if a definitive map modification order is made. 

 

Landowners Intention 

 

10.57. Under Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, there is a presumption of 

dedication after public user of a route for a period of 20 years or more “as of 

right”, unless during that period there was in fact no intention on the 

landowners part to dedicate the land as a highway. Intention to dedicate was 

discussed in the Godmanchester case, which is considered to be the 

Page 89



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

52 
 

authoritative case on this matter. In his leading judgement Lord Hoffman 

approved the words of Denning LJ in the Fairey case, 1956: 

 

 “…in order for there to be “sufficient evidence there was no intention” to 

dedicate the way, there must be evidence of some overt acts on the part of 

the landowner such as to show the public at large – the public who use the 

path…that he had no intention to dedicate. He must in Lord Blackburn’s 

words, take steps to disabuse these persons of any belief that there was a 

public right…” 

 

10.58. In the same case, Lord Neuberger of Abbotsbury went further on this point: 

 

 “…the cogent and clear analysis of Denning LJ in Fairey v Southampton 

County Council [1956] 2 QB at 458, quoted by Lord Hoffman, clearly indicated 

that the intention referred to in the proviso to section 1 (1) of the 1923 Act was 

intended to be a communicated intention. That analysis was accepted and 

recorded in textbooks and it was followed and applied in cases identified by 

Lord Hoffman by High Court Judges and by the Court of Appeal for the 

subsequent forty years. Further, it appears to have been an analysis which 

was acceptable to the legislature, given that section (1) of the 1932 Act was 

re-enacted in section 34(1) of the Highways Act 1959 and again in section 

31(1) of the 1980 Act.” 

 

10.59. Lord Hoffman went on to say: 

 

“I think that upon the true construction of section 31(1), “intention” means 

what the relevant audience, namely the users of the way would reasonably 

have understood the owner’s intention to be. The test is…objective: not what 

the owner subjectively intended not what particular users of the way 

subjectively assumed, but whether a reasonable user would have understood 

Page 90



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

53 
 

that the owner was intending, as Lord Blackburn put it in Mann v Brodie 

(1885), to “disabuse” [him] of the notion that the way was a public highway.” 

 

10.60. In the Idmiston case, none of the landowners claim to have carried out any 

overt acts to bring home to the public that their right to use the path was being 

challenged, until the fencing of the green area adjacent to the High Street in 

2015, which serves to bring the public’s right to use the way, into question. 

Whilst Mr Jones, the present owner of the area of green, states that he has 

asked people not to allow their dogs loose to foul on the land whilst walking in 

Bourne Close and the High Street and he has challenged those who park on 

the land without permission, he makes no reference to challenging path users 

whilst on the land, claiming that he was not aware of use. Dr Appleyard in her 

evidence states that Mr Jones purchased the land in 2004, “At this time he 

lived at Jayesmoor, one of the two semi-detached properties opposite and he 

cannot have failed to be aware that members of the public walked over it both 

before and after he acquired it. He made no attempt to stop them and voiced 

no objections to this use. The only concern he expressed to us was that some 

people occasionally parked vehicles on it without permission.” In her evidence 

form Mrs Catherine Lee states that she spoke with the owner of the green 

area of land on the day on which he erected the fencing which obstructed the 

route and brought the public right to use the way into question, at which time 

he advised her that the land was private and that he did not want members of 

the public to walk on his land, however witnesses make no reference to cases 

of challenge prior to the obstruction of the route by fencing in 2015 and agree 

that landowners were aware of the use. 

 

10.61. The witnesses and the landowners do not refer to notices being erected 

advising the public that the route was not public and the landowners have not 

completed and lodged with Wiltshire Council a statement with plan and 

subsequent statutory declarations under Section 31 (6) of the Highways Act 

Page 91



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

54 
 

1980, to demonstrate the landowners non-intention to dedicate a public right 

of way.  

 

10.62. It is concluded that the landowners’ non-intention to dedicate the land as a 

highway has not been demonstrated. 

 

Common Law Dedication 

 

10.63. Section 5 of the Planning Inspectorates Definitive Map Orders: Consistency 

Guidelines suggest that even where a claim meets the tests under Section 3 

of the Highways Act 1980 for dedication under statute law, there should be 

consideration of the matter at common law. 

 

10.64. Dedication at common law may be considered where a way has been used by 

the public for less than 20 years. Where the origin of a highway is not known, 

its status at common law depends on the inference that the way was in fact 

dedicated at some point in the past.  

 

10.65. A highway can be created at common law by a landowner dedicating the land 

to the public for use as a highway, either expressly or in the absence of 

evidence of actual express dedication by landowners, through implied 

dedication, for example making no objection to public use of the way. It also 

relies upon the public showing their acceptance of the route by using the way. 

Whilst the principles of dedication and acceptance remain the same in both 

statute and common law, there is a significant difference in the burden of 

proof, i.e. at common law the burden of proving the owners intentions remains 

with the applicant. Whilst it is acknowledged that dedication of the route as a 

public highway may have taken place at common law at some time in the 

past, it is recognised that evidence of such dedication is difficult to obtain and 

it is then appropriate to apply Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980.  

 

Page 92



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

55 
 

10.66. Relatively few highways can be shown to have been expressly dedicated and 

in the Idmiston case, there is no evidence before the Surveying Authority that 

the landowners have carried out any express act of dedication over the 

claimed route. However, there is evidence that the landowners have 

acquiesced in the use of the claimed route by the public and evidence of 

public acceptance of this route through user evidence. If the claim under 

statute were to fail, it is possible to apply the principles of common law 

dedication in this case. 

 

Conclusion 

 

10.67. Having considered the evidence submitted in support of the claim and that 

submitted by landowners and objectors, Officers have concluded that there is 

sufficient evidence for it to be reasonably alleged that a right of way for the 

public on foot subsists over the land in question, on the balance of 

probabilities based on public user for a period of 20 years and insufficient 

evidence of the landowners’ non-intention to dedicate a public right of way. 

Therefore the only option open to Wiltshire Council, as the Surveying 

Authority, is to make a definitive map modification order to amend the 

definitive map and statement of public rights of way accordingly. 

 

 

11. Overview and Scrutiny Engagement 

 

11.1. Not required. 

 

 

12. Safeguarding Considerations 

 

12.1. Considerations relating to the safeguarding of anyone affected by the making 

and confirmation of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and 

Page 93



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

56 
 

Countryside Act 1981, are not considerations permitted within the Act. Any 

such order must be made and confirmed based on the relevant evidence 

alone. 

 

 

13. Public Health Implications 

 

13.1.  Considerations relating to the public health implications of the making and 

confirmation of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981, are not considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order 

must be made and confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone. 

 

 

14. Procurement Implications 

 

14.1. The determination of a definitive map modification order application and 

modifying the definitive map and statement of public rights of way accordingly 

are statutory duties for the Council. The financial implications are discussed at 

18. 

 

 

15. Environmental Impact of the Proposal 

 

15.1.  Considerations relating to the environmental impact of the making and 

confirmation of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981, are not considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order 

must be made and confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone. 

 

 

 

 

Page 94



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

57 
 

16. Equalities Impact of the Proposal 

 

16.1.  Considerations relating to the equalities impact of the making and 

confirmation of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981, are not considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order 

must be made and confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone. 

 

 

17. Risk Assessment 

 

17.1. Considerations relating to the health and safety implications of the making and 

confirmation of an order under Section 53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside 

Act 1981, are not considerations permitted within the Act. Any such order 

must be made and confirmed based on the relevant evidence alone. 

 

17.2. Wiltshire Council has a duty to keep the definitive map and statement of public 

rights of way under continuous review and therefore there is no risk 

associated with the Council pursuing this duty correctly. Evidence has been 

brought to the Council’s attention that there is an error within the definitive 

map and statement which ought to be investigated and it would be 

unreasonable for the Council not to seek to address this fact. Where the 

Council fails to pursue its duty to determine the application (within 12 months 

of the application), the applicant may appeal to the Secretary of State who will 

impose a deadline upon the authority for determination of the application.  

 

 

18. Financial Implications 

 

18.1. The determination of definitive map modification order applications and 

modifying the definitive map and statement of public rights of way accordingly, 

are statutory duties for the Council, therefore the costs of processing such 

Page 95



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

58 
 

orders are borne by the Council. There is no mechanism by which the Council 

can re-charge these costs to the applicant. 

 

18.2.  Where no definitive map modification order is made, the costs to the Council 

in processing the definitive map modification order application are minimal. 

 

18.3. Where a definitive map modification order is made and objections received, 

which are not withdrawn, the order falls to be determined by the Secretary of 

State. An Independent Inspector appointed on behalf of the Secretary of State 

will determine the order by written representations, local hearing or local 

public inquiry, which have a financial implication for the Council. If the case is 

determined by written representations the financial implication for the Council 

is negligible, however where a local hearing is held, the costs to the Council 

are estimated at £200 - £500 and a public inquiry could cost between £1500 - 

£3000, if Wiltshire Council continues to support the order (i.e. where legal 

representation is required by the Council) and around £200 - £500 where the 

Council no longer supports the order (i.e. where no legal representation is 

required by the Council as the case is presented by the applicant). 

 

 

19. Legal Considerations 

 

19.1. Where the Surveying Authority determines to refuse to make an order, the 

applicant may lodge an appeal with the Secretary of State, who will consider 

the evidence and may direct the Council to make a definitive map modification 

order.  

 

19.2.  If an order is made and objections are received, any determination of the 

Order by the Secretary of State may be challenged in the High Court. 

 

 

Page 96



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

59 
 

20.  Options Considered 

 

20.1. To: 

 

(i)  Refuse to make a definitive map modification order, under Section 53 

of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, where it is considered that 

there is insufficient evidence that a right of way for the public on foot 

subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist, on the balance of 

probabilities, or 

 

(ii)  Where there is sufficient evidence that a right for the public on foot 

subsists or is reasonably alleged to subsist, on the balance of 

probabilities, the only option available to the authority is to make a 

definitive map modification order to add a footpath to the definitive map 

and statement of public rights of way, under Section 53 of the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981. 

 

 

21.  Reasons for Proposal 

 

21.1. It is considered that there is sufficient evidence for it to be reasonably alleged 

that a right of way for the public on foot, subsists on the balance of 

probabilities over land in the parish of Idmiston, leading from Porton High 

Street, through Bourne Close to the recreation ground, based on evidence of 

public user for a period of 20 years. 

 

21.2. Additionally, there is insufficient evidence of the landowners’ non-intention to 

dedicate the way as a public right of way, during the relevant user period of 

30th March 1995 – 30th March 2015. Path users do not refer to any incident of 

challenge, prohibitory signage or obstruction, prior to the erection of the 

fencing around the green area in 2015, which serves to bring public user of 

Page 97



 
 

Decision Report: Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 
Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way in the 
Parish of Idmiston (Porton) 

60 
 

the claimed route into question and there is no evidence before the Council 

that the landowners in Bourne Close have taken any action to demonstrate 

their non-intention to dedicate the land as a public highway. 

 

21.3.  Whilst Mr Jones (owner of the green area) has confirmed that he has 

previously challenged those walking in the High Street and Bourne Close who 

allow their dogs to foul on the green area and those parking on the green 

area, without permission, there is no evidence before the Council that Mr 

Jones, or any previous owner of the green area, have taken any action to 

demonstrate their non-intention to dedicate the land as a pubic highway, prior 

to 2015. 

 

22.  Proposal 

 

22.1.  That a definitive map modification order be made to add a right of way for the 

public on foot to the definitive map and statement of public rights of way in the 

parish of Idmiston, leading from Porton High Street, in a generally north-north-

westerly direction, through Bourne Close, to the recreation ground, having a 

width of 3.15 metres on that section between OS Grid Reference SU 1870-

3664 and OS Grid Reference SU 1872-3661 and 1.46 metres on that section 

between OS Grid Reference SU 1872 – 3661 and OS Grid Reference SU 

1875-3655 and if no objections are received, the order be confirmed by 

Wiltshire Council as an unopposed order. 

 

 

Janice Green 

Rights of Way Officer, Wiltshire Council 

Date of Report: 22nd June 2016 

Page 98



1 
 

Decision Report 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 

Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public 

Rights of Way – Idmiston (Porton) 

 

Appendix 1 – Summary of Representations and Objections Received at Initial 

Consultation 

 

1. Mr Adrian Jones (Owner of the green area of land) – letter dated 4th February 

2016 and landowner evidence form dated 6th February 2016: 

 Owned the land for 12 years 

 Do not believe the way to be public, have held this belief for over 35 years. 

 Never seen members of the public using the claimed route. 

 It is private land so I would expect anyone to ask permission before using the 

way, but I have not seen anyone use it. 

 No plan and statement deposited with Wiltshire Council under Section 31(6) 

of the Highways Act 1980. 

 Never stopped or turned anyone back. 

 I haven’t seen anyone use the way to tell them that it was not public. 

 It was not necessary to erect signs or notices stating that the way was not 

public. 

 No stiles or gates on the claimed route. 

 I have obstructed the line A – B by fencing in the whole plot. 

 Between 1999 and 2006 I lived opposite this piece of land and maintained it, I 

also used it to park vehicles and machinery including tractors. 

 There is presently a planning application for the plot of land over which 

section A to B passes (i.e. over the green area). 

 The application is an attempt to stall and prevent the planning application. 

 The land was subject to an application to register the land as an Asset of 

Community Value by the Porton Conservation Group which was rejected on 

the grounds that the land is privately owned and it is therefore not considered 

to further the social wellbeing of the community, nor is it likely to do so in the 

future. 

Page 99



2 
 

 21 witness statements from 19 different households. 17 of the 21 people who 

have sent in witness forms were also members of the Porton Conservation 

Group. 14 of the people who sent statements have made objections to the 

building proposals. 

 There has never been a footpath over the land. In 2000 Idmiston Parish 

Council wrote the Porton, Idmiston and Gomeldon Community Plan in which 

they list footpaths in the parish including path no.7 which is only 33m long, but 

there is no path listed from the High Street, through Bourne Close to the 

recreation ground. 

 One of the respondents has not walked the path. 

 There is great variation in the position of the footpath on the maps and the 

width.  

 People do walk from the High Street, through Bourne Close to the recreation 

ground. The main entrance to the recreation ground is on Winterslow Road, 

which is safer and more direct for the respondents who live in The Avenue: 

Nalhasen Close; Buller Park; Bonaker Close; Winterslow Road and Parkland 

Way. There are only 3 respondents who live in the High Street whose walk 

would be shortened by the claimed footpath. Those living in Bourne Close 

would have their walk to the High Street shortened by approximately 10m by 

the claimed footpath. 

 20 respondents cite that they have not been given permission to use the land, 

many appear to be unaware this is private land. 

 There has often been dog fouling of the land caused by dog owners letting 

their dogs loose on the land whilst walking in Bourne Close or High Street and 

I have on occasion asked people not to do this. I have also asked people who 

have parked without permission on this land to remove their vehicles. 

 If I had been aware of anyone walking on the land, I would have asked them 

to stop doing so. 

 My wife lived opposite the land from 1985 and she also is not aware of people 

using the section A-B, however, according to the statements they have 

walked a total of 948 times a year, which equates to 2/3 people every day. 

With this footfall there would be an obvious well worn pathway, this has never 

been apparent. 

Page 100



3 
 

 Photographic evidence has been shared amongst witnesses. 

 If you zoom in on the aerial photographs from 1980 purporting to show the 

claimed route, it can be seen that this is just a variation in the grass, with 

clumps close to Rose Cottage and smoother grass elsewhere (over the green 

area). This rougher grass and variation in soil levels is also shown in later 

photographs such as the 1993 photograph from Fieldings and the 2009 

Google photograph. When viewed from different angles, there is no path 

shown, but it does show compaction and tyre marks due to vehicles driving 

over the land. A Google aerial view (2001) and a more recent the estate 

agents photograph taken from Jayesmoor, (the house opposite the green 

area), show no evidence of a right of way. 

 I believe that there is no historic evidence for a path between A and B and 

people use the road in Bourne Close to get to the recreation ground. 

 There are no advantages for the residents of Porton, either in distance walked 

or safety. 

 If a footpath is recorded it should follow the road in Bourne Close from the 

High Street to the recreation ground. 

 

2. Dr’s Patricia and Geoffrey Appleyard (owners of 1A Bourne Close 

(Appledown) and part owners of the private road, Bourne Close) – Letter dated 

4th February 2016 and landowner evidence form dated 3rd February 2016: 

 We have owned the land for 11 years and 10 months. Bourne Close is 

unadopted and I believe that we are jointly responsible for any necessary 

repairs and have a right of access to our property. 

 Believe the claimed route to be a public footpath and we have held this belief 

since April 2004 (Patricia Appleyard) and since 1989 (Geoffrey Appleyard). 

 Aware of members of the public using the route, have observed many people 

walking to and from the recreation ground and walking dogs etc. on a daily 

basis as long as we have lived at Appledown, such that we assumed it was a 

right of way. 

 No plan and statement deposited with Wiltshire Council under Section 31(6) 

of the Highways Act 1980. 

Page 101



4 
 

 We have not stopped or turned anyone back, we have never told anyone 

using the way that it is not public, we have not erected notices or signs stating 

that the way was not public. 

 There is a gate at the recreation ground which is locked at night by the Parish 

Council to deter anti-social behaviour. The gate is open during daylight hours. 

 Never obstructed the way, the section between A and B was in regular use 

until it was obstructed by fencing in late March 2015, we support the 

designation of the proposed footpath as a right of way. 

 I am a frequent user of the proposed path since April 2004, my husband has 

also used the path and known it for longer as a resident of Porton since 1989. 

We use it from our property to access the shop; post office; doctors surgery 

and other parts of the village, until the route A-B was blocked by fencing in 

late March 2015. We have also used the section in the other direction from 

our property to the recreation ground on numerous occasions. 

 When we purchased the property we knew about the path between 2 and 1A 

Bourne Close and assumed that this access to the recreation ground and the 

section through Bourne Close and across the grass to the High Street was 

already an established right of way. There was a clear well worn path from A-

B across the grass at this time, this is supported by photographic evidence 

(i.e. photograph taken from Fieldings opposite the piece of ground, by Mr S 

Castellano over 20 years ago and aerial photograph dated 1980). 

 Appledown was built in 1995. 

 We can see much of the footpath from Appledown and confirm that it is well 

used by members of the public. 

 Mr A M Jones purchased the grass area in 2004, at this time he lived at 

Jayesmoor opposite the land and could not have failed to be aware that 

members of the public walked over it both before and after he acquired it. He 

made no attempts to stop them and voiced no objections to the use. The only 

concern he expressed to us was that some people had parked vehicles on it 

without permission. 

 Prior to 2004 the land was owned by Mr Pike at Appledown from whom we 

bought our property. Neither Mr Pike nor the first owners of Appledown made 

any attempt to fence the land to prevent access. 

Page 102



5 
 

 

3. Mr Wayne Maher (owner of 1 Bourne Close and part owner of the private road, 

Bourne Close) returned a completed landowner evidence form, dated 5th January 

2016: 

 Owned the land for 8 years. 

 Do not believe it to be a public right of way, it is private. 

 Only on odd occasion saw child running across the child running across, very 

boggy on the grass. 

 Never required people to ask permission before using the way. 

 No plan and statement deposited with Wiltshire Council under Section 31(6) 

of the Highways Act 1980. 

 Never stopped or turned back anyone using the way. 

 Never told anyone it was not public. 

 Never erected notices or signs stating that the way was not public. 

 No stiles or gates on the way. 

 Never obstructed the way. 

 

4. Mrs Laura Maher (owner of 1 Bourne Close, part owner of the private road, 

Bourne Close) e-mail correspondence: 

 

19th January 2016: 

I have recently been informed that this footpath is believed to go through our 

front garden at 1 Bourne Close. We cannot allow a footpath through our garden 

and this is causing us great concern. The drawing we had sent appeared to 

show the footpath going along the road and not through our garden. 

 

20th January 2016: 

When I filled out the form, because of the planning permission they are trying to 

get on the green next to our house, I assumed the form was all in relation to the 

green and not anything on my property. 

The public cannot and do not walk through our garden. When we purchased the 

property 7 years ago there was and still is a boundary wall, so the public have 

always walked along the Bourne Close road. There is also a very large willow 

Page 103



6 
 

tree which was there when we bought the property, the footpath line marked on 

your map would go directly through this large tree. So I would find it hard to 

believe that the public would say they take this route. 

The people requesting the footpath are possibly doing it to prevent the planning 

application on the green and for no other reason. There seems to be a lot of 

upset with the locals with regards to this planning permission on the green. 

Walking along Bourne Close road is quiet and I see no reason for an additional 

footpath. 

I can confirm living next door to the green, that the public rarely walk across it, 

particularly in winter as there is no footpath and it is muddy. Occasionally in the 

warmer months we would see a child or dog take a shortcut across the green, 

but this would only happen if the land owner had cut the grass. Most other 

members of the public would walk along the Bourne Close road. 

 

2nd February 2016: 

My husband saw Valerie yesterday, I believe it is Valerie who is proposing the 

footpath. My husband informed her that her diagram isn’t correct as it is drawn 

through our front garden. She agreed and said it was an error and she should be 

contacting you today to sort this out. 

 

5. Mr Raymond Bray (owner of 4 Bourne Close and part owner of the private road, 

Bourne Close) returned a completed landowner evidence form, dated 20 th 

January 2016: 

 Owned the land for 18 years. 

 Seen it being used daily over 18 years. 

 Never required people to ask permission before using the way. 

 No plan and statement deposited with Wiltshire Council under Section 31(6) 

of the Highways Act 1980. 

 No gates or stiles on the way. 

 

6. Gillian and Richard Green – E-mail dated 7 February 2016: 

We walk frequently up the High Street past this land and at times walk through 

Bourne Close when walking to, or from the recreation ground. We have paid 

Page 104



7 
 

regular visits to this area of the High Street between 1985 and 2006 to visit my 

sister and her family. On no occasion have we seen people walking over the 

land between A and B and there was no sign of any footpath or regular walking 

over the land.  

Between 2006 and the present we have continued to walk in these areas, either 

on our own or with our grandchildren. During this time we have not seen people 

walking on the land or signs of it being used as a footpath. However, when we 

have been in this area we have seen other people who, like ourselves, were 

walking on the road through Bourne Close. I should imagine that like ourselves 

they prefer the safety of the smooth surface of the road and the fact that they do 

not have to avoid the dog fouling on the land. 

We can see no advantage in putting a footpath across this land as there is a 

perfectly good road with minimal traffic that takes everyone to the same place. 

 

7. Roly Grimshaw – E-mail dated 5 February 2016: 

I strongly object to the application. 

I have lived in Winterslow Road, adjoining the High Street for nearly 15 years. I 

have 2 dogs and when we first came here, small children who used the 

playground. My wife and I are regular walkers and have never seen anyone use 

the route A to B described on the application. Access round the land into the cul-

de-sac of Bourne Close is so easy with minimal traffic to the 4 or 5 houses in the 

close. 

There has never been a footpath there and indeed most people would not wish 

to venture over the land on which dogs have made a mess. 

I am also well aware of the planning application to build on the land. It is not 

surprising to hear that most of the supporters of the footpath are using this 

application as a means of blocking the planning. Indeed I am a strong supporter 

of our public rights of way and it is irritating to find that such an application is 

being used as a political tool, not for the benefit of walkers. 

I hope this application will be rejected. 

 

 

 

 

Page 105



8 
 

8. Mr W G Baker – Letter undated: 

I have lived here (Fairview, Gomeldon) for over 40 years. I have never known a 

footpath to go over this land, A to B. This is private property. I have never seen 

anybody walk across the land. 

I have also done a lot of building works in the area, I am a builder by trade, but 

now retired. 

 

9. Mr Geoffrey Pike – E-mail dated 3rd February 2016: 

I owned the relevant piece of land in Bourne Close, Porton, along with the 

adjacent property, Appledown, from July 1998 to March 2004. At no time during 

my ownership was there a footpath across the land and neither did I give anyone 

permission to use or walk across the land. I sold the land to Mark Jones. 

 

10. Mr P Jay – Letter undated: 

I have lived in this village for 70 years, there has never been a footpath between 

A to B. Also I have never seen people walking between A to B in all the time I 

have been living in this village. 

 

11.  Mr T C Lodge – E-mail dated 16th March 2016 

For many years I have lived in the parish of Idmiston and served on the Parish 

Council, as such I have some historical knowledge of the Porton area in 

particular, however I now live in Winterbourne. 

The area in question is a relatively small plot of grassland, owned by Mr Jones, 

adjacent to Bourne Close and I had some involvement in the design of the 

dwellings therein. I do not believe that there was ever a “bona fide” right of way. 

Certainly residents took a short cut across the grass instead of using the nearby 

roadway and many used the area as a dog fouling spot. To my certain 

knowledge there was or is not a “way marker” or finger post indicating a “public 

footway”.  

I have no material connection with the applicant or the objectors but I do believe 

that there is a “head of steam” being generated quite unjustifiably by some 

newcomers to the village. 

 

Page 106



9 
 

12. Councillor Mike Hewitt, Bourne and Woodford Valley – E-mail dated 3rd 

January 2016: 

I have no problem with the footpath from B to C although I see no justification in 

formalising the access to the Playpark. As for A to B, this is over private land and 

the access from A to B is easily obtained by walking a short distance along the 

road where there has always been access to the Playpark.  

The only reason this has been asked for at the moment is because of a potential 

planning application that 2 neighbours disagree with. The area between A and B 

was requested to become Community Land but has been rejected by the Council 

out of hand. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Decision Report 

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 – Section 53 

Application to Add a Footpath to the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of 

Way – Idmiston (Porton) 

 

Appendix 2 – Historical Evidence Summary 

 

Document Porton Inclosure Award (E/A 170) 

Date  1850 

Relevant 

Documents 

Award Map 

Award 

Size and scale Map size – 88cm x 44cm (approx) 

Scale of Map – 1” = 6 Chains 

Significance Inclosure was a process by which lands which had previously been 

communally farmed by the inhabitants of the manor, were redistributed 

amongst people having rights of common. By the 18th Century new 

innovations in farming were increasing output, but where communal 

farming was still in place it was difficult to modernise without the 

agreement of all parties. Therefore, the larger landowners, who wished 

to increase the productivity of their land, set about obtaining 

parliamentary authority to redistribute property rights. 

Inclosure Awards provide sound and reliable evidence as they arise 

from Acts of Parliament. Prior to 1801 inclosure was dealt with by local 

acts for specific areas. Post 1801 local acts generally operated with the 

Inclosure Consolidation Act of 1801, which standardised the process. 

Inclosure Commissioners had the power to change the highway network 

of the parish, they were authorised and required to set out and appoint 

public and private highways, including bridleways and footways. Being a 

legal document, the highways appointed still exist to this day unless a 

legal event has taken place to stop up that highway.  

Weight can be given to routes included within the Inclosure Awards as 

landowners had a strong influence over the process and wanted to 

minimise public highways over their land. Parishes also had motives to 

reduce the number of public highways in order to reduce the burden 

upon them as it was the duty of the parish to maintain such highways. 

To balance this, the public nature of the inclosure process was clearly 

Page 109



2 
 

set out within the Act, e.g. notice of the public and private roads to be 

set out was required and opportunity given for objection to the inclusion 

or non-inclusion of public and private highways.  

The Porton Inclosure Award of 1850 post-dates the Tithe Award. The 

Inclosure Award Map is produced by James Combes Jr. Surveyor, 

Fonthill, Wilts and the map is signed by the Commissioners Francis 

Attwood and Thomas Waters. 

Conclusion On the map of the lands to be inclosed, there is the suggestion of an 

access into the Manor Farm buildings complex, in the corresponding 

location of the claimed footpath, (this location for the claimed route can 

be identified by comparing the detail of the Inclosure Award Map to 

historic and present day Ordnance Survey (OS) mapping. Rose Cottage 

which still exists today, adjacent to the claimed route, is present on 

these maps).  

The boundary of the highway, awarded as “Public Road no.1”, is shown 

as a solid line at this point, which leads Officers to believe that this 

access is private, forming part of Manor Farm, rather than being part of 

the highway network. Manor Farm itself is not awarded, possibly being 

subject to previous inclosure, (in its study of the Porton Inclosure Award 

of 1850, the Bourne Valley Historical Society observes that the Inclosure 

Award refers to the owners of the lands, all of whom were either the 

trustees of wills or of marriage settlements and that the agreement of the 

owners to inclosure had been given in 1842, but because of the death of 

one or more of the principals there had been a delay), therefore there is 

no description of the property included within the apportionment 

document.  

In contrast, there is another route leading west off “Public Road no.1”, 

located further south of Manor Farm, now known as The Lane and it can 

be seen that on this route there is no solid line, suggesting that it might 

be a route available to the public, leading directly off the awarded public 

road.  

Officers conclude from the Inclosure Award map that there was no 

recognised public footway existing over the land in question at the time 

of inclosure and no public footway to be set out and appointed by the 

Commissioners for public use. 

 

Page 110



3 
 

 

Porton Inclosure Award – 1850 

 

 

Document Parish Claim 

Date  Survey Date - 1950 

Relevant 

Documents 

Parish Claim Map 

Parish Record Cards 

Scale Map scale – 6” to 1 mile 

Significance The 1949 National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act required all 

Surveying Authorities to produce a definitive map and statement of 

public rights of way and to undertake a quinquennial review of this map. 

Following this instruction to authorities, Wiltshire County Council sent 6” 

OS map sheets to all Parish Councils, who surveyed and recorded what 

they considered to be public rights of way within their parish, with an 

accompanying description of each path. 

Page 111



4 
 

Parish Councils were required to convene a meeting at which the public 

rights of way information, to be provided to Wiltshire County Council, 

was agreed locally. This information was to form the basis of the 

definitive map and statement of public rights of way which was published 

and advertised between 1952 and 1953, depending upon the Rural 

District or Urban District area. 

Detailed guidance regarding the Parish Councils input into the definitive 

map process was issued and the Planning Inspectorate’s “Definitive 

Map Orders: Consistency Guidelines” state that the legal “presumption 

of regularity” applies, i.e. unless otherwise demonstrated, it should be 

assumed that the Parish Councils received this guidance and complied 

with it in undertaking the parish claim.  

Each stage of the process, i.e. the publication of the draft map and the 

provisional map was advertised and there was opportunity for comment 

and objection to the inclusion or non-inclusion of a path; its provisionally 

recorded status and route. 

Conclusion The claimed route is not recorded on the OS base map and it is not 

identified as a route to be claimed by the Parish Council. As a result 

there is no record card to accompany the map for this particular route. 

 

Page 112



5 
 

 

Idmiston Parish Claim map – 1950 

 

Document Idmiston Tithe Award (T/A Idmiston) 

Date  1841 

Relevant 

Documents 

Tithe Apportionment  

Tithe Award Map 

Scale Map Scale – 1” = 6 Chains 

Significance Parishioners once paid tithes to the church and its clergy in the form of 

payment in kind, for example grain comprising an agreed proportion of 

the annual profits of cultivation and farming. This gradually began to be 

replaced by monetary payment and this was formally recognised by the 

Tithe Commutation Act of 1836, which regularised this system. 

Tithe Awards are not a primary source of evidence as the 

apportionments and plans were produced as an official record of all 

titheable areas and it was not their main purpose to record highways. 

However, they can provide useful supporting evidence, as the existence 

of a highway could affect the productivity of the land and give important 

map orientation and plot boundary information, therefore the 

Page 113



6 
 

Commissioners has some interest in recording them. 

Additionally, the public provenance of the documents adds weight to the 

information recorded within them. 

Conclusion It is considered that the claimed route would be located to the south-

west of plot no.414, (awarded as “Two Tenements & Gardens”, which 

Officers believe to be the present day Rose Cottage), leading over plot 

no.415 which is described as “House Farm Buildings & Yards”.  

There appears to be a route off the main highway (the main highway is 

shaded sienna), in the corresponding location of the claimed route. It is 

open to the highway, but there is no continuation of the route in a 

westerly direction recorded on the map and is not coloured sienna as 

the part of the parish road network, (given the previous observations on 

the recording of The Lane in the Inclosure Award, it should be noted that 

The Lane is coloured sienna on the Tithe Award map).  

Officers consider that the Tithe Award records the private entrance to a 

complex of farm buildings, now removed, formerly part of Manor Farm.  

 

 

Idmiston Tithe Award Map - 1841 

Page 114



7 
 

Document Andrews’ and Dury’s Map of Wiltshire 

Date  1773 & 1810 

Relevant 

Documents 

1773 Index Map 

1773 Map Plate no.6 (of 18 plates) 

1810 Index Map 

1810 Map Plate no.15 (of 18 plates) 

Scale 1773 – 2 inches to 1 mile 

1810 – 2 inches to 1 mile 

Significance Commercial maps were produced for profit and intended for sale to the 

whole of the travelling public. Andrews’ and Dury’s Map of Wiltshire 

dated 1773 is a commercial map of the county based on original survey. 

The map is dedicated “To Noblemen Gentlemen Clergy shareholders of 

the County of Wilts This MAP is inscribed by their most obedient and 

devoted servants JOHN ANDREWS ANDREW DURY”. 

The 1810 second edition map is a corrected and updated edition of the 

1773 map. 

Due to the constraints of small scale mapping, it is unlikely that 

footpaths and bridleways would be recorded on these maps. 

Additionally, being for sale to the whole of the travelling public, the map 

makers would not have wished to encourage trespass onto private land 

or encourage vehicles onto a footpath, which would cause difficulty for 

the landowners from whom the map makers sought their subscriptions. 

Conclusion The claimed route is not recorded on the 1773 map or the 1810 revised 

edition, perhaps for the reasons given above and therefore these 

documents are inconclusive. 

 

Page 115



8 
 

 

Andrews’ and Dury’s Map of Wiltshire (Index Map) – 1773 

 

 

Andrews’ and Dury’s Map of Wiltshire (Plate 6) - 1773 

Page 116



9 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Andrews’ and Dury’s Map of      Andrews’ and Dury’s Map of  

Wiltshire (Index Map) – 1810     Wiltshire - 1810 

 

Document Greenwoods Map of Wiltshire (1820 – 1390/142 & 1829 – Map Folder 

3.3) 

Date  1820 & 1829 

Relevant 

Documents 

1820 = 4 map sheets of the County (reduced and folded), NE, NW, SE 

and SW (SE sheet is relevant) 

1829 Map of Wiltshire 

Size and Scale 1820 – Sheet size 75cm x 56.5cm (approx), Scale - 1 inch to 1 mile 

1829 – Sheet size 56.5cm x 68cm (approx), Scale - 1 inch to 3 miles 

Significance Greenwood re-surveyed and produced a set of updated County Maps 

between 1817 and 1839. Greenwood appears to have carried out actual 

survey, supported by existing secondary sources such as inclosure and 

estate maps; printed guide books; official sources and local knowledge 

collected by surveyors.  

Greenwoods first edition “Map of the County of Wilts from Actual 

Survey”, dated 1820 is a commercial map, produced for the travelling 

  

Page 117



10 
 

nobility who contributed to its production. The inscription reads “To the 

Nobility Clergy and Gentry of Wiltshire This Map of the County is most 

respectfully Dedicated by the proprietors”. 

Greenwood produced a revised and corrected map of Wiltshire in 1829. 

Conclusion The claimed footpath is not recorded in Greenwoods Map of 1820 and 

the revised version of 1829, perhaps due to the constraints of small 

scale mapping. 

 

 

Greenwoods Map of Wiltshire - 1820 

 

 

 

Page 118



11 
 

 

Greenwoods Map of Wiltshire - 1829 

 

Document Cary’s Maps  (1789 – 1390/141; 1801 – Map Folder 3.2; 1823 – Map 

Folder 3.2A; 1832 – Map Folder 3.4) 

Date  1789, 1801, 1823, 1832 

Relevant 

Documents 

1789 – Map of Wiltshire 

1801 – Map of Wiltshire 

1823 – Sheet 28 

Page 119



12 
 

1832 – Sheet 11 

Size and Scale 1789 – 54cm x 41.8cm (approx), Scale – 2.5 miles to 1 inch 

1801 – 55cm x 68cm (approx), Scale – 2.5 miles to 1 inch 

1823 – Sheet size 54.1cm x 67.3cm (approx), Scale – 2 miles to 1 inch 

1832 – Sheet size 56cm x 67.6cm (approx), Scale – 2 miles to 1 inch 

Significance John Cary was a cartographer, born in Warminster, Wiltshire in 1755, 

well known for his series of county maps. In 1794 he became Surveyor 

of Roads for the Postmaster General, charged with undertaking a survey 

of all main roads in England.  

Cary appears to have used actual survey, as well as the work of others, 

e.g. the Ordnance Survey, in the production of his maps. 

Conclusion The claimed route is not recorded on Cary’s maps, perhaps due to the 

constraints of small scale mapping. 

 

 

Cary’s Map of Wiltshire - 1789 

Page 120



13 
 

 

Cary’s Map of Wiltshire - 1801 

 

 

Cary’s Map - 1823 

Page 121



14 
 

 

 

Cary’s Map - 1832 

 

Document Ordnance Survey Map 

Date  Wiltshire portion surveyed 1876-77, Contoured  1882, Engraved 1882, 

Published 1883 

Relevant 

Documents 

OS Map Sheet no.61 

Size and scale Map Sheet Size 67cm x 98.5cm (approx), Scale - 6 inches to 1 mile 

Significance The Ordnance Survey was founded in 1791 due to demand from the 

military for accurate maps of southern England, in preparation for the 

Napoleonic War. In time the Ordnance Survey developed a range of 

maps varying in scale and level of detail, to meet changing needs for 

accurate and updated maps of the country. 

The maps are based on original survey with revisions and are 

topographical in nature, i.e. showing only physical features which are 

recorded by a particular surveyor at the time of survey, with place 

names and administrative boundaries added. Therefore, these maps 

individually can give little evidence of the status of a route shown, but 

when viewed alongside other documents, they can provide useful 

supporting information. 

Page 122



15 
 

Conclusion The claimed route is not recorded on the map, which suggests that there 

was no footpath visible on the ground, at the time of survey. 

 

 

Ordnance Survey Map 1883 – 6 inches to 1 mile 

 

Document Ordnance Survey Map  

Date  1877 

Relevant 

Documents 

Map Sheet 61/9 

OS book of reference relevant to the 1:2,500 parish plans (first editions 

only) and the 6” to 1 mile county plans 

Size and scale Map sheet size 64cm x 96.5cm (approx), Scale - 25 inches to 1 mile. 

Significance As above (please see entry for 1883 Ordnance Survey 6” map) 

Conclusion The claimed route is not recorded on the map. When the 1877 map is 

overlaid with modern mapping, it shows that the claimed route would 

lead through the Manor Farm complex, plot no.124, with the present 

Rose Cottage adjacent to the east.  

The OS book of reference, shows plot no.124 in the parish of Idmiston to 

be “Houses, gardens and yards” and the fields to the north, plot no.s 128 

Page 123



16 
 

and 127 to be “Pasture, & c”. After 1879 land use information was 

omitted and from around 1884 onwards area information appears on the 

maps). 

The book of reference makes no reference to a public route through the 

Manor Farm complex, which supports the route shown on the Tithe 

Award Map 1841; the Map of the Common Fields and Village of Porton 

c.1845 and Bonakers Farm Sale Particulars 1866, being a private 

access to the Manor Farm complex. 

It is interesting to note that “The Lane” is plot no.125 which is recorded 

as “Road”. 

 

 

Ordnance Survey Map 1877 – 25 inches to 1 mile 

 

Document Ordnance Survey Map  

Date  1901 

Relevant 

Documents 

Map Sheet 61/9 

Size Sheet size 64cm x 96.5cm (approx), Scale - 25 inches to 1 mile 

Page 124



17 
 

Significance As above (please see entry for 1883 Ordnance Survey 6” map) 

Conclusion The claimed route is not recorded on this map. The Manor Farm 

buildings and pasture over which Bourne Close is now built, remain, with 

some variations to the boundary of Rose Cottage. 

 

 

Ordnance Survey Map 1901 – 25 inches to 1 mile 

 

Document Ordnance Survey Map  

Date  1925 

Relevant 

Documents 

Map Sheet 61/9 

Size Sheet size 64cm x 96.5cm (approx), Scale - 25 inches to 1 mile. 

Significance As above (please see entry for 1883 Ordnance Survey 6” map) 

Conclusion The claimed route is not recorded on this map. 

 

Page 125



18 
 

 

Ordnance Survey Map 1925 – 25 inches to 1 mile 

 

Document Ordnance Survey Map  

Date  1939 

Relevant 

Documents 

Map Sheet 61/9 

Size Sheet size 64cm x 96.5cm (approx), Scale - 25 inches to 1 mile. 

Significance As above (please see entry for 1883 Ordnance Survey 6” map) 

Conclusion The claimed route is not recorded on this map. The Manor Farm building 

complex is now removed. 

 

Page 126



19 
 

 

Ordnance Survey Map 1939 - 25 inches to one mile 

 

Document Map of the Common Fields and Village of Porton (1236/16 MS) 

Date  c.1845 

Relevant 

Documents 

Map of the Common Fields and Village of Porton 

Size and scale Map size 75.5cm x 174cm (approx), no scale included 

Significance This map dates from around the time of the Tithe Award and reflects the 

Porton Inclosure Award map, certainly the roads are numbered as per 

the Inclosure Award, which it pre-dates. It appears to show new 

allotments to the Trustees of Messrs Evans’s Estate; Bonakers Estate; 

Late Lawrences Estate and the Trustees of Miss Isabella Bowles Estate.  

In its study of the Porton Inclosure Award of 1850, the Bourne Valley 

Historical Society observes that the Inclosure Award refers to the 

owners of the lands, all of whom were either the trustees of wills or of 

marriage settlements and that the agreement of the owners to inclosure 

had been given in 1842, but because of the death of one or more of the 

principals, there had been a delay. 

Page 127



20 
 

Conclusion The Manor Farm complex over which the claimed route would pass is 

recorded as per the Inclosure Award and the Tithe Award. It is 

interesting to note that at the entrance to the Manor Farm complex, 

there is a gate off of the main highway (Public Carriage Road no.1) and 

a further gate located north-west of this, between the buildings, leading 

into a second yard / field. There are 2 gates to the south of this yard / 

field, one leading into the field beyond and the other leading back into 

the first yard. It is possible that the public did walk through the gates, 

however there is no route recorded in the field beyond, towards the river 

Bourne.  

Perhaps a more plausible explanation is that the gates were part of a 

private access forming part of the Manor Farm buildings complex, which 

was then much larger than it is now. The other available mapping 

evidence supports this view, i.e. the Inclosure Award does not record a 

public footway at this location and none of the maps record a 

continuation of the route outside the Manor Farm complex, linking to 

other public highways. 

 

 

Map of the Common Fields and Village of Porton – c.1845 

 

Page 128



21 
 

Document Map of Manor Farm Porton (Reproduction) (X3/100) 

Date  1813 

Relevant 

Documents 

Map of Manor Farm Porton 

Size and scale Map size 70.4cm x 24.6cm (approx), Scale – 1 inch to 1 mile 

Significance “A Map of the Manor Farm in the Tything of Porton in the Parish of 

Idmiston in the County of Wilts The Property of John D’eyly Hutchens 

Esq May 1813” with the later annotation “Purchased by James Morrison 

Esq of William Dowden April 1831”. The plan appears to show the extent 

of the Manor Farm Estate, Porton.  

Conclusion The claimed footpath route is not recorded on this plan. 

 

 

Map of Manor Farm, Porton - 1813 

 

Document Porton, Bonakers Farm Sale Particulars 

Date  1866, 1872 

Relevant 

Documents 

Sale Particulars and Map 1866 

Sale Particulars and Map 1872 

Page 129



22 
 

Size and scale 1866 – Map size 39cm x 50.7cm (approx), Scale 2.5” to 15 chains 

1872 – Map size 27.2cm x 46.3cm (approx), Scale not given 

Significance Sale particulars can give useful information regarding the presence of 

public highways over the land, which proposed purchasers would need 

to be made aware of. The maps will be based on ordnance survey 

mapping. 

Conclusion The 1866 map, records the High Street, but does not record any of the 

buildings. When comparing this map against other mapping evidence it 

appears to show a spur off the High Street into the Manor Farm 

buildings complex, in a location corresponding with the claimed footpath 

route. However, this map cannot provide any other information on 

whether this is public or private route and given that the High Street is 

outside the area being sold, no additional information is provided within 

the sale particulars themselves. 

When considering the route shown on this map it is useful to look at the 

additional mapping evidence which supports the existence of a private 

access track to Manor Farm at this location. 

The 1872 sale map records the northern junction of the High Street with 

the Winterslow Road, Officers consider for the purposes of map 

orientation and location, but it does not record the High Street 

southwards to such an extent as to include the claimed route. Therefore 

no conclusions can be drawn from this map and the accompanying sale 

particulars. 

 

Page 130



23 
 

 

Bonakers Farm Sale Particulars Map -1866 

 

 

Bonakers Farm Sale Particulars Map Reference - 1866 

Page 131



24 
 

 

Bonakers Farm Sale Particulars Map – 1872  

 

Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



  1 
CM09791/F 

WILTSHIRE COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM NO.7 
 
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
6 April 2017 
 

 
HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 and WILDLIFE AND COUNTRYSIDE ACT 1981 

 
THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL CITY OF SALISBURY (STRATFORD SUB CASTLE) 

SALISBURY FOOPTATH NO. 6 DIVERSION ORDER 2016 AND DEFINITIVE MAP 
AND STATEMENT MODIFICATION ORDER 2016 

THE WILTSHIRE COUNCIL STRATFORD SUB CASTLE FOOTPATH LINKING 
SALISBURY 24 WITH SALISBURY 6 EXTINGUISHMENT ORDER 2016  

  
 
 

Purpose of Report 
 
1.  To:  
 

(i)  Consider the eighteen representations and one objection received to the 
making of The Wiltshire Council City of Salisbury (Stratford sub Castle) 
Salisbury Footpath No. 6 Diversion Order 2016 and Definitive Map 
Modification Order 2016 and The Wiltshire Council Stratford sub Castle 
Footpath Linking Salisbury 24 with Salisbury 6 Extinguishment Order 
2016 

  
(ii) Recommend that the Orders be forwarded to the Secretary of State for 

Environment, Food and Rural Affairs with the notification that Wiltshire 
Council supports the confirmation of both Orders as made.   

 
The Orders have been made concurrently and must be considered together.  
The Orders are appended at Appendix A. 
 

Relevance to Council’s Business Plan 
 
2. Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network which is fit 

for purpose, making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit. 
 
Background 
 

3. On 25 October 2016 Wiltshire Council received an application to divert part 
 of footpath Salisbury 6 at Stratford sub Castle.   
 
4. Part of footpath Salisbury 6 is affected by planning permission that has been 
 granted (16/00743/FUL) for the replacement of a garage, alteration of vehicular 
 access and a new boundary wall at Parsonage Farm House and the footpath 
 would  need to be diverted to enable the consented development to proceed. 
 
 
 

Page 209

Agenda Item 7



  2 
CM09791/F 

5. However, the recorded route of footpath Salisbury 6 in this area has been 
 obstructed since 1960 (it now passes through two buildings and the gardens of 
 three properties) and since that time the public have used an alternative path 
 which passes broadly parallel to the recorded line but further to the north.  The 
 Council has no record of any complaints relating to this situation. 
 
6. This used path passes through the curtilage of a number of properties and a 
 barn area and has two stiles and one gate along its route. 
 
7. The applicant has obtained the agreement of four other landowners affected by 
 both routes to provide just one alternative route which leads north of all the 
 property gardens and along the edge of an adjoining field. 
 
8. The new alternative route has been provided and is in daily use by the public 
 who, almost exclusively, appear to prefer the new route to the old routes 
 (either the definitive line or the unrecorded used route).  
 
9. To protect the landowners from this third route acquiring public rights before the 
 other routes are extinguished the route has been signed as a permissive route.  
 This has the effect of preventing a dedication by statute or at common law.   
 
10. If the Orders are confirmed the route would be re-signed as a public footpath and 
 would no longer be subject to a revocable permission.  Copies of the Orders and 
 Order plans are appended here at Appendix A. 
 
11. Two Orders were duly advertised, one to to divert Salisbury 6 onto the new 
 route and the other to extinguish the unrecorded route.  They have attracted one 
 objection that has not been withdrawn.  Eighteen representations in support 
 have also been received.   
 
12. A copy of the decision to make the Orders is appended at Appendix B.   
 
13. Wiltshire Council may not confirm any Orders that have been objected to and 
 must now consider whether it supports the Orders or not.  As the making of 
 Orders under Sections 118 and 119 are a power of the Council and not a duty, if 
 the Council no longer supports the Orders the Orders may be abandoned. 
 
Main Considerations for the Council 
 

14. The law relating to these Orders is fully laid out in Section 6.0 of Appendix B. 
 The legal tests contained within Sections 118 and 119 of the Highways Act 1980 
 must now be re- considered with regard to the representations and objection 
 received. 
 
15. Representations 
 
 (1) Mr and Mrs R Winson, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “We are writing to you in connection with an application to divert a local footpath 
 that is currently being considered by Wiltshire Council. 
 
 We have lived at Stratford sub Castle for 3 years and being keen walkers have 
 explored all of the local footpaths.  Last year we noted that an application had 

Page 210



  3 
CM09791/F 

 been submitted to divert the nearest footpath to our home, the one that runs from 
 behind Dairy Cottage towards St Lawrence Church.  The landowners have 
 opened up a permissive path on the line of the proposed route so it very easy to 
 see what an improvement over the old route it would be. 
 
 In our opinion the main benefits will be: 
 

- The proposed path will be more open than the old narrower path that gave 
one a sense of being ‘hemmed in’ between fences, houses, a barn and 
stabling; 

- an improved walking surface on a higher elevation that will be better drained 
than the old path that was frequently muddy/water logged; 

- improved views across the fields to Old Sarum Iron Age Fort and towards St 
Lawrence Church; 

- there will not be any stiles on the proposed route, which our young grandson 
finds difficult to climb; 

- the footpath will be further away from Stratford Road and any resulting traffic 
noise. 

 
 We therefore fully support the current proposal to divert the footpath.” 
 
 (2) Wiltshire Councillor Mary Douglas  
 
 “As the Wiltshire Councillor for this area, I would like to formally put on record my 
 support for the proposed footpath alteration.” 
 
 (3)  Tamsin Gray, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “I am writing in favour of the amended footpath below Old Sarum – footpath 
 Salisbury 6. 
 
 We live in Stratford sub castle and often take the kids out walking in the local 
 area, especially up and around Old Sarum.  The revised path is so much more 
 pleasant to walk now this runs on the field side of the farm buildings with open 
 views of Old Sarum, instead of down a narrow, muddy path.  It is also easier to 
 access with a buggy as there are no gates or stiles. 
 
 I hope that the application is approved, as this will benefit all walkers using this 
 path.” 
 
 (4)  Mr B Richardson, Salisbury 
 
 “As a recent resident of Stratford sub Castle, I write in support of the above 
 application to confirm the revised pathway.  This has been in use for some time 
 and is supported by County officials, the Ramblers Association and residents 
 alike.  Situated on the field side of the buildings with clear views of Old Sarum 
 and free from styles or gates, it is in every way more satisfactory than the 
 pathway shown on the map which snakes through private gardens.” 
 
 
 
 

Page 211



  4 
CM09791/F 

 (5)  Pam Roquette, Co-ordinator Salisbury Walking for Health 
 
 “Cllr. John Walsh has asked me to write to you in support of the diversion of 
 footpath SALS6.  The reason for my involvement is that I am the Co-ordinator for 
 Salisbury Walking for Health which leads walks in the Salisbury area for groups, 
 with a particular emphasis on keeping people active into older life.  Many of them 
 have some mobility difficulties and stiles are a particular problem.   
  
 The original route of SALS6 had a number of stiles which had fallen into 
 disrepair and so was no longer suitable for our group of walkers.  When I raised 
 the issue with Nick Cowen about the possibility of replacing the stiles with kissing 
 gates he informed me of the planned diversion which I supported as it solved the 
 problem of the stiles and provided a pleasant alternative route with views of Old 
 Sarum.   
  
 I understand that the ‘Permissive Path’ designation is purely temporary until such 
 time as the legal process of path diversion has been completed after which it will 
 become the new Right of Way.  Is this still the case? 
  
 The correspondence with the objector, Ms Penny Fulton, is somewhat confusing 
 but I do have one query which she has raised and concerns the wording used on 
 the Council website relating to this path diversion.  It says under ‘Reasons… the 
 definitive line has not been available since 1960, the proposed line has been the 
 used route.’  Where can I read the full advertisement? 
  
 I remain fully supportive of this diversion but as this lady is going to challenge it I 
 wanted to be sure that this statement is in fact correct before it goes any further.  
 Perhaps you could explain exactly what is meant.  As far as I am aware the 
 definitive path passed on the SW side of the barn not to the NE side which is the 
 line of the new permissive path.” 
 
 Officers responded to explain that the Permissive Path signage would only be 
 relevant to the point when the Orders were confirmed and the route certified, that 
 the full advertisement could be found in the Salisbury Journal and on site (and a 
 copy was sent to Ms Roquette) and that the definitive line was a line further 
 south west of the used route but that in any event both routes passed on the SW 
 side of the barn with the ‘new’ route passing on the NE side. 
 
 (6)  Mr and Mrs B Weatherley 
 
 “We write in strong support of the proposed diversion to widen the footpath to 
 benefit the entire village of Stratford sub Castle.  It would make it more family 
 friendly, open up the beautiful views and would avoid gates and styles.” 
 
 (7)  Mr and Mrs B Sammons, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “I am writing to express our support for the changes to the above footpath.  As 
 dog walkers we have regularly used the ‘old’ path but find the proposed new one 
 to be much more accessible since it is so much wider and also more easy to 
 navigate because there isn’t a stile; as we get old climbing becomes more 
 hazardous!  There is also the added advantage that the widened footpath is 
 more accessible for disabled people.” 

Page 212



  5 
CM09791/F 

 (8)  Ms M Yeung, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “I would like to say how pleased I am that this footpath has been moved and now 
 continues behind the barn at Stratford sub Castle.  The new position allows 
 much easier access as there are no styles, does not suffer from mud as the 
 farmyard does and there is no danger of my dogs running onto the road.  It is 
 also better for the people using the barn and stables as they are no longer 
 inconvenienced by walkers and dogs.” 
 
 (9)  Janet Brownlie – walker and tenant of the barn, stables and fields 
 
 19 January 2017 “As a regular user of the above footpath I strongly support the 
 proposal to divert it.  The new one is a huge improvement on the existing one, 
 being wider, straighter and without the stile (also being wider it affords 
 wheelchair access, and is much better for dog walkers, especially those with 
 numerous pooches!).” 
 
 30 January 2017 “Further to my email of 19th January, I would like to augment 
 my reasons for supporting the diversion of the existing footpath to the new one in 
 my capacity as tenant of Mr and Mrs Harrison and Mr Nick Croome. 
 
 I have rented the 9 acre field from them since 2005 for grazing my ponies, but 
 have kept ponies at Parsonage Farm for over 60 years (intermittently). This field 
 is bordered by two footpaths, one leading to Old Sarum and the other which has 
 currently been in use for many years and is now being proposed for diversion. 
  
 The proposed diversion has my full support and will be of benefit to me in 
 several ways. Firstly, the creation of the proposed footpath has resulted in the 
 splitting of the field into a smaller lower paddock and a larger field. This will be 
 invaluable in controlling the weight of the ponies, especially in the summer when 
 too much grass can cause laminitis, which is a painful condition of the feet. 
  
 Secondly, my ponies are stabled at night which entails turning them out in the 
 morning and bringing them in at night. To access the fields from the stables I use 
 the unnumbered footpath, and although this is of the correct width it is certainly 
 not wide enough for a pony, their handler and a walker, especially if they have 
 dogs with them, as many do.  (All concerned become understandably nervous in 
 this situation)  Also with so many users of this rather narrow path it becomes 
 very muddy, poached up and uneven, leading to justifiable complaints. It is far 
 better for walkers to use the new proposed route. Mr and Mrs Harrison do not 
 intend to close off to me the part of the unnumbered footpath affected by the 
 poaching and this access to the stabling will continue to be available to me. 
 
 Thirdly, there is a certain amount of vehicular traffic in the farmyard which is 
 currently crossed by the unnumbered footpath. This traffic is associated with my 
 ponies, other farm use and by the joint owners of the farm, so consequently it 
 would be much safer if walkers were kept away from this area and used the 
 proposed route.  
 
 Finally, although a minor point, I have occasionally suffered from theft of 
 equipment from the barn adjoining the footpath and use of the proposed route is 
 likely to lessen this in that visual access to the barn is restricted.  
 
 I hope these points will be taken into consideration.” Page 213



  6 
CM09791/F 

 (10)  Mr S Brown, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “I write to support the re-routing of the footpath Sal 6 in Stratford sub Castle to 
 the new alignment as currently fenced.  We have lived in Stratford sub Castle 
 since 1985 and regularly use the path.” 
 
 (11) Dr and Mrs K O’Connor, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “We have lived across the road from this footpath for 30 years and fully support 
 the wish of the landowners to make the footpath that is actually used the officially 
 recognised route.” 
 
 (12)  Mr and Mrs N James, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 Originally submitted an objection but withdrew it as follows: 
 
 “We (Noel and I) are now very happy to say “we withdraw our objections to this 
 change as we see the change is in fact exactly what we wanted for the people of 
 Salisbury going forward, the permissive way to become a permanent and much 
 nicer right of way.” 
 
 (13)  Ms S Peto Bostick, Dorset (parents live in Stratford sub Castle) 
 
 “I write in strong support of the proposed diversion that is planned to widen the 
 footpath.  This is an excellent plan that would benefit the entire village of 
 Stratford sub Castle making it more family friendly, avoiding gates and stiles and 
 encouraging the use and appreciation of the Wiltshire Countryside.” 
 
 (14) Mr and Mrs J Hobson, Salisbury 
 
 “I am writing in support of the revised footpath 6 Stratford sub Castle.  My 
 husband and I are regular walkers on this path and find this route a great 
 improvement. There are no stiles or gates to negotiate which makes the path a 
 much more relaxed proposition for us.  We are both in our mid to late sixties and 
 walking is our main exercise and this route currently is a pleasure.  Please bring 
 these comments to the relevant authority.” 
 
 (15)  Ms L Pender, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “I am writing to support the diversion of footpath Sal 1 (sic).  As well as being an 
 improvement on the present footpath it is also very wheelchair and disability 
 friendly as there are no stiles or gates.” 
 
 (16)  Mr and Mrs D Pullen, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “We are writing to support the application to amend the route of this footpath 
 through Stratford sub Castle.  As residents of Stratford, my wife and I have used 
 this footpath on a daily basis for decades.  The revised route gives many 
 benefits to users.  It is straighter and more logical and avoids the unnecessary 
 dog-leg around a barn, giving uninterrupted views of Old Sarum.  The path is 
 much wider as its most narrow part and therefore far less muddy at this time of 

Page 214



  7 
CM09791/F 

 year.  It also removes 2 stiles from the path which will be welcomed by elderly 
 walkers and those using buggies. 
 
 With these benefits in mind, we hope the new route will be accepted without too 
 much delay.” 
 
 (17)  Ms C Weatherley 
 
 “I write in strong support of the proposed diversion to widen the footpath to 
 benefit the entire village of Stratford sub Castle.  It would make it more family 
 friendly, open up the beautiful vista and would avoid gates and stiles.” 
 
 (18)  Mr and Mrs. Potter, Stratford sub Castle 
 
 “I am writing to say I am very happy with the deviation to this footpath.  Indeed it 
 is actually safer as there is no style to get over!” 
 
 “The new route for Footpath Sal 6 is a great improvement as the route is now 
 more accessible”. 
 
16. Objections 
 
 Two objections were duly made but subsequently withdrawn.  These were  from 
 Mr and Mrs N James (who subsequently made a representation in support) and 
 Dr A Baxter who wrote on 31 January 2017: 
 
  “Having read the decision report  in detail, I can see that the issues raised in my 
 original email have either been addressed or will be addressed shortly.  As such, 
 I am withdrawing my objection to the removal of footpath No. 6 Stratford sub 
 Castle.” 
 
17. One objection remains.  This is from Ms P Fulton of Salisbury.  Ms Fulton has 
 sent a number of e-mails and a postal submission, all of which are attached here 
 at Appendix C.  Her points of objection are wide ranging and various. 
 
Comments on the representations and objection 
 
18.  Members of the Committee are now required to consider the representations and 

objection received. 
 
19. Members are asked to bear in mind the legal tests associated with s.118 

(extinguishment) and s.119 (diversion) of the Highways Act 1980.  The tests in 
s.118 require the Council to consider whether the path is needed or likely to be 
needed for public use and the effects of any closure of the way on any land 
served by the right of way.  The s.118 Order has been made concurrently with 
the s.119 Order but the Council must also consider the effects of the 
extinguishment apart from the diversion.  The Council must also consider any 
provisions in the Rights of Way Improvement Plan. 

 
20. The tests within s.119 (diversion) in relation to the confirmation of the Order 

require the Council to be satisfied that the diversion is expedient as detailed in 
s.119(1) and (2) i.e. relating to interest of the landowner and whether any new 

Page 215



  8 
CM09791/F 

termination point is substantially as convenient and whether the new path or way 
will not be substantially less convenient for the public.   Further, that it is 
expedient to confirm the Order having regard to the effect which the diversion 
will have on public enjoyment of the path or way, the effect on land affected by 
the removal of the ‘old ‘path and the effect on land affected by the addition of the 
‘new’ path. 

 
21. In the Council’s Decision Report to make the Orders (Appendix B) all of these 

considerations were made and can be found at Section 7. 
 
22. The representations serve to confirm the view of officers in that report, especially 

with regard to the convenience of the new route and the improved enjoyment of 
the route as a whole when the ‘new’ path is used as a part of it. 

 
23. The objection (Appendix C) raises almost no matters that are relevant to the 

confirmation of either Order.  Although Ms Fulton prefers the used route (as 
proposed for extinguishment in the s.118 Order) to the ‘new’ route it is clear that 
the majority of respondents prefer the ‘new’ route for a variety of reasons.  The 
provision of the ‘new’ route means the public do not need to use either the old 
used route or the definitive line (both of which suffer from reduced accessibility 
and less enjoyable views) and accordingly it is considered that the public will not 
need to use either the used or definitive routes in the future.  Although Ms Fulton 
raises concerns over the tenant’s (Ms Brownlie) access to the stables and barn 
as a result of the ‘used’ route being extinguished, it is clear from Ms Brownlie’s 
response that she very much approves of the proposals and can see great 
advantages in them both as a tenant and as a walker. 

 
24. Officers highlighted the irrelevancies of the objections in a letter to Ms Fulton 

dated 3 February 2017 (see below) and invited her to withdraw her objection,  
however no response was received. 

 
 “Further to the advertisement of the above Orders the Council has received one 

objection (from yourself) to the Orders and 15 representations in support of the 
Orders.  Unless the objection is withdrawn the Order may only be confirmed by 
the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (SoSEFRA). 

 
 It is the usual practice of the Council, in the interests of preserving public funds, 

where objections to an Order are either irrelevant to the law being applied or are 
clearly outweighed by other evidence, to seek the withdrawal of the objections 
and this letter asks you consider withdrawing your objection after consideration 
of the points outlined below. 

 
 (i) Costs  The applicant for the Orders pays all associated costs related to the 

making and confirmation of an Order.  Hence there is no expenditure of public 
funds where the Order receives no objections or any received are withdrawn.  
Where an objection is received and sustained the Council may not re-charge 
costs related to the process of determination SoSEFRA.  These costs may be as 
high as £3,000 and must be funded from public funds. 

 
 (ii) Planning and Development Concerns  While officers have sympathies with 

your concerns relating to the spread of development in rural areas these matters 
are not relevant to these Orders and will not be considered by SoSEFRA.  The 

Page 216



  9 
CM09791/F 

forum for objection to such matters is the public consultation stage of the 
planning application process and, in the case of the garage at this site, this has 
passed.  

 
 (iii)  Permissive routes  Although the proposed diversion route is currently 

signed as a permissive path in the event that the Orders are confirmed these 
signs will be removed and the way will become a public right of way giving the 
public a right to pass and repass that may only be changed by another legal 
Order.  Had the landowner not put these signs in place while allowing the public 
to use the route he would have risked another public right of way being formed 
giving the properties three rights of way all within a few metres of each other.   

 
 (iv)  Motivation of the applicant This matter is irrelevant for the purposes of 

s.119 and s.118 of the Highways Act 1980 and would be disregarded by 
SoSEFRA.  What is important is whether the legal tests contained in Sections 
118 and 119 are met.  It is both the officers’ view and that of the fifteen people 
who made representations that they are more than adequately met. 

 
 (v)  Duplicity  Two Orders have been made as this is the only way to address 

the issues at this location.  One Order diverts the definitive line to the proposed 
new path and the other Order extinguishes any rights that may have been 
acquired over the unrecorded route the public have used in the past. It is 
appreciated that this may appear confusing but this is the correct approach. 

 
 (vi)  The View of the Tenant  The tenant of the land has written to the Council 

expressing support for the Order which improves the way she may manage the 
grazing and improves her ability to control access and the security of the barn 
and stables that she uses. 

 
 (vii)  Consultation  The Council can ably demonstrate that it has consulted not 

only in accordance with the legislation but far wider than is required by law.  Any 
view that a more extensive consultation is required may be valid in the wider 
context but is not a matter that can be addressed by SoSEFRA who will only 
work within the existing statutory framework. 

 
 If you are minded to withdraw your objection I would be pleased to hear from you 

within 14 days of the date of this letter.  However, if I do not hear from you I will 
commence the unfunded part of the process and refer the matter to the Southern 
Area Planning Committee who will consider the Orders at a public meeting.  I will 
of course keep you informed as to the date and venue.” 

 
Safeguarding Considerations 
 
25.   There are no safeguarding considerations associated with the confirmation of the 

making of this Order. 
 
Public Health Implications 
 
 26. There are no identified public health implications which arise from the 

confirmation of the making of this Order. 
 
 

Page 217



  10 
CM09791/F 

Corporate Procurement Implications 
 
27. In the event this Order is forwarded to the Secretary of State there are a number 
 of opportunities for expenditure that may occur and these are covered in 
 paragraphs 31 to 34 of this report. 
 
Environmental and Climate Change Considerations 
 
28. There are no environmental or climate change concerns associated with the 

confirmation of the making of this Order. 
 
Equalities Impact of the Proposal 
 
29.  The new route is more accessible than the definitive line or the route to be 
 extinguished and would therefore be more accessible for walkers with mobility or 
 sight impairments.  
 
Risk Assessment 
 
30.  There are no identified risks which arise from the confirmation of the making of 

these Orders. The financial and legal risks to the Council are outlined in the 
“Financial Implications” and “Legal Implications” sections below.  

 
Financial Implications 
 
31. The applicant has agreed to pay all of the Council’s costs associated with the 

making of the Order, with the advertisement of the confirmed Order and with the 
creation of the new path.   However, Wiltshire Council is not empowered to 
charge the applicant any costs related to forwarding the application to the 
Secretary of State for confirmation by the Planning Inspectorate and accordingly 
will have to fund these from existing rights of way budgets. 

 
32.  Where there are outstanding objections to the making of Orders, the Committee 

may resolve that Wiltshire Council continues to support the making and 
confirmation of the Orders. The Orders will then be determined by the Planning 
Inspectorate by way of written representations, local hearing or local public 
inquiry, all of which have a financial implication for the Council. If the case is 
determined by written representations the cost to the Council is negligible; 
however, where a local hearing is held the costs to the Council are estimated to 
be around £200 and £1,000 to £3,000 where the case is determined by local 
public inquiry with legal representation (£200 without).  

 
33. There are no costs associated with the Council resolving to abandon the Orders 

though the Council may be liable to Judicial Review and associated costs as a 
result of that action (see paragraph 34 below).  

 
Legal Implications 
 
34. Where the Council does not support confirmation of the making of the Orders 

and resolves to abandon them, clear reasons for this must be given and must 
relate to the legal tests contained within s.118 and s.119 of the Highways Act 
1980.  The applicant may seek judicial review of the Council’s decision if this is 
seen as incorrect by them. The cost for this may be up to £50,000.  

Page 218



  11 
CM09791/F 

Options Considered 
 
35.   Members may resolve that:  
 

(i)   The Orders are forwarded to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food 
and Rural Affairs for confirmation as made. 

 
(ii) The Orders are forwarded to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food 

and Rural Affairs for confirmation with modifications. 
 
(iii) The Orders are revoked and abandoned. 

 
Reason for Proposal 
 

36. Officers consider that the proposal to divert the definitive line to the ‘new’ route 
 offers the public a greatly improved route that is more accessible for a greater 
 range of people, wider, easier to locate and use and with improved views of Old 
 Sarum.  The definitive line has been obstructed for more than fifty years and 
 although the route must be viewed as available when considering the legal tests 
 it is clear that the public had no desire to use it during that time and used an 
 alternative route close by (the ‘used’ route). 
 
37. The ‘used’ route, being just a few metres from both the definitive line and the 
 ‘new’ route is not needed and will not be needed in future.  The public have 
 expressed a clear preference for the ‘new’ route as witnessed by their use of it 
 and the representations of support contained within this report. 
 
38. It is considered that all of the legal tests have been met with regard to the two 
 Orders and that they should be confirmed.  It is highly likely that with such a low 
 level of objection the Planning Inspectorate would choose to determine the 
 Orders either by written representations (at no additional cost to the Council) or, 
 if the objector wishes to be heard, at a local public hearing (at a cost of around 
 £200).  It is therefore considered that even if expenditure from public funds is 
 incurred the resolution of matters on the ground at this location will greatly 
 enhance both the public’s experience and also the Council’s ability to assert and 
 protect the rights in the future. 
 
Proposal 
 

39. That The Wiltshire Council City of Salisbury (Stratford sub Castle) Salisbury 
Footpath No. 6 Diversion Order 2016 and Definitive Map Modification Order 
2016 and The Wiltshire Council Stratford sub Castle Footpath Linking Salisbury 
24 with Salisbury 6 Extinguishment Order 2016 are forwarded to the Secretary of 
State for the Environment, Food and Rural affairs with the recommendation that 
they be confirmed as made. 

 
 
Tracy Carter 
Associate Director – Waste and Environment 
 
Report Author: 
Sally Madgwick 
Rights of Way Officer – Definitive Map 

Page 219



  12 
CM09791/F 

 

 
The following unpublished documents have been relied on in the preparation of 
this Report: 
 
 None 
 
Appendices: 
 
 Appendix A  - Orders 
 Appendix B  - Decision Report 
 Appendix C – Objection from Ms Fulton 
 
 
  
 

Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



P
age 224



Page 225



Page 226



P
age 227



Page 228



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 1 of 17 

 

DECISION REPORT 

HIGHWAYS ACT 1980 S.119 and S.118  

 

PROPOSED DIVERSION OF PART OF SALISBURY FOOTPATH No. 6 AND 

EXTINGUISHMENT OF AN UNRECORDED LENGTH OF PATH AT 

STRATFORD SUB CASTLE 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

 

 (i) To consider an application to divert part of Salisbury footpath no. 6 and a length of 

 unrecorded path at Stratford Sub Castle, Salisbury. 

 (ii) To recommend that Wiltshire Council makes orders under s.119 and s.118 of  the 

 Highways Act 1980 (HA80) and s.53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 

 (WCA81) to effect this change.   

2.0 Background 

2.1 On the 25th October 2016 Wiltshire Council received an application to divert 

 footpaths at Stratford sub Castle to enable a permitted development to proceed. 

2.2 Planning consent had been granted (16/00743/FUL) for the replacement of an 

 existing garage, the alteration of vehicular access and a new boundary wall at 

 Parsonage Farm House, Stratford Road, Stratford sub Castle, SP1 3LH. 

2.3 The permitted development obstructs the line of footpath Salisbury no. 6 which 

 would need to be diverted to allow the development to proceed. 

2.4 It would be usual to achieve this under s.257 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

 1990, however, matters relating to the right of way at this site (and at neighbouring 

 properties) are complicated by existing obstructions to Salisbury path no. 6 and of an 

 additional but unrecorded path that the public have used instead of Salisbury path 

 no. 6 for a period exceeding 20 years. 

2.5 It is not just Parsonage Farm House that is affected by this alternative route.  In total 

 the anomaly affects the following landowners: 

 i) Mr and Mrs Harrison, The Parsonage, Stratford sub Castle (the applicant) 

 ii) Mr and Mrs Griffiths, The Stables, Stratford sub Castle 

 iii) Mr and Mrs Winders, Mistral, Stratford sub Castle 

 iv) Ms Steer, Parsonage Close, Stratford sub Castle 

 v) Mr Groom, Dairy Cottage, Stratford sub Castle 

2.6 All parties have agreed to the diversions proposed in the application. 

APPENDIX B 

Page 229



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 2 of 17 

 

2.7 It is an agreed point between all parties (including officers of the Council) that the 

 unrecorded alternative route may, on the balance of probability and based on public 

 use for at least 20 years, be a public footpath in addition to the one adjacent to it, 

 Salisbury path no. 6. 

2.8 The application seeks to resolve this anomaly by diverting both the walked route and 

 the definitive line to a new route a few metres to the north. 

2.9 It is therefore recognised that whilst this application offers an excellent opportunity to 

 not only divert a path to enable a development to proceed but also to resolve an 

 anomaly, it goes beyond the extent of the boundaries of the permitted development 

 and accordingly, s.257 of the Town and Country Planning Act may not be used.  

2.10 It is therefore proposed that the application is considered under s.118 and s.119 of 

 the Highways Act 1980 with the proposed new route being an alternative for 

 Salisbury footpath 6 under s.119 and with the used route being extinguished by 

 s.118.  Any Orders made to achieve this would be made concurrently. 

2.11 Application plan 

 

Page 230



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 3 of 17 

 

2.12 The existing route of Salisbury no. 6 crosses 4 property boundaries and is shown by 

 the solid black line in the plan above.  One stile and two gates are provided near to 

 the definitive line.  The route is currently obstructed but the Council must consider it 

 as if it were open and available for use. 

2.13 The route that the public have used for at least 20 years (as shown by a solid green 

 line in the plan above) has been indicated by signs and provided for.  It uses one 

 stile and two gates and leads along the northern boundaries of the residential 

 enclosures that are Dairy Cottage, Mistral and Parsonage Farm before leading south 

 west of field buildings to enter the field and to rejoin the existing route. 

2.14 The proposed new route (as shown by a pecked line in the plan above) is 

 approximately 12 metres further to the north east and leads along a defined fenced 

 track bisecting the fields.  It has already been constructed and is in clear use by the 

 public.  It provides a well defined straight line route with excellent views of Old 

 Sarum to the north east.  There are no gates or stiles along it and it has a uniform 

 width of 3 metres. 

3.0 Consultation 

3.1 The following letter and plan were circulated: 

 Highways Act 1980 s.118 and s.119  

 Application to divert part of footpath Salisbury no. 6 at Stratford sub Castle, 

 SP1 3LH 

 Wiltshire Council has received an application to divert part of footpath Salisbury no. 6 

 at Stratford sub Castle.   Although part of the path will need to be diverted to enable 

 a permitted development to proceed (the erection of a garage  as permitted by 

 application 16/00743/FUL) it is clear that where the footpath passes through a 

 number of adjacent properties the definitive line (shown from A to B as a solid black 

 line) is not followed by the public who have, since c.1960, used a slightly different 

 line (shown from A to B in yellow on the attached plan). 

 It is proposed that an improved line for the path may be provided (shown from A to C 

 as a black pecked line on the attached plan) which removes the path from the 

 residential curtilage of several properties while offering the public better views of Old 

 Sarum, less stiles and gates and an improved width of between 2 and 3 metres.  The 

 route is very slightly shorter than either of the existing routes.   

 It is proposed that the definitive line is diverted to the new route (pecked line A to C) 

 under the powers of s.119 of the 1980 Act and that the unrecorded route (the used 

 route) is extinguished under s.118 of the 1980 Act.  If you have any comments or 

Page 231



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 4 of 17 

 

 observations on the proposal I will be pleased to receive them by the 2nd December 

 2016. 

 

3.2 This was circulated to the following: 

 The Auto Cycle Union  Open Spaces and Footpaths Society 

 Wiltshire Bridleways Association Wiltshire Cycling Touring Club 

 British Horse Society  Salisbury City Council 

 Wiltshire Councillor M Douglas Wiltshire British Horse Society 

 Byways and Bridleways Trust British Driving Society 

 Wiltshire Council Rights of Way Warden 

 Ramblers (Wiltshire)  Ramblers (South Wiltshire) 

 Wiltshire Council County Ecologist 

 Trail Riders Fellowship  Mr and Mrs A Harrison (applicant) 

 Mr and Mrs R Griffiths (landowner) 

 Mr and Mrs J Winders (landowner) 

 Ms Y Steer (landowner)  Mr N Croom (landowner) 

 Wessex Water   Scottish and Southern Electric 

 Wales and West Utilities  National Grid (gas and electricity) 

 BT Openreach   Virgin Media  

 Linsearch beforeUdig  Digdat 

 

Page 232



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 5 of 17 

 

4.0 Consultation Responses 

4.1 Linesearch beforeUdig 27 October 2016 

 Virgin Media 27 October 2016 

 BT Openreach 27 October 2016 

 National Grid 27 October 2016 

 

 No apparatus affected. 

4.2 Wiltshire Councillor Mary Douglas 01 November 2016 

 “I am happy with the application to divert part of Salisbury no. 6 at Stratford sub 

 Castle SP1 3LH.” 

4.3 Mr and Mrs R Griffiths 02 November 2016  

 “We are simply writing to record that we are both very much in agreement with the 

 application to divert the footpath as indicated in those plans. 

 What you haven’t mentioned is that, when there is a lot or rain, the existing footpath 

 because it is narrower and is churned up by horses, becomes like a First World War 

 battlefield and the diversion proposed would avoid that in addition to the other 

 advantages you mention.” 

 Case officer’s comment:  Part of the unrecorded route leads through fields that are 

 used for horse grazing.  The proposed new route would not and would lead along a 

 path fenced away from the field. 

 

  

5.0 Existing Records : Definitive Map and Statement 

 Footpath Salisbury no. 5 was added to the definitive map and statement in 1953 and 

 has not been affected by any legal events since that time.  The definitive statement 

 records: 

 

 

Page 233



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 6 of 17 

 

Salisbury  6 FOOTPATH.  From the Portway, path No.3, south-west 

of Portway Cottage, leading north-west through 

Parsonage Farm and across Grabbage Lane to road C.1, 

south of Dean's Farm. 

Approximate length 1189 m. 

Width 2 m - 2.14 m. 

relevant date 

Subject to ploughing 

 

 

Extract from the working copy of the definitive map showing: 

Footpaths = purple 

Bridleways = green 

Restricted byways = red 

Page 234



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 7 of 17 

 

 

 Extract showing affected section of Salisbury 6 

6.0 Considerations for the Council 

6.1 Wiltshire Council has the power to make orders for the diversion of public paths 

 under s.119 of the Highways Act 1980. 

6.2 Section 119(1) of the Highways Act 1980 states that: 

 “Where it appears to a Council as respects a footpath, bridleway or restricted byway 

 in their area (other than one that is a trunk road or a special road) that in the 

 interests of the owner, lessee or occupier of land crossed by the path or way or of 

 the public, it is expedient that the line of the path or way, or part of that line, should 

 be diverted (whether on to land of the same or of another owner, lessee or occupier), 

 the Council may, subject to subsection (2) below, by order made by them and 

 submitted to and confirmed by the Secretary of State, or confirmed as an unopposed 

 order: 

 (a) create, as from such date as may be specified in the order, any such new 

 footpath, bridleway or restricted byway as appears to the council requisite for 

 effecting the diversion, and 

 (b) extinguish, as from such date as may be [specified in the order or 

 determined]  in accordance with the provisions of subsection (3) below, the public 

 right of way over so much of the path or way as appears to the Council requisite as 

 aforesaid.   

6.3 Section 119(2) of the Highways Act 1980 states: 

Page 235



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 8 of 17 

 

 “A public path diversion order shall not alter a point of termination of the path or way: 

 (a) if that point is not on a highway; or 

 (b) (where it is on a highway) otherwise than to another point which is on the  

  same highway, or a highway connected with it, and which is substantially as 

  convenient to the public”.  

6.4 Although the Council is only required to consider s.119(1) and (2) to make an order it 

 is clear that it is appropriate for it to also consider s.119(6) at the order making stage. 

6.5  In Hargrave v Stroud DC [2002] EWCA Civ 1281, Schieman L.J. stated that:  

 “On the face of the subsection therefore the authority has discretion as to whether or 

 not to make an order.  I do not consider that the mere fact that it is expedient in the 

 interests of the owner that the line of the path should be diverted means that 

 Parliament has imposed on the authority a duty to make such an order once it is 

 satisfied that this condition precedent has been fulfilled.” 

6.6 Subsection (6)  of s.119 sets out factors which are to be taken into account at the 

 confirmation stage.  However, it has been held that the Authority is entitled to take 

 these factors into account at the order making stage.  In Hargrave v Stroud 

 (above), Schieman L.J. held that: 

 “…the authority faced with an application to make a footpath diversion order is at 

 liberty to refuse to do so. In considering what to do the Council is, in my 

 judgment…entitled to take into account the matters set out in s.119(6). It would be 

 ridiculous for the Council to be forced to put under way the whole machinery 

 necessary to secure a footpath diversion order where it was manifest that at the end 

 of the day the order would not be confirmed.” 

6.7 After making an order, if the order is objected to, the Council should also again 

 consider the second test under Section 119(6) which must be met at the Order 

 confirmation stage. 

 “The Secretary of State shall not confirm a public path diversion order, and a Council 

 shall not confirm such an Order as an unopposed Order, unless he or, as the case 

 may be, they are satisfied that the diversion to be effected by it is expedient as 

 mentioned in Sub-section (1) above and further that the path or way will not be 

 substantially less convenient to the public in consequence of the diversion and that it 

 is expedient to confirm the Order having regard to the effect which: 

 (a) the diversion would have on public enjoyment of the path or way as a whole; 

Page 236



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 9 of 17 

 

 (b) the coming into operation of the Order would have as respects other land  

  served  by the existing public right of way; and 

 (c) any new public right of way created by the Order would have as respects the 

  land over which the right is so created and any land held with it 

6.8 The Council must have regard to The Equality Act 2010.  This act requires (broadly) 

 that in carrying out their functions, public authorities must make reasonable 

 adjustments to ensure that a disabled person is not put at a substantial disadvantage 

 in comparison with a person who is not disabled.  The Equality Act goes further than 

 just requiring a public authority does not discriminate against a disabled person.  

 Section 149 imposes a duty, known as the “public sector equality duty”, on the public 

 bodies listed in sch. 19 to the Act, to have due regard to three specified matters 

 when exercising their functions.  

6.9 These three matters are: 

 Eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act 

 Advancing equality of opportunity between people who have a disability 

and people who do not; and 

 Fostering good relations between people who have a disability and 

people who do not. 

6.10 The Equality Act applies to a highway authority’s provision of public rights of way 

 services. (DEFRA Guidance Authorising structures (gaps, gates and stiles) on 

 rights of way Oct 2010)   

6.11 The Council must also have regard to the Wiltshire Council Rights of Way 

 Improvement Plan (ROWIP) - the current plan is entitled Wiltshire Countryside 

 Access Improvement Plan 2015 – 2025 – Rights of Way Improvement Plan 2.   

 ROWIP 2 recognises the Council’s duty to have regard to the Equality Act 2010 and 

 to consider the least restrictive option.   

6.12 At 4.1 page 16 the Council recognises that considering the needs of those with 

 mobility impairments is a statutory responsibility: 

 “..consider the needs of those with mobility impairments when maintaining the 

 network and authorising structures (e.g. stiles and gates) on the rights of way 

 network and seek improvements to existing structures where it would be beneficial 

 (Equality Act 2010).” 

6.13 At 7.4 page 32 the Council recognises the following: 

Page 237



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 10 of 17 

 

 “The requirements for improving accessibility for people with these sorts of disability 

 are generally the same as discussed in conclusion 5.” 

 Conclusion 5 states: 

 “If older people are to keep active and therefore healthy, they will need a more 

 accessible network as they are more likely to find stiles (and sometimes surfacing 

 and latches) difficult than other people.  This highlights the need to replace stiles with 

 gaps or gates on key routes, which can also benefit wheelchair users and parents 

 with buggies and children.” 

6.14 At 2-5 page 38 the Council recgnises opportunities for improving access: 

 Make routes more accessible, undertake surface improvements and improve 

maintenance 

 Work within the framework of Wiltshire Council’s Gaps, Gates and Stiles 

Policy 

 Encourage landowners to follow best practice for furniture design as set out in 

the above mentioned policy 

 Work in partnership to promote and create accessible trails 

 Improve surfacing to byways open to all traffic where there is a demand for 

those with mobility impairments to be able to access remote locations 

6.15 ROWIP 2 refers to the Council’s Gaps, Gates and Stiles Policy.  This is Policy 

 number 7 and is appended to ROWIP2. 

 The Policy recognises that the authority must consider the needs of those with 

 mobility impairments when managing rights of way and access and that this 

 requirement particularly applies when auhtorising structures (e.g. stiles and gates) 

 on rights of way and seeking improvements to existing structures to make access 

 easier. 

6.16 Wiltshire Council relies on DEFRA (2010) Good Practice Guidance for Local 

 Authoirities on Compliance with the Equality Act 2010 version 1 and recognises at 

 7.2.1 that: 

 A highway authority has a duty, under the Highways Act 1980, to assert and protect 

 the rights of the public to the use and enjoyment of a highway.  The Equality Act 

 2010 adds afurther dimension by requiring (broadly) that in carrying out their 

 functions, public authorities must make reasonable adjustments to ensure that it is 

 not impossible or unreasonably difficult for people with disabilities to benefit from 

Page 238



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 11 of 17 

 

 those functions as others would do or to show that there are good reasons for not 

 doing so. 

6.17 Where a route is being diverted Wiltshire Council will specify a level of 

 accommodation works that must be met before the new route is accepted by the 

 Council and any Order made comes into force.  

6.18 The Council must also have regard to the needs of agriculture, forestry and the 

 conservation of biodiversity. 

6.19 S.118 Highways Act 1980 for the extinguishment of a public path 

 118. Stopping up of footpaths, bridleways and restricted byways. 

(1) Where it appears to a council as respects a footpath, bridleway or    

 restricted byway in their area (other than one which is a trunk road or a   

 special road) that it is expedient that the path or way should be stopped   

 up on the ground that it is not needed for public use, the council may   

 by order made by them and submitted to and confirmed by the    

 Secretary of State, or confirmed as an unopposed order, extinguish the   

 public right of way over the path or way. 

 An order under this section is referred to in this Act as a ‘public path   

 extinguishment order.’ 

 

 (2) The Secretary of State shall not confirm a public path extinguishment  

  order, and a council shall not confirm such an order as an unopposed  

  order, unless he or, as the case may be, they are satisfied that it is   

  expedient so to do having regard to the extent (if any) to which it   

  appears to him or, as the case may be, them that the path or way   

  would, apart from the order, be likely to be used by the public, and   

  having regard to the effect which the extinguishment of the right of way  

  would have as respects land served by the path or way, account being  

  taken of the provisions as to compensation contained in section 28   

  above as applied by section 121(2) below. 

 (3) A public path extinguishment order shall be in such form as may be  

  prescribed by regulations made by the Secretary of State and shall   

  contain a map, on such scale as may be so prescribed, defining the  

  land over which the public right of way is thereby extinguished. 

 (4) Schedule 6 to this Act has effect as to the making, confirmation, validity  

  and date of operation of public path extinguishment orders. 

Page 239



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 12 of 17 

 

 (5) Where, in accordance with regulations made under paragraph 3 of the  

  said Schedule 6, proceedings preliminary to the confirmation of the   

  public path extinguishment order are taken concurrently with    

  proceedings preliminary to the confirmation of a public path creation  

  order, public path diversion order or rail crossing diversion order then,  

  in considering – 

  (a) under subsection (1) above whether the path or way to which  

  the public path extinguishment order relates is needed for public   

  use; or 

  (b) under subsection (2) above to what extent (if any) that the path  

  or way would apart from the order be likely to be used by the   

  public; 

  the council or the Secretary of State, as the case may be, may have  

  regard to the extent to which the public path creation order, public path  

  diversion order or rail crossing diversion order would provide an   

  alternative path or way. 

 (6) For the purposes of subsections (1) and (2) above, any temporary   

  circumstances preventing or diminishing the use of a path or way by  

  the public shall be disregarded. 

 

 (6A) The considerations to which- 

  (a) the Secretary of State is to have regard in determining whether  

  or not to confirm a public path extinguishment order, and 

  (b) a council are to have regard in determining whether or not to  

  confirm such an order as an unopposed order, 

  Include any material provision of a rights of way improvement plan   

  prepared by any local highway authority whose area includes land over  

  which the order would extinguish a public right of way. 

6.20 The Council is also empowered to make a ‘combined order’ under s.53(2)A of the 

 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.  The effect of this means that on the confirmation 

 of the order the definitive map and statement may be changed without the further 

 need to make an order under s.53(3)(a)(i) of the 1981 Act (also known as a ‘legal 

 event order’ or an ‘unadvertised order’). 

 

Page 240



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 13 of 17 

 

7.0  Comments on the Considerations 

 S.119 - Diversion 

7.1 S.119(1) HA80 states that the Council may make an order to divert a path if it is 

 satisfied it is in the interest of the landowner and/or the public to do so.  The 

 landowners’ interests are demonstrated by the making of the application itself.  It is 

 clearly in their interest to move the line of the path away from the residential 

 curtilage of their properties as this will benefit their privacy and security.  The 

 diversion of the path would also enable Mr and Mrs Harrison to proceed with their 

 permitted development.  I can see no disadvantage to the landowners in moving a 

 public path to a well defined route a short distance away from their houses and 

 gardens. S.119(1) is therefore satisfied. 

7.2  S.119(2) HA80 says that the Council shall not alter the termination point to one that 

 is not on a highway or to one that is not substantially as convenient to the public.  

 The point at which the public join this leg of Salisbury 6 from bridleway Salisbury 24 

 would be moved approximately 12 metres to the north east. This brings the path 

 closer to the ongoing leg of path Salisbury no 6, infact, it is virtually opposite it giving 

 a much better sense of direction and purpose to the route.  Additionally the proposed 

 new access point does not involve passing through a gate and gateway onto what is 

 part of the residential curtilage of The Dairy.  It is considered that the new 

 termination point is more convenient rather than less and accordingly S.119(2) is 

 amply satisfied. 

7.3 The Council could therefore proceed to make an order under S.119 to divert the 

 highway.  However, as detailed at paras 6.6 and 6.7 it is also appropriate to consider 

 S.119(6) at this stage. 

7.4 S.119(6) says that the new path must not be substantially less convenient to the 

 public.  The new path will be 3 metres longer than the existing path but follows a 

 clearer, straighter route.  There are no stiles or gates on the new route and because 

 the route is fenced away from the field there is no potential conflict with horses or of 

 passing over muddy and poached land.  The proposed new route would be more 

 convenient to use. 

7.5 The Council must also have regard to the effect on the public enjoyment of the 

 path as a whole.   Salisbury 6 is along path made up essentially of three legs.  The 

 first leg crosses fields and links restricted byway Salisbury 3 with bridleway Salisbury 

 24, the second leg (which is affected by this application) leads through some 

 residential gardens and across a field to link bridleway Salisbury 24 with the 

 unclassified road to Old Sarum (Grabbage Lane).  The third leg links Grabbage Lane 

 with the Stratford sub Castle road (the C.1) itself.  This legs leads across a field. 

Page 241



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 14 of 17 

 

7.6 Whether the public use Salisbury 6 as a whole or whether they include the various 

 legs of it in various circular walks is not known, however, whichever way it is used 

 the improved accessibility of the proposed diversion will make the route more 

 purposeful and easier to follow.  The views of Old Sarum are improved from the 

 proposed diversion route and it is generally considered that the enjoyment of the 

 path would be enhanced by the diversion rather than impaired by it.  

7.7 It is considered that s.119(6) is therefore satisfied and that any order so made would 

 be capable of being confirmed  

7.8 The Council must also consider the effect on the land served by the existing path.  

 The existing path has no utility beyond recreational access for the public and its 

 removal from the land would allow the land to be fenced for greater privacy and 

 security.  

7.9 The Council must also consider the effect on the land served by the new route.  The 

 new route has already been created by post and wire thus creating an additional 

 paddock which gives greater flexibility to livestock management. 

7.10 The Council must also consider the effect on agriculture, forestry and diversity of 

 fauna and flora.  No comments have been received from Wiltshire Council’s County 

 Ecologist. The area over which the new path will go is not managed for forestry or 

 agriculture.  It is considered that there is no effect. 

7.11 S.118 Highways Act 1980 

 Section 118 of the Highways Act 1980 enables Wiltshire Council as Highway 

 Authority to extinguish a footpath where it appears to the council that the path 

 should be stopped up on the ground that it is not needed for public use or likely to be 

 needed for public use.  The Council may make an Order under s.118 concurrently 

 with an Order under s.119. 

7.12 Clearly there is no need for two public footpaths so close together at this location 

 and in the event that an Order made under s.119 were to be confirmed it is 

 considered that the new route created by that order would be so advantageous to 

 the public that any other route just metres away requiring the use of two gates and 

 one stile would simply never be used.    

7.13 Before confirming an order made under section 118 of the Highways Act 1980, the 

 Council must also have  

 (1) regard to the extent to which the path would be used by the public, and 

 (2) regard to the effect which the extinguishment would have in respect of the 

 land served by the path. 

Page 242



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 15 of 17 

 

 There is no anticipated adverse effect on the land served by the path and no 

 claims for compensation are expected as a result of the extinguishment. 

7.14 Section 6A of the Highways Act 1980 also requires the Council when 

 determining whether or not to confirm an extinguishment order to consider 

 any material provision of a rights of way improvement plan prepared by the 

 Council. In the Action Plan of the Wiltshire Countryside Access Improvement 

 Plan 2015 – 2025, the opportunity to create a more coherent network to make the 

 network easier for the public to use was identified. The alternative path provides a 

 readily accessible  path making it a more useable path for  the community in this 

 attractive and popular rural setting. 

8.0 Environmental Impact of the Recommendation 

8.1 There is no environmental impact associated with the recommendation. 

 

9.0 Risk Assessment of the Recommendation 

9.1 Risks to the Council are covered at 10.0 Legal and Financial Implications.  Risks to 

 the public associated with the recommendation are considered to be nil, infact the 

 new route is likely to present a lower risk to users as they will be separated from 

 livestock and will not have stiles and gates to negotiate. 

10.0 Legal and Financial Implications 

10.1 Actual costs associated with making an order will be paid by the applicant. 

10.2 If significant objection is received the Council may abandon the Order at no further 

 cost to either the applicant to the Council. 

10.3 If the Council refuses to make the order the applicant may seek judicial review 

 against the Council’s decision and may suceed if the Council has been 

 unreasonable.  Costs can be high for this (c.£50000). 

10.4 If the Council makes the order and objections or representations are made the 

 Council will consider the matter at a meeting of the Area Planning Committee.  That 

 Committee may decide to abandon the order or may decide to support its 

 confirmation.  If the Council supports the Order it will be forwarded to the Secretary 

 of State (SoS) to determine and the Council will pay costs relating to this.  This may 

be  negligible if the case is determined by written representations (a few hours of officer 

 time), around £200 to £500 if determined at a local hearing or between £1000 and 

 £2500 if determined at a public inquiry. 

Page 243



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 16 of 17 

 

10.5 It is considered that there is a very low risk of objection to this Order and an even 

 lower risk that in the event of an objection being made and the Order being sent to 

 the SoS that a publci inquiry would be held.  It is usual to determine Orders such as 

 this by way of wirtten representations or a local hearing. 

  11.0 Equality Impact 

11.1 The new route is more accessible than the definitive line or the route to be 

 extinguished and would therefore be more accessible for walkers with mobility or 

 sight impariments.  

12.0 Relevance to Council’s Business Plan 

12.1 Working with the local community to provide a rights of way network fit for purpose, 

 making Wiltshire an even better place to live, work and visit. 

13.0 Safeguarding Considerations 

13.1 DEFRA’s “Rights of Way Circular (1/09) Guidance for Local Authorities” Version 2, 

 October 2009, states at paragraph 5.5: 

 

“The statutory provisions for creating, diverting and extinguishing public rights of way 

in the 1980 Act have been framed to protect both the public’s rights and the interests 

of the owners and occupiers. They also protect the interests of bodies such as 

statutory undertakers. The requirements for making, confirming and publicising 

orders are set out in Schedule 6 to the 1980 Act.” 

 

13.2 If an order to divert a right of way at Stratford sub Castle is made, Wiltshire Council 

will follow procedures set out in Schedule 6 of the 1980 Act and in doing so the 

Council will fulfil its safeguarding responsibilities. 

14.0 Public Health Implications 

14.1 No public health implications have been identified in the diversion of Salisbury 6 or 

the extinguishment of the route used for at least 20 years. 

15.0 Options to Consider 

15.1 i) To refuse the application 

 ii) To allow the application and make an order under s.119 and s.118 HA80 and 

  s.53A(2) WCA81. 

Page 244



The Diversion of part of Salisbury 6 and extinguishment of a length of unrecorded path 

Page 17 of 17 

 

16.0 Reasons for Recommendation 

16.1 Officers consider that the proposed changes to the network contained within this 

 application have strong advantages for all parties. By extinguishing the unrecorded 

 public rights as well as addressing the definiitve line this application seeks to avoid 

 later complications for landowners and for the Council. It is considered that all legal 

 tests are met and that Orders should be made and advertised to effect the changes 

 proposed in the application. 

16.2 No objections or alternative suggestions to the proposals have been given to the 

 Council and it is considered unlikely that any would be received.  However, in the 

 event that objections or representations to the Orders are duly made and not 

 withdrawn, the Orders will have to be considered by the Southern Area Planning 

 Committee who may decide to abandon it or to send it to the Secretary of State for 

 Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (SoSEFRA) for determination.  In the event that 

 an objection is received to only one Order, because they have been made 

 concurrently they would both have to be considered by SoSEFRA for confirmation at 

 the same time.  Wiltshire Council would not proceed with the confirmation of just the 

 Order that had not been objected to. 

17.0 Recommendation 

 That an Order is made under s.119 Highways Act 1980 and s.53 Wildlife and 

 Countryside Act 1981 to divert the line of Salisbury 6 at Stratford sub Castle 

 and an Order is made under s.118 Highways Act 1980 to extinguish the 

 unrecorded footpath that leads broadly alongside the definitive live.  In the 

 event that no objections or representations are received then the Orders 

 should be confirmed. 

 

Sally Madgwick 

Rights of Way Officer 

05 December 2016 

 

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 247



Page 248



Page 249



Page 250



Page 251



Page 252



Page 253



Page 254



Page 255



Page 256



Page 257



Page 258



Page 259



Page 260



Page 261



Page 262



Page 263



Page 264



Page 265



Page 266



Page 267



Page 268



Page 269



Page 270



Page 271



Page 272



Page 273



Page 274



Page 275



Page 276



Page 277



Page 278



Page 279



This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council   
Southern Area Planning Committee 

6th April 2017 
Planning Appeals Received between 03/03/2017 and 24/03/2017 
 
Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or 

COMM 
Appeal Type Officer 

Recommend 
Appeal 
Start Date 

Overturn 
at Cttee 

16/03437/FUL 

 
32 Greenwich 
Fonthill Gifford, Tisbury 
SP3 6QL 

FONTHILL 
GIFFORD 

 

Retrospective application to retain 
roof structure "as built" on two storey 
extension (approved under 
15/00875/FUL). 

DEL Written 
Representations 

 

Refuse 

 
10/03/2017 

 
No 

16/03440/LBC 
 

32 Greenwich 
Fonthill Gifford, Tisbury 
SP3 6QL 

FONTHILL 
GIFFORD 

 

Retrospective application to retain 
roof structure "as built" on two storey 
extension (approved under 
15/00878/LBC). 

DEL Written 
Representations 

 

Refuse 

 
10/03/2017 

 
No 

16/05911/LBC 
 

1-3 Castle Street 
Salisbury, Wiltshire 
SP1 1TT 

SALISBURY CITY 
 

2 no. non-illuminated text signs, 1 no. 
externally illuminated projecting sign, 
2 no. internally illuminated menu's, 
internal window blind with logo, vinyls 
applied to inside of ground floor 
glazing, painting of existing front 
elevation 

DEL Written 
Representations 

 

Refuse 

 
10/03/2017 

 
No 

16/07558/FUL 
 

Land opposite May 
Cottage, Homington 
Salisbury, SP5 4NG 

COOMBE BISSETT 
 

Erection of a Hay Barn 
 

DEL Written 
Representations 

 

Refuse 

 
17/03/2017 

 
No 

 
 
There are no Planning Appeals Decided between 03/03/2017 and 24/03/2017 
 

 

P
age 281

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No.  1 

Date of Meeting 06 April 2017 

Application Number 16/09919/FUL & 16/10183/LBC 

Site Address Old Ship Hotel 

Castle Street 

Mere 

BA12 6JE 

Proposal Conversion and renovation of the existing Grade II* Listed Old 

Ship Inn into 7 Apartments and 2 x three bed cottages. To include 

the demolition of outbuildings and construction of an additional 

new build two bed cottage to the rear (10 dwellings in total). 

Applicant Havenbrae Property 

Town/Parish Council MERE 

Electoral Division MERE – Cllr Jeans 

Grid Ref 381220  132404 

Type of application Full Planning & Listed Building Consent 

Case Officer  Warren Simmonds 

 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee  
 
Councillor Jeans has called the application to Committee following concerns in respect of 
whether the proposal would make suitable provision for parking and in respect of the impact 
of the proposed development on the character and setting of the listed building and 
surrounding conservation area. 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation 
that the application be approved subject to the Conditions set out at the conclusion of this 
report. 

 
2. Report Summary 
 
1. Principle of the proposed development 
2. Design and impact on listed building(s) 
3. Impact on the designated Conservation area 
4. Impact on the amenity of neighbours 
5. Highways and parking issues 
6. Archaeology 
7. Ecology 

Page 283

Agenda Item 9a



8. Affordable housing provision and CIL 
 
Mere Town Council: Object on grounds including cramped overdevelopment of the site, 
detrimental impact on the integrity of the GII* listed building, inadequate parking provision, 
inadequacy of submitted plans and statements. 
 
Neighbourhood responses: Six representations from third parties were received. Two were 
in support of the proposal, one was neither in support or opposition, three were opposed to 
the development on grounds including loss of the public house, loss of tourism 
accommodation, parking and access/Highway safety issues, impact on the listed building 
and conservation area. 
 
3. Site Description 
 
The application relates to the Old Ship Hotel, located on Castle Street in Mere. The building 
is set over three stories and has a large yard at the rear (accessed off Manor Road). The 
building is GII* listed, was previously used as an 11 bedroom hotel, with associated bar, 
restaurant and kitchen facilities and is located within the designated conservation area of 
Mere. 
 
4. Planning History 

 
S/1984/0188 FORMATION OF CAR PARK FOR FOUR CARS 

S/1998/0261 ALTERATIONS TO PART OF WALTON BUILDING TO PERMIT 
CONVERSION OF ADJACENT BUILDING TO NINE FLATS 

S/1998/0260 PARTIAL DEMOLITION AND CONVERSION OF WAREHOUSE TO 
FORM 5 x TWO BEDROOMED FLATS AND 4 x ONE BEDROOMED 
FLATS 

S/1987/0356 ALTERATIONS AND ADDITION OF COVERED WAY   

S/2005/0481 SHOP REFURBISHMENT AND CONVERSION OF EXISTING 
BUILDINGS TO FORM SEVEN DWELLINGS 

S/2005/0475 SHOP REFURBISHMENT AND CONVERSION OF EXISTING 
BUILDING TO FORM SEVEN DWELLINGS 

S/2007/0683 NEW BANK SIGNAGE 

S/1984/0807 L/B APPLICATION - FORMATION OF EN-SUITE BATHROOMS 
TOEXISTING BEDROOMS.REFURBISHMENT OF MANAGEMENT 
SUITES 

S/2006/0994 REINSTATE COTTAGE TO HABITABLE CONDITION - REPAIR 
ROOF - GUTTERING - SASH WINDOWS REPAIR IF POSSIBLE OR 
REPLACE LIKE FOR LIKE. REPLACE KITCHEN AND STAIRS, 
UPGRADE ELECTRICAL / PLUMBING SYSTEMS - REDECORATE / 
REPAIR WALLS AND CEILING 

S/1984/1202 CHANGE OF USE OF OUTBUILDINGS TO FORM 1NO. 
RESIDENTIAL UNIT 

S/2004/1902 ERECTION OF THREE TWO BEDROOM DWELLINGS WITHIN THE 
CURTILAGE AND CREATION OF FOUR ONE BED FLATS WITHIN 
EXISTING ANNEXE INCLUDING DEMOLITION OF EXTENSIONS 
THERETO  AND ASSOCIATED PARKING 

S/2004/2013 SHOP REFURBISHMENT AND CONVERSION OF EXISTING 
BUILDING TO FORM SEVEN DWELLINGS 

S/1999/2202 NEW ENTRANCE / RECEPTION AREA INTERNAL ALTERATIONS 
INCLUDING EN-SUITE BATHROOMS TO EXISTING GUEST 
ROOMS   DEMOLITION OF OUTBUILDING AND EXTENSION OF 

Page 284



CAR PARK 

S/2004/2452 REVISION OF S/2003/2457 - EXTEND GROUND FLOOR FLAT IN 
EXISTING DEVELOPMENT CURRENTLY UNDER CONSTRUCTION 
TO CREATE LARGER LIVING ROOM BATHROOM DRESSING 
ROOM AND THREE STORES WITHIN EXISTING WAREHOUSE 
BUILDING 

S/2003/2482 PARTIAL DEMOLITION. 
EXTENSION AND CONVERSION OF EXISTING BUILDING TO 
FORM EIGHT FLATS. 

S/2003/2483 DEMOLITION OF VACANT GARAGE (PRIOR TO THE ERECTION 
OF 3 BEDROOMED COTTAGE AND CONVERSION OF THE 
WALTON BUILDING TO 8 FLATS)  DEMOLITION OF BOUNDARY 
WALL 

S/2003/2457 PARTIAL DEMOLITION, EXTENSION AND CONVERSION OF 
EXISTING BUILDING, TO FROM 8 FLATS AND ERECTION OF 
DETACHED 3 BEDROOM COTTAGE 

S/2003/2552 PARTIAL REMOVAL OF INTERNAL WALLS AT GROUND FLOOR 
LEVEL TO OPEN UP EXISTING RETAIL UNIT 

S/2004/2701 SHOP REFURBISHMENT & CONVERSION OF EXISTING 
BUILDING TO FORM SEVEN DWELLINGS 

S/2004/2615 AMENDMENTS TO PREVIOUS LISTED BUILDING CONSENT 
S/2003/2482 (DATED 3.3.04) WITH REGARD TO LIFT SHAFT TO 
PROVIDE REQUIRED HEADROOM AND REMOVAL OF BRICK 
FLUES ON EAST ELEVATION. 

16/10183/LBC Conversion and renovation of the existing Grade II* Listed Old Ship 
Inn into 7 Apartments and 2 x 3 bed cottages. To include the 
demolition of outbuildings and construction of a new build 2 bed 
cottage to the rear. 

 
5. The Proposal 
 
The applications propose the conversion and renovation of the existing Grade II* Listed Old 
Ship Inn into 7 Apartments and 2 x three bed cottages. Also proposed is the demolition of 
outbuildings and construction of an additional new build two bed cottage attached to the rear 
(10 dwellings in total). 
 
6. Local Planning Policy 
 

Wiltshire Core Strategy Core Policies CP1, CP2, CP17, CP35, CP39, CP40, CP45, CP49, 

CP50, CP57, CP58 & CP64 

NPPF & NPPG 
 

7. Summary of consultation responses 

 

WC Highways – No Highway objection 

Historic England – Support in principle, with comments 

Conservation officer – Support subject to Conditions 

Salisbury Civic Society – Conversion acceptable in principle, comments re heritage 

information submitted and the availability of natural stone materials 

WC Ecology – No objections 

WC Archaeology – Support, subject to Conditions 

WC Housing officer – Confirms no requirement for affordable housing provision 

Page 285



WC Education – No developer contributions required 

Economic Development & Tourism – Objects to loss of visitor accommodation 

WC Waste Services – Support, subject to Conditions 

Drainage officer – Further information requested 

Public protection officer – No objection, subject to Conditions 

Wessex Water – Standard letter of advice and infrastructure plan received 

Wilts Fire & Rescue – Standard letter of advice received 

Mere Town Council – Object on grounds including cramped overdevelopment of the site, 
detrimental impact on the integrity of the GII* listed building, inadequate parking provision, 
inadequacy of submitted plans and statements. 

 

8. Publicity 

 

The application was publicised via neighbour notification letters, press notices and by site 

notices displayed at the front of the building. 

 

Neighbourhood responses: Six representations from third parties were received. Two were 

in support of the proposal, one was neither in support or opposition, three were opposed to 

the development on grounds including loss of the public house, loss of tourism 

accommodation, parking and access/Highway safety issues, impact on the listed building 

and conservation area. 

 

9. Planning Considerations 

 

9.1 Principle of the proposed development  

 

The existing authorised use of the building is a public house. The building is located within 

the settlement boundary of the city of Mere (defined within the WCS as a Local Service 

Centre) where residential development and redevelopment is considered acceptable in 

principle, as set out within Core Policies CP1, CP2 & CP17 of the adopted Wiltshire Core 

Strategy. 

 

The application building last traded as a public house, restaurant and 11 bedroom hotel 

known as ‘The Old Ship Inn’ and is set out as a bar/restaurant and kitchen at ground floor 

level, with bedrooms and a function room at first floor level, and further bedrooms at second 

floor level. 

 

It is understood from the applicant that the former public house/hotel ceased trading in late 

2013. The property has since been offered for sale and marketed by estate agents for 

several years, with no interest from pub operators, companies or individuals looking to run a 

pub, restaurant or hotel/tourism use, or any other community facility or use (see Marketing 

Report produced by Aspire Architects, submitted by the applicant). 

 

9.1.1 Loss of the use of the building as a public house 

 

In respect of the loss of the use of the building as a public house, Core Policy CP49 deals 

with the protection of community facilities (and rural services). Within CP49 there are policy 

measures to prevent/resist the unwarranted loss of public houses outside of settlements, 

Page 286



which includes safeguards and measures to ensure that there is no demand or viability for 

the continuing use of the building as a public house or as an alternative community facility.  

 

However, the applicant has provided a Marketing report produced by Aspire Architects (as 

published on the Council’s website), which shows that the public house (which ceased 

trading approximately 3.5 years ago) has been offered for sale and marketed by estate 

agents over the intervening years, with no interest from pub operators, companies or 

individuals looking to run a pub, restaurant or hotel/tourism use, or any other community 

facility or use. 

 

In these respects it is considered the proposal has been demonstrated as being accordant 

with this policy. 

 

The application site/building is not listed as an Asset of Community Value, and has not been 

nominated for consideration for listing as an Asset of Community Value. 

 

9.1.2 Loss of the use of the building as an employment use 

 

In respect of the loss of the use of the building as an employment use, Core Policy CP35 

deals with existing employment sites. CP35 relates only to the retention of B1, B2 and B8 

employment uses and is not considered relevant to this application (public houses fall within 

Use Class A4, hotels are C1). Therefore the change of use of the former public house and 

consequent loss of the use of the site as an employment use is not considered discordant 

with the Core Strategy’s policy stance on employment. 

 

9.1.3 Loss of tourism accommodation 

 

The Economic Development & Tourism officer has objected to the proposal on the basis of 

the loss of tourism accommodation. Core Policy CP39 of the WCS deals with Tourism 

Development and seeks to achieve growth in Wiltshire’s tourism sector. The policy is 

supportive of new tourist development. Core Policy CP40 deals with Hotels, bed and 

breakfasts, guest houses and conference facilities and is accordingly supportive of new 

development. CP40 also seeks to resist the change of use of existing bed spaces provided 

in hotels or public houses to alternative uses, unless it can be clearly demonstrated there is 

no longer a need for such a facility in either its current use, or in any other form of tourism, 

leisure, arts, entertainment or cultural use. 

 

In respect of the above, it is an important material consideration that the premises ceased 

trading as a pub and hotel accommodation more than three years ago (following a 

succession of unsuccessful attempts to run it as a pub/restaurant and hotel) and has been 

marketed since without success. Additionally, the marketing evidence put forward by the 

applicant informs that each of the three tenants who had operated the property since 2008 

had vacated or disappeared before the end of their lease, “In most cases owing rent.” 

 

In these respects it is considered it has been adequately and satisfactorily demonstrated that 

there is no longer a need for the facility in its former use or in any other appropriate tourism, 

arts, entertainment or cultural use. 

 

Page 287



9.1.4 Summary of Section 9.1 

 

Taking into account the policy context set out within the adopted Wiltshire Council Core 

Strategy, saved local plan policies and the guidance provided by the NPPF & NPPG the 

proposed change of use of the former public house/hotel to residential dwellings (and the 

construction of an additional dwelling) are considered accordant with the relevant local and 

national planning policy context and is considered acceptable in principle. 

 

9.2 Design and impact on listed building(s) 
 
The existing building is GII* listed and located within the designated conservation area of 
Mere. Consequently much consideration and assessment has been given to the impacts of 
the proposed development on the character, setting and historic fabric of the building, and to 
the impact(s) of the proposal on the existing character of the surrounding conservation area. 
 
The conservation officer has advised/been involved in the evolution of the scheme from pre-
application to the submitted scheme and has no objection in principle to the proposed 
residential conversion and new cottage, subject to Conditions (as set out at the conclusion of 
this report). 
 
Concerns had been raised as to whether the existing wrought iron hanging bracket on the 
front of the main building would be retained – it has been confirmed that this will be the case 
and revised drawings provided detailing its retention. 
 
Additionally, concerns had been expressed about the prospect of putting glazed doors in the 
main front archway/entrance – this proposal has been changed and the glass doors are no 
longer proposed. Instead the existing timber doors are to be retained (with revised drawings 
provided to detail their retention). 
 
Historic England were consulted and have provided a generally supportive response, 
including: 
 
“Historic England welcomes the sensitive re-use of historic buildings, and we will be pleased 
to see this important building in Mere brought back in to use. The conversion to residential 
use seems achievable without causing undue damage to the significance of the building, 
however it is of great importance that the level of subdivision required to accomodate such a 
use is not so intensive as to cause harm to the building, and we would advise that this be 
carefully considered. We recognise that the building has seen many alterations over the 
years; this presents an opportunity to look to reinstate some of the building's historic layout. 
Where new partitions are proposed, it is essential that the details of these and their 
relationship to existing fabric is appropriate.” 
 
The Consultation response concludes with the following recommendation: 
 
“…recommend that this application be determined in accordance with national and local 
policy guidance, and on the basis of your expert conservation advice.” 
 
It is therefore considered the proposed development can be undertaken without detriment to 
the character, setting or historic fabric of the GII* listed building, and without adversely 
affecting the existing character of the surrounding conservation area. 
 
9.3 Impact on the designated Conservation area 
 

Page 288



As previously mentioned, alterations to the front of the building are limited – the existing 
wrought iron hanging bracket is to be retained, as are the existing timber doors to arched 
entranceway. 
 
The new build cottage is at the rear of the property and set reasonably well back from the 
public highway and footway. The use of appropriate natural (Midhurst) stone materials for 
the walls. 
 
Taking into consideration the limited external alterations proposed, and the use of sensitive 
and appropriate materials where proposed, it is considered the proposed development can 
be undertaken without adversely affecting the existing character of the surrounding 
conservation area. 
 
9.4 Impact on the amenity of neighbours 
 
The application proposes the residential conversion of the main building into 7 apartments, 
the conversion of the rear projecting element to create 2 x cottages and the construction of a 
new cottage adjoining the rear projecting element.  
 
The immediate surrounding area is predominantly residential. The change of use from public 
house/restaurant and hotel accommodation to residential accommodation is considered a 
compatible form of development within the existing predominantly residential area. 
 
The amount of new build for the proposal is relatively small (limited to the construction of an 
adjoined, modest two bedroom cottage), the remainder of the development is the conversion 
of the existing building. 
 
Taking into consideration the separation distances, orientation and general relationship 
between the proposed apartments and cottages and the closest existing neighbouring 
properties on all sides, and taking into consideration the positions of windows and doors 
(both existing and proposed) relative to existing neighbouring properties, it is considered the 
proposed development would not result in the undue overlooking or overshadowing, or 
otherwise unduly conflict with the amenity of neighbouring residents or uses. 
 
9.5 Highways and parking issues 
 
The hard surfaced land to the rear of the building provides off-street parking for the proposed 
development and for several adjoining/surrounding properties. 
 
It is understood that parking is currently being provided for: 
• Ostlers Cottage (S/2006/0994 – Listed Building consent only to re-establish use of 
the building as a dwelling, no parking provided) 
• Three existing (two bed) dwellings and four existing (one bed) flats – Approved under 
S/2004/1901 with 7 covered parking spaces (no Conditions re parking provision imposed): 
 

Page 289



 
(Approved plan for S/2004/1901) 

 
And as a result of the proposed development, parking will be additionally required for: 
• Seven proposed apartments 
• Two proposed three bed cottages 
• One proposed two bed cottage 
• Visitors for the above 
 
The applicant has provided a revised parking plan which has labelled spaces provided as 
follows: 
 

 18 spaces to serve the proposed apartments and cottages 

 7 spaces to serve existing surrounding properties 

 2 spaces for visitors 
 
The Highways officer (following in-depth liaison with officers and the applicant) has assessed 
the application and provides the following comments: 
 
“I am aware of the local concern regarding the parking pressures in the vicinity of The Old 
Ship site.  I have reviewed the parking associated with the existing properties at the site for 
which planning approval was gained in early 2005.  At that time parking for 7 vehicles for the 
7 residential units was considered to be appropriate and met with the relevant parking 
standards.  I am therefore not in a position to request additional parking for these properties. 
 
The parking for the proposed residential units should meet the current parking standards (as 
contained within Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026). This equates to a total of 20 
spaces including a provision of 2 visitor spaces based on 0.2 per dwelling.  Given that the 
proposal meets the parking requirements as set out in the parking strategy, a need for 
additional parking, over and above that shown, cannot be justified. 
 
It is also necessary to consider the former use of the site which would have had a level of 
parking need and which is far harder to predict as it depends on the success of the hotel / 
pub business. 
 
I have carefully considered the proposal and I wish to raise no highway objection.  I 
recommend that the following conditions are applied should permission be granted…” 
 
The applicant remains to owner of the land and it is understood negotiates individually with 
users of the car parking spaces in respect of their continued availability and use. Whilst the 

Page 290



planning process cannot be used to control ownership of land (the parking spaces), it is 
considered that a Condition can be imposed to identify the parking spaces set out within the 
submitted plans and require them to be laid out in accordance with the approved details and 
be maintained and remain available for this use at all times thereafter. 
 
Taking into consideration the above, it is considered the proposal makes suitable and 
sufficient provision for off-street parking to serve the development and to continue to serve 
related neighbouring developments. 
 
9.6 Archaeology 
 
The Assistant County Archaeologist has assessed the proposal and recommends that a 
phased programme of archaeological works should be conditioned on any planning 
permission. The Assistant County Archaeologist supports the proposed development, 
subject to Conditions. 
 
9.7 Ecology 
 
The applicant has submitted a protected species survey report for the buildings on the site. 
The survey report concluded that the property does not hold a bat roost and the proposed 
works are unlikely to effect on any bats. 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has assessed the proposal and raises no objections. 
 
9.8 Affordable housing provision and CIL 
 

The Council’s Housing Development Officer has assessed the proposal. She confirms that 

Core Policy 43 of Wiltshire Council’s Core Strategy sets out when affordable housing will be 

required and indicates the proportion which will be sought from open market housing 

development. The affordable housing requirement would constitute a 30% provision for the 

area in which the site is located. She goes on to state: 

 

“However it has been confirmed that Vacant Buildings Credit will be applicable to this 

development. After the application of the Vacant Buildings Credit, there will be no 

requirement for affordable housing provision in relation to the proposals for this 

development.” 

 

Therefore the proposed development is not required to make provision in respect of 

affordable housing. 

 

In terms of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), the proposed development is CIL liable. 

 

10. S106 contributions 

 

None required 

 

11. Conclusion 

 

The proposed development is considered accordant with the policies of the Development 

Plan and local and national planning policy guidance. 

 

Page 291



RECOMMENDATION 
 
The planning and listed building applications are recommended for approval, subject to the 
following Conditions: 
 
In respect of 16/09919/FUL (the planning application): 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON:   To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.002 Revision D, dated 01.03.17, as deposited with the 
local planning authority on 01.03.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.100 Revision B, dated 02.02.17, as deposited with the 
local planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.101, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.102, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.103, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.200 Revision B, dated 02.02.17, as deposited with the 
local planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.300, dated ‘Feb 2017’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.301, dated ‘Feb 2017’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.201 Revision B, dated 02.02.17, as deposited with the 
local planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.202, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.203, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16. 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3. Notwithstanding the approved drawings, no works shall commence until details of the 
following matters have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority: 
 
(i) Large scale details of all new external joinery (1:5 elevation, 1:2 section) 
including vertical and horizontal cross-sections through openings to show the 
positions of joinery within openings, depth of reveal,  heads, sills and lintels; 
(ii) Large scale details of all proposed new internal joinery (1:5 elevation, 1:2 
section); 
(iii) Full details of proposed rooflights, which shall be set in plane with the roof 
covering; 
(iv) Full details of the routes of all proposed ventilation ducts and pipework to be 
incorporated within the existing building(s), to include details of how they access/exit 
the building; 

Page 292



(v) Full details of the proposed treatment of fireplaces, panelling, overmantles, 
ornate cornicing and historic wide floorboards; 
(vi) Length and width wise sections of the proposed new staircase(s) for units 1 
and 2; 
(vii) Full details of proposed internal service routes;  
(viii) A full schedule of internal finishes to walls, ceilings and floors; and 
(ix) Full details and samples of external materials. 
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the listed 
building and its setting. 
 

4. No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the discharge of surface 
water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall not be first brought into use/occupied until 
surface water drainage has been constructed in accordance with the approved 
scheme.  
 
REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained. 

 
5. No development shall commence on site until details of the works/methodology for 

the disposal of sewerage have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be first occupied until the approved 
sewerage details have been fully implemented in accordance with the approved 
plans. 
 
REASON: To ensure that the proposal is provided with a satisfactory means of 
drainage. 

 
6. No part of the development hereby approved shall be first occupied until the parking 

areas shown on the approved plans has been consolidated, surfaced and laid out in 
accordance with the approved details. This area shall be maintained and remain 
available for this use at all times thereafter. 
 
REASON: To ensure that adequate provision is made for parking within the site  
in the interests of highway safety. 

 
7. The secondary glazing described in the section: ‘Recommended Noise Mitigation – 

Front Façade of the submitted ISVR Consulting Noise Assessment Reference 9813 – 
R01’ dated August 2016 shall be implemented in full prior to the occupation of the 
dwelling(s) and shall be maintained in that way at all times thereafter. 

 
Reason: To mitigate the impacts of road noise, in the interests of amenity. 

 
8. No construction or demolition work shall take place on Sundays or Public Holidays or 

outside the hours of 07:30 to 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 on 
Saturdays. 

 
Reason: In the interests of amenity. 

 
9. No development shall commence within the area indicated (proposed development 

site) until:  
 

Page 293



• A written programme of archaeological investigation, which should include on-
site work and off-site work such as the analysis, publishing and archiving of the 
results, has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority; and 
• The approved programme of archaeological work has been carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON:  To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological interest. 
 
Further Recommendations in respect of Condition 9:  The work should be conducted 
by a professional archaeological contractor in accordance with a Written Scheme of 
Investigation agreed by this office. There will be a financial implication for the 
applicant. 

 
In respect of 16/10183/LBC (the planning application): 
 

1. The works for which Listed Building Consent is hereby granted shall be begun before 
the expiration of three years from the date of this consent. 
 
REASON:  To comply with the provisions of Section 18 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.002 Revision D, dated 01.03.17, as deposited with the 
local planning authority on 01.03.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.100 Revision B, dated 02.02.17, as deposited with the 
local planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.101, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.102, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.103, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.200 Revision B, dated 02.02.17, as deposited with the 
local planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.300, dated ‘Feb 2017’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.301, dated ‘Feb 2017’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.201 Revision B, dated 02.02.17, as deposited with the 
local planning authority on 02.02.17, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.202, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16, and 
Drawing number ASP.14.067.203, dated ‘June 2016’, as deposited with the local 
planning authority on 07.11.16. 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 

3. Notwithstanding the approved drawings, no works shall commence until details of the 
following matters have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority: 
 

Page 294



(i) Large scale details of all new external joinery (1:5 elevation, 1:2 section) 
including vertical and horizontal cross-sections through openings to show the 
positions of joinery within openings, depth of reveal,  heads, sills and lintels; 
(ii) Large scale details of all proposed new internal joinery (1:5 elevation, 1:2 
section); 
(iii) Full details of proposed rooflights, which shall be set in plane with the roof 
covering; 
(iv) Full details of the routes of all proposed ventilation ducts and pipework to be 
incorporated within the existing building(s), to include details of how they access/exit 
the building; 
(v) Full details of the proposed treatment of fireplaces, panelling, overmantles, 
ornate cornicing and historic wide floorboards; 
(vi) Length and width wise sections of the proposed new staircase(s) for units 1 
and 2; 
(vii) Full details of proposed internal service routes;  
(viii) A full schedule of internal finishes to walls, ceilings and floors; and 
(ix) Full details and samples of external materials. 
 
The works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
REASON: In the interests of preserving the character and appearance of the listed 
building and its setting. 
 
End of Conditions. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

  

 

Page 295



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 297



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 299



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT OUTLINE FOR AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES Report No. 2 

Date of Meeting 6th April 2017 

Application Number 17/00444/FUL 

Site Address Florence House, Romsey Road, Whiteparish, SP5 2SD 

Proposal Erection of 2 bay garage to front of property. 

Applicant Mr Simon Kulas 

Town/Parish Council WHITEPARISH 

Electoral Division ALDERBURY AND WHITEPARISH – Richard Britton 

Grid Ref 424888  123809 

Type of application Full Planning 

Case Officer  Christos Chrysanthou 

 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee  
 
The application has been called-in to Committee by Cllr Britton citing concerns in respect of 
the design of the development, visual impact upon the surrounding area and relationship to 
adjoining properties. 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation 
that the application be APPROVED. 
 
2. Report Summary 
 
The main issues which are considered to be material in the determination of this application 
are listed below: 
  
• Scale and design  
• Impact on amenity 
• Highways 
 
The Parish Council have made an Objection (scale of development, proximity and visual 
impact to neighbouring properties and street scene). In addition 1 letter of objection and 2 
third party letters have been received by the Neighbour/third parties.  
 
3. Site Description 
 
The application site is a detached dwellinghouse situated within an established residential 
area in Whiteparish. The site is accessed off Romsey Road and is situated within an 
adopted housing policy boundary. 
 

Page 301

Agenda Item 9b



4. Planning History 
 

S/2009/0143 
 

DEMOLITION OF VILLAGE HALL AND ERECTION OF 2 DWELLINGS 

S/2010/0585 TWO RESIDENTIAL HOUSING UNITS ON SITE OF EXISTING 
VILLAGE HALL WHICH WILL BE DEMOLISHED 

S/1985/0910 STORAGE SHED 

S/2000/1104 FOUR RESIDENTIAL HOUSING UNITS 

S/1988/1204 STORE EXTENSION TO VILLAGE HALL   

S/2005/1272 DEMOLITION OF EXISTING VILLAGE HALL CONSTRUCTION OF 
NEW VILLAGE HALL INCLUDING ANCILLARY CAR PARKING ON 
RECREATION GROUND 

S/2005/1637 DEMOLITION OF EXISTING VILLAGE HALL CONSTRUCTION OF 
NEW VILLAGE HALL INCLUDING ANCILLARY CAR PARKING ON 
MEMORIAL GROUND 

S/2004/2107 EXTENSION AND REFURBISHMENT OF VILLAGE HALL AND 
ALTERATION TO ACCESS AND PARKING ARRANGEMENTS 

S/2006/2658 OUTLINE PERMISION TO DEMOLISH VILLAGE HALL AND ERECT 2 
DWELLINGS 

13/01239/REM Reserved matters application for the demolition of existing village hall 
and erection of 2 detached dwellings (pursuant to approval of 
S/2010/0585/OL) 

14/06793/VAR Vary condition 7 of 13/01239/REM to adjust the design of the approved 
scheme 

 
5. The Proposal 
 
Planning permission is sought for the erection of a two bay detached garage. 
 
 
6. Local Planning Policy 

 
National Planning Policy Framework  
Section 7 Requiring good design 
 
Wiltshire Core Strategy  
Core Policy 57 Ensuring high quality design and place shaping 

 

7. Summary of consultation responses 

 
WC Highways   No objection 
 

8. Publicity 

 

The application was advertised by site notice and neighbour consultation letters.  
 
Parish Council Objection (scale of development, proximity and visual impact 

to neighbouring properties and street scene) 
 
Neighbour/third parties 1 letter of objection, 2 third party letters  
 
 

Page 302



9. Planning Considerations 

 
Scale and design  
 
Core Policy 57 states a high standard of design is required in all new developments, 
including extensions, alterations, and changes of use of existing buildings. Development is 
expected to create a strong sense of place through drawing on the local context and being 
complimentary to the locality.  
 
Planning permission was originally sought for a three bay garage consisting of two car 
parking spaces and a store. Following objections from the neighbour and the parish council, 
revised plans have been received to address the concerns raised. The store has been 
omitted and the proposal now consists of a two bay garage.  
 
The roof pitch has been dropped to 38˚ which has reduced the overall height of the garage 
to 4.1m (from 4.4m). The proposed garage would have a depth of 5.8m (reduced from 6.1m) 
and a width of 6.1m (reduced from 8m). 
 
The proposed garage would be sited in front of the dwellinghouse at a distance of 6.8m to 
the principle elevation and 40cm to the eastern boundary.  
 
The proposed garage is of a typical design and would be constructed in timber. Clay roof 
tiles are proposed and the exterior walls are proposed to be cladded with horizontal timber 
weatherboarding above a brick plinth.  
 
The proposal has been significantly reduced in scale and mass in response to the objections 
received. Officers consider that the revised plans represent an improvement to the original 
plans and consider the scale and design of the proposal to be acceptable.  
 
Impact on amenity 
 
Core Policy 57 requires that development should ensure the impact on the amenities of 
existing occupants is acceptable, and ensuring that appropriate levels of amenity are 
achievable within the development itself, and the NPPF’s Core Planning Principles 
(paragraph 17) includes that planning should ‘always seek to secure high quality design and 
a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings.’ 
 
Officers note the content of the objection letter submitted by the immediate neighbour to the 
east, Mulberry House. 
 
The proposed garage would be set away from the front window serving the neighbours 
study/tv room by 10.5m. Having visited the site and assessed the proposal in light of the 
trajectory of the sun which rises in the east, moves southwards and sets in the west, officers 
consider that the majority of shading that may occur during the day would be experienced 
within the application site. Officers note that some shading to the neighbour’s access/turning 
area may occur during the later hours of the day however this would not significantly impact 
the amenities of the neighbour to warrant refusal. 
 
Whilst the garage would be visible at an oblique angle from the neighbour’s front window, 
the proposed garage would be single storey and set away at an acceptable distance from 
the neighbouring property to not unduly impact amenity. 
 
For the above reasons, officers consider that a refusal on amenity grounds would be difficult 
to sustain. 
 

Page 303



Highways/parking 
 
Criteria (ix) of Core Policy 57 aims to ensure that the public realm, including new roads and 
other rights of way, are designed to create places of character which are legible, safe and 
accessible.  
 
WC Highways have considered the proposed development and have responded with no 
objection. The proposal is therefore considered to be acceptable in terms of highway safety 
including visibility. 
10. Conclusion  

 
The proposed garage conforms to the objectives of core policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core 
Strategy and the aims of the NPPF. Therefore, officers consider that planning permission 
should be granted. 
 
RECOMMENDATION   
 
It is recommended the application be approved, subject to the following Conditions: 
 
1) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
approved plans and documents: 
 
Application Form 
Site Location Plan Date rec. 16/01/17 
Site Plan Date rec. 08/03/17 
Drg. no. 1 R2 Proposed Elevations Date rec. 08/03/17 
Drg. no. 2 R2 Proposed Plan Views Date rec. 08/03/17  
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning 
 
  

  

 

 

 

 

Page 304



Page 305



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 307



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT OUTLINE FOR AREA PLANNING COMMITTEES Report No. 3  

Date of Meeting 06/04/2017 

Application Number 16/12123/FUL 

Site Address Land at Whitsbury Road, Whitsbury Road, Odstock, Salisbury 

Proposal Construction of two residential dwellings 

Applicant Mr Alasdair Jones-Perrott 

Town/Parish Council ODSTOCK 

Electoral Division DOWNTON AND EBBLE VALLEY – Julian Johnson  

Grid Ref 414603  126015 

Type of application Full Planning 

Case Officer  Matthew Legge 

 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee  
 

Cllr Julian Johnson has called this application into the Planning Committee and has 
commented: “The proposed construction of 2 residential dwellings should be considered within 
the definition of "infill" i.e. the filling of a small gap within the village.” 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation that 
the application be refused. 
 

2. Report Summary 
 

i) Principle of housing outside the settlement boundary 
ii) Design and impact on character of area 
iii) Impact on amenities 
iv) Highway impacts 
v) Drainage and ecology 
vi) CIL & S106 contributions 

 
One third party letter raising concerns. No response from PC. 

 
 
3. Site Description 
 

The application site appears to be a section of garden land associated with the application 
dwelling known as 219 Whitsbury Road. The land is positioned between a row of trees which 
appear to have been thinned to increase to development plot size and the No. 219 Whitsbury 
Road. 
 
The site has an existing vehicle access which serves the existing dwelling and permits an 
access to a rear agricultural field. The site rises in gradient up from the highway but the 
application site is largely flat with treed boundaries to the north and east and an open boundary 
to the southern field.  Page 309

Agenda Item 10



 
The plot lies within Flood Zone 1. There are no listed buildings in close proximity. There is 
bridleway (ODST7) along the northern boundary of the application site.  

 
4. The Proposal 
 

Construction of two residential dwellings with vehicular access and driveway 
 
5. Local Planning Policy 
 

National Planning Policy Framework 2012: 
Section 1: Building a strong, competitive economy 
Section 3: Supporting a prosperous rural economy 
Section 7: Requiring good design 
Section 11: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 

 
The Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS) - adopted by Full Council on the 20th January 2015: 
CP1 (Settlement Strategy) 
CP2 (Delivery Strategy) 
CP24 (Spatial Strategy for the Southern Wiltshire Community Area) 
CP41 (Sustainable construction and low carbon energy) 
CP48 (Supporting Rural Life)  
CP50 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) 
CP57 (Ensuring high Quality Design and Place Shaping) 
CP60 (Sustainable transport)  
CP61 (Transport and New Development)  

 
Wiltshire Local Transport Plan 2011-2026: 
Car Parking Strategy 

 
Supplementary Planning Guidance:  
Adopted Supplementary Planning Document 'Creating Places Design Guide’ April 2006 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010  

 
Saved Policies of the Salisbury District Local Plan: 
H28: Residential Development in the Open Countryside 
 

6. Publicity 

 

Parish Council – None received  

WC Spatial Planning – Object  

WC Ecology – No objection subject to conditions  

WC Highways – No objection subject to conditions 

WC Rights of Way – No objection 

WC Drainage – No objection subject to condition  

 

1 letter of concern:  

- Loss of views towards woods 

- Concern over highway safety. Increased traffic generation on a narrow country lane which 

is frequently used for larger farm vehicles which takes up the width of the track.   

 

7. Planning Considerations 

 

Page 310



The applications must be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF is also a significant material consideration and 

due weight should be given to the relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of 

consistency of the framework.   

Odstock did have a settlement boundary under the former Local Plan. The application site was 

located adjacent to a housing development area, outside of the settlement boundaries. 

However, the settlement boundaries for Odstock have been deleted by the Wiltshire Core 

Strategy (WCS). In planning policy terms, the application site relates to a site in the open 

countryside.  

The application site (as shown by the above red circle) is located out of the centre of the village 

of Odstock. But the site was previously located adjacent to a housing development area (H16) 

within the old Local Plan maps. As mentioned above the H16 areas of the former plan have 

been removed and the WCS have also removed the settlement boundaries for small villages.  

  

Odstock is identified as a small village in the WCS which has limited services and is reliant on 

Local Service Centres and is not the most sustainable location for new growth. As mentioned 

above Core Policy 1 of the WCS has removed the housing policy boundary of Odstock. The 

delivery strategy defines the level of growth appropriate within the built up area of small villages 

as being limited to infill.  

The relevant paragraph in the Core Strategy defining infill is 4.29. It states the following: 

“...For the purposes of Core Policy 2, infill is defined as the filling of a small gap within the 

village that is only large enough for not more than a few dwellings, generally only one dwelling. 

Exceptions to this approach will only be considered through the neighbourhood plan process or 

DPDs.” 

Core Policy 2 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy sets out the 'Delivery Strategy'. It identifies the 

scale of growth appropriate within each settlement tier. The policy states that at Small Villages 

such as Odstock development will be limited to infill within the existing built area where it seeks 

to meet housing needs of the settlement or provide employment, services and facilities and 

provided that the development: Page 311



1.  Respects the existing character and form of the settlement 

2.  Does not elongate the village or impose development in sensitive landscape areas, and 

3.  Does not consolidate an existing sporadic loose knit areas of development related to the 

settlement. 

Infill is defined in the Core Strategy (relevant paragraph in the Core Strategy is 4.29) as the 

filling of a small gap within the village that is only large enough for not more than a few 

dwellings, generally only one dwelling. 

Officers do not consider that there is a gap in the built form for the site and that this application 

is tantamount to back land development on what appears to be garden land. A recent 

Inspectors decision on a similar site in the north of Wiltshire (application reference  

16/04999/OUT) commented that: 

 

The Inspector was clear that a ‘gap’ implies a break or space between something. In this case 

the only gap in the street form is for a vehicle entrance which serves a rear agricultural field 

and existing dwelling house. Officers do not consider that there is an obvious development gap 

in the built form (as intended by the WCS infill allowance). The aims of the policy also intends 

that the infilling of development is centralised around the core of the settlements which are 

likely to be better served with facilities. This site is arguably located a distance from any 

notable centre of the village and the access roads to the site are narrow and do not include 

any footpaths to promote safe pedestrian access through the village. The village mass is 

largely located in ribbons of residential development along highways and clusters of residential 

development at highway junctions. In considering this application site Officers do not consider 

that the scheme is appropriate as an infill plot and the development will consolidate the sporadic 

loose knit residential development that is the village.  

Officers note that this scheme has not been supported by any local representation and note that 

the Parish Council has not objected to the scheme. It is also noted the Village does not have a 

Neighbourhood Plan or any plan in draft where sites can be locally identified for development 

and as such the village has not expressly identified where residential development would be 

acceptable. It is considered that the balance of consideration rests on the whether the site fully 

meets the criteria 1-3 as set out CP2. Officers consider that the village could indeed be 

characterised by the loose knit development and that the open gaps in residential ribbons and 

clusters do help to reinforce the rural organic character of the village.  

CP2 comments that for residential development outside the limits of development those ‘infill’ 

dwellings should meet housing needs of settlements. The current interpretation of this is that 

the remaining housing needs to be provided in the Southern Wiltshire Community Area by 2026 

(Housing Land Supply Statement April 2016 and published March 2017) is an indicative 

remaining requirement of 0. Due to the absence of housing need Officers consider that there is 

no local need as expressed in CP2 as such this application fails to fully meet the requirements 

of CP2.  Page 312



 

Appendix 6 of the Housing Land Supply Statement April 2016 and published March 2017 

The latest housing figures for the South Wiltshire Housing Monitoring Area reveal that the 

Council is able to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply with the required 5% buffer. The 

latest housing figures for the county are set out in the Housing Land Supply Statement (base 

date of April 2016) and updated in March 2017. These latest figures demonstrate that the South 

Wiltshire HMA has a housing land supply of 5.69 which is in excess of the required 5.25 years 

(with the required 5% buffer). 

As such in policy terms, the proposal is unacceptable. The site lies outside the centralised built 

area for any defined settlement and conflicts with the overarching sustainable development 

principles of the Settlement and Delivery Strategies of the WCS. Neither is the site subject of an 

adopted or emerging Neighbourhood Plan. It therefore comprises unsustainable development 

and, as such, is unacceptable in terms of the Core Strategy and the NPPF.  

The NPPF states that planning applications should be determined in accordance with the 

development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case there appear 

to be no material considerations which outweigh the policy presumption against unacceptable 

unsustainable development. 

The core strategy includes exception policies (as set out under Paragraph 4.25) under which 

development may be acceptable outside of the settlement strategy – for example, sites which 

would deliver a high percentage of affordable units. Again, none of the exceptions policies 

appear to apply in this case. The proposal should be refused as there are no material 

considerations which merit making an exception to adopted planning policy in this case.  

Highways  

 

The vision and policies of the Wiltshire Core Strategy seek to concentrate new residential 
development in areas well served by local services and facilities so as to reduce the needs 
for travel. The Core Strategy thus sets a presumption against development outside villages in 
rural areas unless for a number of excepted circumstances, none of which apply in this 
instance. 
 

Core Policy 60 provides that the Council will use its planning powers to help reduce the need to 
travel particularly by private car through measures such as planning development in accessible 
locations. Odstock is identified in the Core Strategy as having a low level of services and 
facilities, and few employment opportunities. Therefore it is considered that the occupants 
of the dwellings would likely be heavily dependent on the use of private cars for day-to-day 
activities and journeys. The site location thus does not contribute towards the aims of 
sustainable development and therefore contrary to the key aims of Core Policy 60 and as such 
Highways have recommended that the application be refused. 

 

Wiltshire Council Highways have considered the revised scheme and has determined to raise 
no highway objection to the proposed visibility splays/horizontal alignment of the proposed 
driveway or to the surface water drainage details.  

 

 

 

 
Page 313



Neighbouring Amenity  

 

The construction of two dwelling houses in a back-land location to the side/rear of the 

application dwelling would introduce direct overlooking from the proposed developments side 

elevation windows and direct overlooking of the neighbouring dwelling’s primary outdoor 

amenity space. The proposed dwelling house would also introduce overlooking of the rear 

amenity garden area from the numerous rear dormer windows to the detriment of the amenity 

currently enjoyed by the application dwelling.  

 

The revised vehicular entrance has brought the vehicular entrance way closer to the front 

elevation of the application dwelling. The closer proximity of the vehicle entrance will result in 

the increased comings and goings of vehicles associated with the 2 proposed dwelling houses 

which will introduce harm to the amenity of the application dwelling by virtue of the close 

proximity of vehicular engine noise and associated car lights. The back-land development is 

considered to result in undue harm to the amenity of the application dwelling (No.219 Whitsbury 

Road)  

 

Ecology  

 

A Wiltshire Council Ecologist has looked at the submitted information which includes an 

Ecological Survey. WC Ecology has not objected to the scheme (subject to conditions) having 

commented:  

 
“The Ecological Survey report stipulates: ‘A phase 1 survey was undertaken in October 
2016 which found no evidence of protected species or habitats on the site but there is 
potential for nesting birds at the site perimeters.’ The report goes on to state: 
 

- ‘There were no buildings or structures within the application site which 
would provide bat roosting opportunities but the trees to east of the site provided 
suitable foraging and commuting habitat. 
 

- There was a section of trees and scrub at the east of the site with some 
potential to support nesting birds. 

 
The Ecological Survey report puts forward mitigation regarding the clearance of 
vegetation/trees that may afford nesting opportunities for birds. The report also proposes 
enhancement measures for bats, birds and landscaping to be implemented for the 
purposes of increasing the ecological value of the site.”  

 

Given the ability to impose conditions to mitigate harm to protected species, Officers do 

not consider that this application will result in undue harm to protected species.  

 

Drainage  

 

Given the recent amendments to the application a Wiltshire Council Drainage engineers 
has raised no objection to the application subject to a condition:  
 
“Prior to any start on site the applicant shall submit a detailed storm water drainage 

scheme which if soakaway disposal is proposed to include full details of the soakaways  

and their relationship to ground water levels and location to roads/buildings and 

structures to the LPA for approval, and shall construct the system as approved prior to 

occupation” 

Page 314



8. CIL & S106 contributions 

 

This development is subject to the Community Infrastructure Levy.  Wiltshire Council has 

adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule on 18th May 2015. CIL is a 

charge that local authorities can place on new development in their area.  The money generated 

through CIL will contribute to the funding of infrastructure to support growth.    

Whoever has assumed liability for the development would be liable to make payment to Wiltshire 

Council for this type of development.  

9. Conclusion 

 

It is considered that the application site is outside the built up area of the village, would not 
comprise infill development and would consolidate the existing sporadic, loose knit development 
along Whitsbury Road. The principle of residential development in such a location is therefore 
contrary to the vision and policies of the Wiltshire Core Strategy for sustainable development, 
and the policies for protection of the open countryside. The development would also introduce 
harm to the amenity of the occupiers of the application dwelling house. The proposal is contrary 
to saved policy H28 of the Salisbury District Local Plan and; CP1, CP2, CP44, CP48, CP57 
and CP60 of the Core Strategy for Wiltshire and Sections 1, 7 and 11 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 

1. The proposal is located within a small village which the Wiltshire Core Strategy identifies as 
having a low level of services and facilities. This proposal for two dwellings does not meet the 
definition of permitted infill development within small villages and the development will result in 
the creation of back-land development contrary to the established linear pattern of 
development along the eastern side of Whitsbury Road. The development will consolidate the 
existing loose knit sporadic development along Whitsbury Road and the proposal fails to 
promote a sustainable pattern of development with the resultant occupiers dependent on the use 
of private car for day-to-day activities and journeys. Therefore, the proposed development is 
considered contrary to Core Policies 1, 2, 44, 48 and 60 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and 
paragraph 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2. The creation of two back-land dwelling houses would result in the introduction of direct 
overlooking to the side elevation of the application dwelling known as No.219 Whitsbury Road 
and undue overlooking across the rear garden area to the detriment of the privacy currently 
afforded to the neighbouring dwelling. The creation of the realigned vehicular entrance will bring 
an increased number of vehicles within close proximity to the front elevation of the neighbouring 
dwelling to the detriment of amenity. The proposed development is considered contrary to Core 
Policies 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy and paragraph 17 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
    

 

Page 315



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 317



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 319



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Salisbury Footpath No.9 - Definitive Map and Statement Modification Order 2016" Parish of Idmiston
	Appendix A
	Appendix B1
	Appendix B2
	Appendix B3
	Appendix B4
	Appendix C
	Appendix D1
	Appendix D2
	Appendix E

	7 Salisbury Footpath No.6 - Diversion order and definitive map and statement modification order 2016. Stratford sub Castle
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	8 Planning Appeals and Updates
	9a 16/09919/FUl & 16/10183/LBC - Old Ship Hotel, Castle Street, Mere, BA12 6JE
	16.09919.FUL & 16.10183.LBC - Aerial Plan
	16.09919.FUL & 16.10183.LBC - Location Plan

	9b 17/00444/FUL - Florance House, Romsey Road, Witeparish, SP5 2SD
	17.00444.FUL - Aerial Plan
	17.00444.FUL - Location Plan

	10 16/12123/FUL - Land at Whitsbury Road, Witsbury Road, Odstock, Salisbury
	16.12123.FUL - Aerial Plan
	16.12123.FUL - Location Plan


